INTERACTION PROFILE FOR: Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylenes (BTEX)

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Public Health Service
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry

PREFACE

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) mandates that the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) shall assess whether adequate information on health effects is available for the priority hazardous substances. Where such information is not available or under development, ATSDR shall, in cooperation with the National Toxicology Program, initiate a program of research to determine these health effects. The Act further directs that where feasible, ATSDR shall develop methods to determine the health effects of substances in combination with other substances with which they are commonly found. The Food Quality Protection Act (FQPA) of 1996 requires that factors to be considered in establishing, modifying, or revoking tolerances for pesticide chemical residues shall include the available information concerning the cumulative effects of substances that have a common mechanism of toxicity, and combined exposure levels to the substance and other related substances. The FQPA requires that the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency consult with the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (which includes ATSDR) in implementing some of the provisions of the act.

To carry out these legislative mandates, ATSDR's Division of Toxicology (DT) has developed and coordinated a mixtures program that includes trend analysis to identify the mixtures most often found in environmental media, *in vivo* and *in vitro* toxicological testing of mixtures, quantitative modeling of joint action, and methodological development for assessment of joint toxicity. These efforts are interrelated. For example, the trend analysis suggests mixtures of concern for which assessments need to be conducted. If data are not available, further research is recommended. The data thus generated often contribute to the design, calibration or validation of the methodology. This pragmatic approach allows identification of pertinent issues and their resolution as well as enhancement of our understanding of the mechanisms of joint toxic action. All the information obtained is thus used to enhance existing or developing methods to assess the joint toxic action of environmental chemicals. Over a number of years, ATSDR scientists in collaboration with mixtures risk assessors and laboratory scientists have developed approaches for the assessment of the joint toxic action of chemical mixtures. As part of the mixtures program a series of documents, Interaction Profiles, are being developed for certain priority mixtures that are of special concern to ATSDR.

The purpose of an Interaction Profile is to evaluate data on the toxicology of the "whole" priority mixture (if available) and on the joint toxic action of the chemicals in the mixture in order to recommend approaches for the exposure-based assessment of the potential hazard to public health. Joint toxic action includes additivity and interactions. A weight-of-evidence approach is commonly used in these documents to evaluate the influence of interactions in the overall toxicity of the mixture. The weight-of-evidence evaluations are qualitative in nature, although ATSDR recognizes that observations of toxicological interactions depend greatly on exposure doses and that some interactions appear to have thresholds. Thus, the interactions are evaluated in a qualitative manner to provide a sense of what influence the interactions may have when they do occur.

٧

CONTRIBUTORS

CHEMICAL MANAGER(S)/AUTHORS:

Sharon Wilbur, M.A. ATSDR, Division of Toxicology, Atlanta, GA

Stephen Bosch, B.S. Syracuse Research Corporation, Syracuse, NY

PEER REVIEW

A peer review panel was assembled for this profile. The panel consisted of the following members:

- 1. Dr. Harvey Clewell
 KS Crump Group
 602 East Georgia Avenue
 Ruston, LA 71270
- Dr. Kannan Krishnan
 Department of Occupational and Environmental Health
 University of Montreal School of Medicine
 2375 Chemin de la Cote Ste-Catherine
 Montreal, QuebecH3T 1A8, Canada
- Dr. Christopher Borgert
 Applied Pharmacology and Toxicology, Inc.
 238 Turkey Creek
 10514 Palmetto Boulevard
 Alachua, FL 32615

All reviewers were selected in conformity with the conditions for peer review specified in Section 104(I)(13) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended.

Scientists from the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) have reviewed the peer reviewers' comments and determined which comments will be included in the profile. A listing of the peer reviewers' comments not incorporated in the profile, with a brief explanation of the rationale for their exclusion, exists as part of the administrative record for this compound. A list of databases reviewed and a list of unpublished documents cited are also included in the administrative record.

The citation of the peer review panel should not be understood to imply its approval of the profile's final content. The responsibility for the content of this profile lies with the ATSDR.

SUMMARY

Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes frequently co-occur at hazardous waste sites. Various combinations of these chemicals are among the most frequently found binary mixtures in completed exposure pathways at hazardous waste sites. Media contaminated with these chemicals include air, water, and soil. Contamination of groundwater can result in volatilization into indoor air when the groundwater is used as household water. In addition, contamination of groundwater and subsurface soil can result in migration of these chemicals into basements as soil gas. The purposes of this profile are: (1) to evaluate data on the toxicology of mixtures of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX); (2) to evaluate data on the joint toxic actions (e.g., additive, less-than-additive, or greater-than-additive joint actions) of these chemicals in producing health hazards; and (3) to make recommendations for exposure-based assessments of the potential impact of joint toxic action of the mixture on public health.

No studies are available that directly characterize health hazards and dose-response relationships for exposures to "whole" mixtures of BTEX. Exposure to each of the individual chemicals can produce neurological impairment via parent chemical-induced changes in neuronal membranes. Benzene can additionally cause hematological effects, which may ultimately lead to aplastic anemia and acute myelogenous leukemia, and there is evidence that ethylbenzene is carcinogenic in other tissues. No studies were located that directly examined joint toxic actions of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes on the nervous system, but additive joint neurotoxic action is plausible for environmental exposures based on predictions from physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) modeling studies with BTEX and a ternary mixture of its components, and supporting data from neurotoxicity interaction studies of binary component mixtures.

In the absence of data on toxic or carcinogenic responses to the whole mixture, possible health hazards from exposures to BTEX are best assessed using a component-based approach that considers both the shared (neurologic) and unique (hematologic/carcinogenic) critical effects of the constituent chemicals. A hazard index approach that assumes additive joint action and uses ATSDR Minimal Risk Levels (MRLs) and guidance values based on neurological impairment is recommended for exposure-based assessments of possible neurotoxic health hazards from the four components. The possible hematotoxic and carcinogenic hazards of BTEX exposures should be evaluated on the basis of benzene alone due to the causal relationship between the noncancer hematological effects of benzene and the development of leukemia, and the lack of a cancer risk value for ethylbenzene. It therefore is recommended that the cancer unit risk value for benzene be used to jointly assess possible hematotoxic and carcinogenic hazards from exposures to BTEX.

CONTENTS

PREFACE .	
CONTRIBUT	ORS
PEER REVIE	'Wvi
SUMMARY	i
CONTENTS	x
LIST OF TAI	BLES
LIST OF ACI	RONYMS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND SYMBOLS
1. Introduction	on
2 I : . T	
2. Joint Toxio 2.1	Action Data for the Mixture of Concern and Component Mixtures
2.1	Component Mixtures
2.2	2.2.1 Benzene, Toluene, and Xylenes
	2.2.2 Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylene
	2.2.3 Benzene and Toluene
	2.2.4 Benzene and Ethylbenzene
	2.2.5 Benzene and Xylenes
	2.2.6 Toluene and Ethylbenzene
	2.2.7 Toluene and Xylenes
	2.2.8 Ethylbenzene and Xylenes 4
2.3	Relevance of the Joint Toxic Action Data and Approaches to Public Health 4
3. Recommen	ndation for Exposure-Based Assessment of Joint Toxic Action of the Mixture 6
4. Conclusion	ns
5. List of Ref	erences
Annandiy A:	Background Information for Benzene
Appendix A. A.1	Toxicokinetics
	Health Effects
A.3	Mechanisms of Action
A.4	Health Guidelines
A.5	References
Appendix B:	Background Information for Toluene
B.1	Toxicokinetics
B.2	Health Effects
B.3	Mechanisms of Action
B.4	Health Guidelines
B.5	References
Appendix C:	Background Information for Ethylbenzene

C.1	Toxicokinetics	
C.2	Health Effects	115
C.3	Mechanisms of Action	
C.4	Health Guidelines	
C.5	References	120
Appendix D:	Background Information for Xylenes	125
D.1	Toxicokinetics	125
D.2	Health Effects	
D.3	Mechanisms of Action	130
D.4	Health Guidelines	
D.5	References	133
Appendix E:	Chemical Structures of Mixture Components	139

LIST OF TABLES

2-1.	Quaternary PBPK Model Predictions of Hepatic Venous Blood Concentrations of Benzene (B) Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and Xylene (X) in Rats After a 4-hour Inhalation Exposure to 100 ppm B Alone or Combined With 100 ppm of T, E, and/or X	
2-2.	Comparison of Exposure-based Biological Hazard Indexes Calculated for Various Mixtures of Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and <i>m</i> -Xylene (X)	11
2-3.	Comparison of Increases in Total Concentration (Total AUC) of Parent Chemicals in the Blood Following 4-hour Inhalation Exposures to Ternary and Binary Mixtures of Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and <i>m</i> -Xylene (X) in Rats	
2-4.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure	20
2-5.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure	22
2-6.	Relative Potency of Toluene, Xylene, and Their 1:1 Mixture on Rotarod Performance in Rats	30
2-7.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure	35
2-8.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure	37
2-9.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Ethylbenzene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Ethylbenzene after Simultaneous Exposure	44
2-10.	Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Ethylbenzene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Ethylbenzene after Simultaneous Exposure	46
2-11.	Health Effects Forming the Basis of ATSDR MRLs for Chemicals of Concern	53
2-12.	Binary Interaction Matrix for Metabolic Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern	57
2-13.	Binary Interaction Matrix for Nervous System Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern	57
2-14.	Binary Interaction Matrix for Hematological and Clastogenic Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern	60
3-1.	Inhalation MRLs and Risk Guidance Values for Neurological Effects of BTEX	63

LIST OF ACRONYMS, ABBREVIATIONS, AND SYMBOLS

	·	•	
ACGIH	American Conference of	mg	milligram
	Governmental Industrial Hygienist	mL	milliliter
AML	acute myelogenous leukemia	mm	millimeter
ATSDR	Agency for Toxic Substances and	MRI	magnetic resonance imagery
	Disease Registry	MRL	Minimal Risk Level
AUC	areas under the blood concentration		
	curves	NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
			phosphate (reduced form)
В	benzene	NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
BEI	biological exposure index		phosphate (oxidized form)
BHIs	biological hazard indexes	NE	norepiephrine
BINWOE	binary weight-of-evidence	NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect level
BTEX	benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene,	NTP	National Toxicology Program
	and xylenes		 0
	•	OPT	olfactory perception thresholds
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental		7 1 1
	Response, Compensation, and	PBPK	physiologically based
	Liability Act		pharamacokinetic
CI	confidence interval	ppm	parts per million
cm	centimeters	PP	parts per minon
CYP	cytochrome P-450	RD_{50}	respiratory depression, 50%
011	cytochionic 1 130	RfC	reference concentration
DA	dopamine	RfD	reference dose
DBTEX	dichloromethane, benzene,	RNA	ribonucleic acid
DDILA		14171	Troonderere derd
	toluene, ethylbenzene, and	SC	simulated concentration
	xylenes	SD	standard deviation
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid	STEL	
DOPAC	3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid	SIEL	short-term exposure limit
DT	Division of Toxicology	T	taluana
			toluene
E	ethylbenzene	TLV	threshold limit value
EC_{50}	effective concentration, 50%	TTD	target-organ toxicity dose
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency	TWA	time-weighted average
		LIDD	
FQPA	Food Quality Protection Act	UDP	uridine-5'-diphosphate
		μg	micrograms
HI	hazard index	μL	microliters
5-HIAA	5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid	μmol	micromole
5-HT	indoleamine serotonin	U.S.	United States
HVA	homovanillic acid		
		VMA	vanillylmanelic acid
IARC	International Agency for Research		
	on Cancer	X	xylenes
IRIS	Integrated Risk Information System		
11110	mograted rush imprimation a journ	>	greater than
kg	kilogram	≥	greater than or equal to
b	Miogram	=	equal to
L	liter	<	less than
LOAEL	lowest-observed-adverse-effect	≤	less than or equal to
LOMEL	level		•
LSE	Levels of Significant Exposure		
LOD	Levels of Significant Exposure		
m ³	auhia matara		
m^3	cubic meters		

1

1. Introduction

The primary purpose of this Interaction Profile for benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX) is to evaluate data on the toxicology of the "whole" mixture and the joint toxic action of the chemicals in the mixture in order to recommend approaches for assessing the potential hazard of this mixture to public health. To this end, the profile evaluates the whole mixture data (if available), focusing on the identification of health effects of concern, adequacy of the data as the basis for a mixture minimal risk level (MRL), and adequacy and relevance of physiologically-based pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic models for the mixture. The profile also evaluates the evidence for joint toxic action—additivity and interactions—among the mixture components. A weight-of-evidence approach is commonly used in these profiles to evaluate the influence of interactions in the overall toxicity of the mixture. The weightof-evidence evaluations are qualitative in nature, although the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) recognizes that observations of toxicological interactions depend greatly on exposure doses and that some interactions appear to have thresholds. Thus, the interactions are evaluated in a qualitative manner to provide a sense of what influence the interactions may have when they do occur. The profile provides environmental health scientists with ATSDR Division of Toxicology (DT) recommended approaches for the incorporation of the whole mixture data or the concerns for additivity and interactions into an assessment of the potential hazard of this mixture to public health. These approaches can then be used with specific exposure data from hazardous waste sites or other exposure scenarios.

Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes frequently co-occur at hazardous waste sites. Various combinations of these chemicals are among the most frequently found binary mixtures in completed exposure pathways at hazardous waste sites. Media contaminated with these chemicals include air, water, and soil. Contamination of groundwater can result in volatilization into indoor air when the groundwater is used as household water. In addition, contamination of groundwater and subsurface soil can result in migration of these chemicals into basements as soil gas. The chemicals are used as solvents in products such as paints and coatings, and are constituents of petroleum products, particularly gasoline, jet fuels, and kerosene. The BTEX chemicals are discussed in the Toxicological Profile on Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (ATSDR 1999a), but more recent information, including a physiologically-based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) model for the whole mixture, has triggered this reassessment of the joint toxic action of these chemicals.

Each of the chemicals in the mixture of concern is volatile, well absorbed, extensively metabolized, and does not persist in the body for long periods of time. All of the BTEX chemicals can produce neurological impairment, and exposure to benzene can additionally cause hematological effects including aplastic anemia and acute myelogenous leukemia. The critical nature of the neurotoxicity (i.e., the noncancer effect expected to occur at the lowest exposure levels) is reflected by the use of neurological impairment as the basis for 9 of 13 MRLs for BTEX chemicals, including 6 of 8 inhalation MRLs (ATSDR 1995, 1997, 1999b, 2000). The carcinogenic (leukemogenic) potential of benzene is well established as indicated by its consensus classification as a human carcinogen by the National Toxicology Program (NTP 2001), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (IRIS 2001), and International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC 1987). Ethylbenzene is possibly carcinogenic to humans based on a recent assessment by IARC (2000). Toluene and xylenes have been categorized as not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity by both EPA (IRIS 2001) and IARC (1999a, 1999b), reflecting the lack of evidence for the carcinogenicity of these two chemicals.

2. Joint Toxic Action Data for the Mixture of Concern and Component Mixtures

2.1 Mixture of Concern

No data were located regarding health effects in humans or animals exposed to mixtures exclusively containing benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene. Some toxicokinetic and mechanistic information is available from an interaction-based PBPK model of this mixture, as discussed below (Haddad et al. 1999a).

A PBPK model has been developed for mixtures of BTEX in the rat (Haddad et al. 1999a). This model predicts toxicokinetic interactions in the quaternary mixture, as indicated by venous blood levels of chemicals, by using information on binary interactions among the component chemicals. Development of the model initially involved: (1) refining and verifying the validity of existing PBPK models for the four individual chemicals; (2) linking (interconnecting) pairs of the individual chemical PBPK models at the level of hepatic metabolism by introducing binary interaction terms for potential mechanisms of action (competitive, noncompetitive, and uncompetitive metabolic inhibitions¹); and (3) characterizing the mechanism of interactions in the binary mixtures by optimally fitting model simulations to experimental data on venous blood concentrations of parent chemicals in rats exposed by inhalation to all binary combinations of the four components. For the characterization of the interaction mechanism for each binary mixture, groups of five rats were simultaneously exposed for 4 hours to 100 ppm of benzene and 50, 100, or 200 ppm of toluene, ethylbenzene, or xylene. The blood concentration data for the mixtures of toluene/xylene, xylene/ethylbenzene, and ethylbenzene/toluene were obtained from a PBPK modeling study of the ternary mixture of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene (Tardif et al. 1997, Section 2.2.1), and the data for the benzene mixtures (benzene/toluene, benzene/ethylbenzene, and benzene/xylene) were obtained as part of the quaternary mixture study. The PBPK analyses of the blood kinetic data from all binary exposure studies suggested competitive inhibition of hepatic metabolism as the most plausible mechanism of interaction (Haddad et al. 1999a). This mechanism was chosen among the others because the shape of the simulation curves of the venous blood concentrations of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene,

¹Simultaneous exposure to a mixture can cause two or more chemicals to compete for enzyme-mediated biotransformation, resulting in an inhibition of at least one of the chemicals. The inhibition is termed 'competitive' when the chemicals compete as substrates for the same site on an enzyme. In 'noncompetitive inhibition', the inhibitor binds to the enzyme, causing a change in the stereochemical arrangement of the enzyme such that the substrate cannot bind. If the chemicals have different enzymatic binding sites, and the substrate must first bind to the enzyme before the inhibitor can, the interaction is termed 'uncompetitive inhibition' (Purcell et al. 1990).

or xylene during binary exposures was closer to that of the experimental data, and it is conceptually the most logical choice, as all four chemicals are known substrates for the same cytochrome P450 isozyme (CYP2E1) at low exposure concentrations.

The metabolic inhibition constant (K_i) for each binary interaction was estimated from blood concentration data collected during exposure to the binary mixtures and incorporated into the quaternary mixture PBPK model (Haddad et al. 1999a). The quaternary model adequately simulated the inhalation kinetics (blood concentrations) of all four components in rats following the 4-hour exposure to quaternary mixtures of: (1) 50 ppm of each BTEX component; (2) 100 ppm of each BTEX component; and (3) 100 ppm of benzene and 50 ppm each of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene, thereby providing support for the a priori mechanism of competitive inhibition. The model indicates that the competitive inhibitory effect (leading to increased hepatic venous concentrations) tends to increase with increasing number and concentration of inhibitors, as illustrated by the blood concentration data in Table 2-1. The predicted blood level of benzene is about 40% higher from the binary mixture benzene/toluene compared to benzene alone. The addition of the third chemical, ethylbenzene, to the binary mixture resulted in levels of toluene and benzene that were increased approximately 26 and 16%, respectively, compared to the binary concentrations. Similarly, addition of xylene to the ternary mixture affected the kinetics of all three chemicals by increasing levels of benzene, toluene, and ethylbenzene by approximately 7, 6, and 9%, respectively, compared to the ternary concentrations. The magnitude of the modulation of binary interactions invoked by the addition of another chemical to an existing "network" of binary interactions (i.e., at the binary, ternary, or quaternary level) depends on its inhibition potency and blood concentration (Haddad et al. 1999a). With increasing mixture complexity, the blood level of a chemical is increased according to the potency and number of inhibitors, rather than by modification of the K_i for binary interactions.

Table 2-1. Quaternary PBPK Model Predictions of Hepatic Venous Blood Concentrations of Benzene (B), Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and Xylene (X) in Rats After a 4-hour Inhalation Exposure to 100 ppm B Alone or Combined With 100 ppm of T, E, and/or X

		Hepatic venous concentration						
	Benzene	Benzene Toluene			Ethylbenzene		Xylene	
Mixture components	mg/L	%	mg/L	%	mg/L	%	mg/L	%
В	1.847	_		_	_	_	_	_
B + T	2.576	39.4ª	2.499		_		_	_
B + T + E	2.981	15.7 ^b	3.150	26.0^{b}	5.830	_	_	_
B + T + E + X	3.192	7.1°	3.328	5.7°	6.377	9.4°	6.244	

^aPercent increase compared to benzene alone

Source: Haddad et al. 1999a

The PBPK model for BTEX (Haddad et al. 1999a) was linked to a PBPK model for dichloromethane to construct a quinary model for dichloromethane/benzene/toluene/ethylbenzene/xylenes (DBTEX) in rats (Haddad et al. 2000). The dichloromethane model was connected to the BTEX model by linking it to each component of the mixture via the binary interaction terms for metabolic inhibition. Analysis of blood kinetic data in rats that were exposed for 4 hours to 100 ppm of dichloromethane and 50, 100, or 200 ppm of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, or m-xylene was consistent with competitive metabolic inhibition as the interaction mechanism. This mechanism is plausible because all five chemicals are metabolized primarily by the same cytochrome P450 isozyme (CYP2E1). The DBTEX model adequately predicted the blood kinetics of the five chemicals in rats that were exposed to mixtures of various concentrations for 4 hours (100 ppm of dichloromethane and 50 or 100 ppm of toluene, ethylbenzene, or m-xylene, or 100 ppm of dichloromethane and 50 or 100 ppm of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, or mxylene). The model for DBTEX in rats was scaled to humans by changing the rat physiological and physiochemical parameters to human values and keeping the biochemical parameters species-invariant (except for the K_m of dichloromethane) (Haddad et al. 2001). The assumption that the metabolic interaction constants are species-invariant was based on previous findings in a PBPK study of the ternary mixture toluene/ethylbenzene/xylene, in which the rat to human model extrapolation was validated with human experimental data (Tardif et al. 1997) (Section 2.2.2). Iterative use of the human DBTEX model

^bPercent increase compared to binary mixture (B+T)

^cPercent increase compared to ternary mixture (B+T+E)

to estimate blood levels of the five chemicals, following 8-hour exposures to mixtures of 0.5 ppm benzene and varying concentrations of dichloromethane (10–50 ppm), toluene (5–50 ppm), ethylbenzene (10–100 ppm), and *m*-xylene (10–100 ppm), predicted that component interactions are negligible at exposure concentrations equal to and lower than 16 ppm dichloromethane, 0.5 ppm benzene, 16 ppm toluene, 33 ppm ethylbenzene, and 33 ppm xylene (Haddad et al. 2001). Simulations of BTEX in humans, which could be conducted by using the DBTEX model with the exposure concentration of dichloromethane set to zero, were not performed.

As discussed above, the Haddad et al. (1999a) study developed and validated a binary interaction-based PBPK model for simulating the blood concentrations of BTEX in rats following inhalation exposure to the quaternary mixture. The approach used to develop the BTEX model is an extension of that used to develop PBPK models for ternary mixtures of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene in rats and humans (Tardif et al. 1997). As discussed in Section 2.2.1, the model for the ternary mixture has been validated in humans exposed to low inhalation concentrations of the components. PBPK models for the quinary mixture DBTEX were similarly developed in rats and humans, although they were only validated in rats (Haddad et al. 2000, 2001). Because the models for the ternary, quaternary, and quinary mixtures are complementary due to their common basis (i.e., they use linked data on binary interactions to predict effects on component blood levels resulting from higher-order interactions), they are useful for assessing the relevance of joint toxic action of BTEX mixtures to public health as discussed in Section 2.3.

2.2 Component Mixtures

The following subsections present discussions of PBPK models and mechanistic information, as well as evaluations of pharmacokinetic and toxicity data, pertinent to the joint toxic action of combinations of benzene, toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene. Information was found for two ternary and all six binary mixtures of these chemicals.

2.2.1 Benzene, Toluene, and Xylenes

PBPK models for mixtures containing benzene, toluene, and xylene have not been specifically reported. The PBPK model for BTEX (Section 2.1) could be used to model benzene/toluene/xylene by setting the exposure concentration of ethylbenzene to zero.

Blood cell counts (erythrocytes, leukocytes, and platelets) and levels of hemoglobin, leukocyte alkaline phosphatase, and serum immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, and IgM) were evaluated in 35 painters who were "constantly" exposed to mixtures of benzene, toluene, and xylene during their work for an unspecified duration (Lange et al. 1973). Estimated mean workplace air concentrations ranges were 0.011–0.158 mg/L (3.4–49.0 ppm) for benzene, 0.08–0.27 mg/L (21.6–72.9 ppm) for toluene, and 0.12–0.63 mg/L (27.6–144.9 ppm) for xylene. A control group was comprised of 42 unexposed adults. Effects that were attributed to exposure included slight macrocytic anemia, thrombocytopenia, reduced leukocyte alkaline phosphatase, reduced serum IgG and IgA, and increased serum IgM, which are typical of benzene toxicity.

Possible interactions among the components of a benzene/toluene/xylene mixture were studied using an in vitro rat embryonic development assay (Brown-Woodman et al. 1994). The embryos were explanted on gestation day 10 and cultured with the chemicals in the medium for approximately 40 hours. Embryonic development was assessed by presence of a heart beat, yolk sac indexes, morphology and crown-rump length, number of somite pairs, and protein content of the embryos. The minimum concentration causing retardation of embryonic development and a no-effect level were determined for each of the component chemicals. The ternary mixture was tested at a total molar concentration in culture medium (2.37 µmol/mL serum) and compared with effects from a minimally toxic concentration of each component (2.87, 2.71, and 2.75 µmol/mL for benzene, toluene, and xylene, respectively). The average percentage of each chemical contributing to the total concentration in the ternary mixture was not reported, although an equal amount of each chemical (0.2 µL/mL serum) was added to the medium (i.e., before losses due to volatilization). The embryotoxic responses to the tertiary mixture (as indicated by the degree of retardation of embryonic growth and development) were similar to responses to each of the equimolar doses of the individual components, suggesting that benzene, toluene, and xylene jointly acted in an additive manner. For example, the effect of the ternary mixture on yolk sac diameter (5.44±0.76 mm) was not significantly different from that produced by benzene alone (4.95±0.66 mm), toluene alone (4.84±0.83 mm), or xylene alone (4.90±0.64 mm). While the results are suggestive of additive joint action of benzene, toluene, and xylene on these endpoints, a full characterization of the joint toxic action is precluded by several design limitations, including the lack of information on how dose and dose proportion of the components may influence joint action.

2.2.2 Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylene

No data were located regarding health endpoints in humans or animals exposed to mixtures containing toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene.

A PBPK model is available for the ternary mixture of toluene/ethylbenzene/m-xylene in rats and humans (Tardif et al. 1997). The approach used to develop this model is essentially the same as for the quaternary mixture (BTEX) summarized in Section 2.1.1 in that it is based on binary interactions in the component chemicals and accounts for all plausible binary chemical interactions. Existing individual PBPK models for toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene were linked in pairs via the hepatic metabolism term (mechanism of metabolic interaction). The Michaelis-Menten equation for each binary mixture was modified to test four possible mechanisms of metabolic interaction: no inhibition, competitive inhibition, uncompetitive inhibition, and noncompetitive inhibition (see Footnote 1 in Section 2.1 for an explanation of the differences in these mechanisms of metabolic interaction). The metabolic inhibition constant (K_i) for each pair of chemicals was estimated from the best fit of the binary model simulations to previously determined experimental data on the blood concentrations of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene in rats exposed by inhalation to binary combinations of 100 or 200 ppm of each chemical for 4 hours (Tardif et al. 1993a, 1996). Competitive metabolic inhibition was considered to be the most plausible mechanism of interaction for all binary combinations of the mixture components (at relevant exposure concentrations), and incorporation of the corresponding K_i values into the ternary mixture model adequately simulated the time course of the blood concentrations of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene in rats exposed to a mixture containing 100 ppm of each of these chemicals for 4 hours in a previous study (Tardif et al. 1996).

Following validation of the ternary mixture model in the rat, it was scaled to predict the kinetics of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene in the blood and alveolar air of humans exposed to a combination of 17, 33, and 33 ppm, respectively, for 7 hours (Tardif et al. 1997). The scaling of the model from rats to humans involved: (1) substituting rat physiological parameters and blood:air partition coefficients with those of humans; (2) scaling the maximal velocity for hepatic metabolism (V_{max}) on the basis of body weight^{0.75}; and (3) keeping all other model parameters species-invariant. Assuming that the metabolic inhibition constants (K_i values) are species-invariant implies that the nature and magnitude of the competition involving toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene for binding to CYP2E1 does not change between species. This assumption was accepted as the default because the cytochrome P-450 isozyme (CYP2E1) for metabolism of all three substrates (toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene) is the same in rats

and humans, and it was previously used to successfully predict the kinetics of binary mixtures of toluene/xylene in humans based on competitive inhibition mechanism as elucidated in the rat (Tardif et al. 1995; see Section 2.2.7). The ternary model predictions were validated by comparison with experimental data on time-course of blood and alveolar air concentrations from four volunteers exposed for 7 hours to toluene (17 ppm), ethylbenzene (33 ppm), or xylene (33 ppm), alone or in combination. Each of these exposure levels is one-third of the respective American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH) threshold limit values (TLVs) for these chemicals, apparently selected with the expectation that the subjects would not experience toxic effects. This expectation was based on the standard ACGIH hazard index (HI) approach in which additive joint action is assumed for mixtures of chemicals producing similar effects (i.e., 17 ppm toluene/50 ppm toluene + 33 ppm ethylbenzene/ 100 ppm ethylbenzene + 33 ppm xylene/100 ppm xylene = 1, where the denominator is the TLV for each chemical) (ACGIH 2001).

The human PBPK model, based on the mechanism of competitive metabolic inhibition as elucidated in the rat, adequately simulated both the blood and alveolar air concentrations of toluene, xylene, or ethylbenzene observed in the exposed humans (Tardif et al. 1997). Overall, both the human model predictions and experimental data indicated that blood and alveolar air concentrations during and after exposure to the ternary mixture were similar to those measured during and after exposure to the individual chemicals alone. A statistically significant increase was found for blood concentrations of xylene during the mixture exposure, but this change was not reflected by the alveolar air concentration data obtained during the same experiment. Experimental measurements of the major urinary metabolites of toluene (hippuric acid and o-cresol), xylene (methyl hippuric acid), and ethylbenzene (mandelic acid and phenyl glyoxylic acid), performed 3, 7, and 24 hours after the start of the 7-hour exposure period, similarly indicated that the ternary mixture did not significantly modify the metabolism of the individual components compared with exposure to the individual agents alone. With the exception of o-cresol and phenyl glyoxylic acid during the first 3 hours of exposure, the amounts of urinary metabolites were not significantly different between the individual and combined chemical exposures. The PBPK model was not used to simulate metabolite concentrations. These observations suggest that, at the exposure levels examined, competitive metabolic interactions did not occur among the three components.

The human ternary mixture PBPK model (Tardif et al. 1997) enabled calculation of biological hazard indexes (BHIs) for 8-hour exposures to varying simulated mixtures of the three chemicals (5–40 ppm toluene, 10–50 ppm *m*-xylene, and 10–50 ppm ethylbenzene) (Haddad et al. 1999b). The BHIs were calculated using the following equation:

$$BHI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{SC_i}{BEI_i}$$

SC refers to the simulated venous blood concentration of the component chemical and biological exposure index (BEI) refers to the blood level of that chemical in a healthy individual (i.e., at the TLV for toluene [50 ppm], *m*-xylene [100 ppm], and ethylbenzene [100 ppm]). SC values were predicted for the mixture components using the ternary mixture PBPK model, and individual chemical PBPK models were used to calculate the TLV-based BEIs. The BHIs were subsequently compared to exposure concentration-based HI values for each mixture, calculated as follows, where E is the exposure level of the chemical:

$$HI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{E_i}{TLV_i}$$

In principle because the PBPK model used to predict the SC values is interactions-based, the BHI values (based on blood levels) were expected to be the same as the HI values (based on exposure levels) if the toxicokinetic interactions among the mixture components are negligible. As shown in Table 2-2, the BHI values approach the HI values as the exposure concentrations of the components are reduced. The BHI and HI values were the same (i.e., 0.80) with mixtures of 10–20 ppm toluene, 20–30 ppm xylene, and 20–30 ppm ethylbenzene, indicating that competitive metabolic inhibitions are negligible at these concentrations.

Table 2-2. Comparison of Exposure-based Biological Hazard Indexes Calculated for Various Mixtures of Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and m-Xylene (X)

Exposure concentration (ppm)		HI	Venous blood concentration (mg/L)			ВНІ	
Т	E	X		T	Е	X	
5	40	50	1	0.08	0.87	0.94	1.04
40	10	10	1	0.55	0.20	0.15	1.05
20	45	15	1	0.34	0.98	0.27	1.11
16.5	33	33	0.99	0.27	0.70	0.59	1.06
8	50	30	0.96	0.14	0.11	0.55	1.00
10	30	30	0.80	0.15	0.60	0.48	0.80
20	20	20	0.80	0.28	0.40	0.31	0.80

HI = hazard index; BHI = biological hazard index

Source: Haddad et al. 1999b

The effects of ternary and binary mixtures of toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene on the kinetics of these chemicals in the blood were compared in rats (Tardif et al. 1996). Groups of four rats were exposed by inhalation for 4 hours to 100 or 200 ppm of each chemical singly, in six binary mixtures, and in one ternary mixture, such that the total concentration in all of the mixtures was 300 ppm (Table 2-3). Concentrations of unchanged toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene in venous blood were measured postexposure (5–120 minutes) and areas under the blood concentration curves (AUC) were calculated. Exposures to both the ternary and binary mixtures resulted in significantly (p<0.05) higher AUCs of toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene compared to the individual chemical exposures. For the ternary mixture exposure (100 ppm of each chemical), the AUCs for toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene were increased by factors of 3.9, 3.6, and 2.4, respectively, compared to 100 ppm of the individual chemicals. There was generally no difference in the effect exerted by the ternary mixture and the binary mixtures when the comparison was based on AUCs for individual chemicals (the only exception was the AUC for xylene, which was increased more by coexposure to 200 ppm ethylbenzene in the binary mixture than by coexposure to 100 ppm ethylbenzene and 100 ppm toluene in the ternary mixture). When the total AUC (i.e., concentration) of a mixture was compared to the sum of the AUCs for its individual chemicals, four of the six binary mixtures produced higher total AUCs compared to the ternary mixture, although the

magnitude of increase in total AUC was greater for the ternary mixture (3.17-fold) than all of the binary mixtures (mean, 1.97-fold) (Table 2-3). The investigators surmised that the greater interactive effects in the ternary mixture compared to the binary mixtures of same total concentration (300 ppm) may be related to the concentration of one component in each binary mixture being near or above its metabolic saturation level (about 200 ppm).

Table 2-3. Comparison of Increases in Total Concentration (Total AUC) of Parent Chemicals in the Blood Following 4-hour Inhalation Exposures to Ternary and Binary Mixtures of Toluene (T), Ethylbenzene (E), and *m*-Xylene (X) in Rats

	Total AUC (mmol.min/L)		
Mixture	Mixed exposure ^a	Sum of single chemical exposures ^b	Ratio of mixed to single exposures ^c
T 100 ppm + E 200 ppm	11.4	6.3	1.81
T 200 ppm + E 100 ppm	9.3	4.5	2.07
T 100 ppm + X 200 ppm	11.2	5.1	2.19
T 200 ppm + X 100 ppm	7.0	4.1	1.70
E 100 ppm + X 200 ppm	11.5	5.7	2.02
E 200 ppm + X 100 ppm	13.4	6.5	2.06
mean \pm SD of binary mixtures	10.6 ± 2.2	5.4±1.0	1.97±0.18
T 100 ppm + E 100 ppm + X 100 ppm	9.2	2.9	3.17

^aTotal AUC (mixed exposure) calculated according to the following equation/example:

AUC = areas under the blood concentration curves; SD = standard deviation

Source: Tardif et al. 1996

Total AUC = AUC_T (mixture) + AUC_X (mixture)

^bTotal AUC (sum of single chemical exposures) calculated according to the following equation/example: Total AUC = AUC_T (individual exposure) + AUC_X (individual exposure)
^cRatio of AUCs for mixed and single chemical exposures calculated according to the following equation/example: $R = AUC_T$ (mixture)/ AUC_T (single) + AUC_X (mixture)/ AUC_X (single)

The human PBPK model predictions and experimental data indicate that exposure to ternary mixtures of approximately 20 ppm each of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene will not result in significant increases in blood levels of these chemicals compared to individual chemical exposure (Haddad et al. 1999b; Tardif et al. 1997), indicating that metabolic interactions are negligible at these exposure concentrations. This information, when evaluated with similar predictions from the PBPK models of the quaternary (BTEX) mixture in rats and quinary (DBTEX) mixture in humans (Haddad et al. 1999a, 2000, 2001) (Section 2.1), provides a basis for assessing the joint neurotoxic action of BTEX in humans as discussed in Section 2.3.

2.2.3 Benzene and Toluene

PBPK models have been developed to characterize the nature of the metabolic interaction between inhaled benzene and toluene in rats. For a model by Purcell et al. (1990), inhalation uptake (disappearance of gas from closed chamber) curves were obtained for 6-hour exposures to 200 ppm benzene, 200 ppm toluene, 200 ppm benzene with 1,000 ppm toluene, and 1,000 ppm benzene with 200 ppm toluene in rats. The model simulated the inhalation uptake process, and an optimal fit to the uptake curves for simultaneous exposure was obtained by adjusting the metabolic interaction terms (competitive, noncompetitive, or uncompetitive inhibition) for each chemical. The simulations resulting from the noncompetitive inhibition model adequately fit the experimental data, whereas the competitive and uncompetitive models did not fit the data (see Footnote 1 in Section 2.1 for an explanation of the differences in these mechanisms of metabolic interaction). Comparison of the chamber concentration difference between a single chemical exposure and mixed exposure indicated that toluene more effectively inhibits benzene's metabolism than does the reverse. Comparison of the metabolic inhibition constants for the noncompetitive models of the two mixtures (i.e., benzene in the presence of toluene, toluene in the presence of benzene) similarly indicated that toluene is a better inhibitor of benzene's metabolism than benzene is of toluene's metabolism.

A PBPK model for inhalation of toluene and benzene in rats was also developed as part of the model for the quaternary mixture discussed in Section 2.2.1 (Haddad et al. 1999a). The binary mixture model is based on individual PBPK models for toluene and benzene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition), and uncompetitive inhibition). Comparisons of binary model simulations of blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm benzene plus 50, 100, or 200 ppm toluene for 4 hours showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Haddad et al. 1999a). This finding

differs from that of Purcell et al. (1990), summarized above, who concluded that a PBPK model based on noncompetitive inhibition best fit the exposure data for mixtures of benzene and toluene.

The predictions from the PBPK modeling study of Haddad et al. (1999a) (i.e., that interactions between benzene and toluene from 50 to 200 ppm are consistent with competitive inhibition) do not conflict with those of Purcell et al. (1990) (i.e., that interactions from 200 to 1,000 ppm are consistent with noncompetitive inhibition) because the noncompetitive and competitive descriptions result in the same low-concentration behavior and only diverge at higher concentrations. Characterization of the interaction between benzene and toluene (and other BTEX components) is complicated by the metabolic involvement of multiple P-450 isozymes. In particular, although CYP1A1 is the main isozyme involved in the metabolism of these chemicals (see Appendices A–D), the contribution of other isozymes may result in a behavior quantitatively similar to noncompetitive inhibition at high exposure concentrations.

Metabolic interactions between benzene and toluene have been investigated in a number of other studies, including *in vitro* metabolism assays in rat and mouse liver microsomes (Andrews et al. 1977; Sato and Nakajima 1979) and *in vivo* (inhalation, subcutaneous, and intraperitoneal) metabolism studies in rats, mice, and humans (Andrews et al. 1977; Brondeau et al. 1992; Ikeda et al. 1972; Inoue et al. 1988; Sato and Nakajima 1979). Most of these studies examined the effects of toluene on the metabolism of benzene. The findings are consistent with the PBPK studies in indicating that toluene and benzene are inhibitors of each other's metabolism, the magnitude of inhibition is dose-dependent (i.e., may not occur at low levels of exposure), and toluene may have a greater suppressive effect on benzene metabolism than benzene on toluene metabolism. Although the dose-dependency of the metabolic interactions is well-documented, only limited empirical information is available regarding the threshold of these interactions for inhalation exposures (Brondeau et al. 1992; Inoue et al. 1988; Sato and Nakajima 1979).

Levels of urinary metabolites were measured at the end of a workshift in 65, 35, and 55 Chinese men who were occupationally exposed to arithmetic mean time-weighted average (TWA) concentrations of 31.9±24.8 ppm benzene, 44.7±21.3 ppm toluene, and 17.9±29.3 ppm benzene + 20.5±25.8 ppm toluene, respectively (Inoue et al. 1988). The respective geometric mean exposure concentrations (geometric standard deviations) were 20.4 (3.086) ppm, 38.2 (1.920) ppm, and 6.2 (4.187) ppm+11.9 (3.670) ppm. A control group was comprised of 35 unexposed workers. A linear relationship was established between the exposure concentrations of each chemical and levels of urinary metabolites when the control group was combined with each exposed group for calculation. Comparisons of regression lines for exposure concentration vs. urinary metabolite level showed that the mixture suppressed the metabolism of benzene

to a greater extent than the metabolism of toluene. In particular, the slopes of the regression lines for excretion of two of three benzene metabolites (phenol and quinol, but not catechol) in the mixture group were less than half of that in the benzene group, whereas the slopes of the regression lines for both toluene metabolites (hippuric acid and *o*-cresol) in the mixture group were more than half of the slopes for the toluene group (although still smaller than those of the toluene group). Although the findings are consistent with mutual metabolic suppression between benzene and toluene in humans at relatively low average levels of inhalation exposure, insufficient data were reported for estimation of thresholds. Regression analysis also indicated that urinary excretion of the benzene metabolite, 1,2,4-benzenetriol, was reduced by the coexposure to toluene (Inoue et al. 1989a).

Rates of disappearance of benzene and toluene from blood and alveolar air were not affected in three volunteers following inhalation exposure to 25 ppm benzene + 100 ppm toluene for 2 hours compared to 25 ppm benzene alone or 100 ppm toluene alone (Sato and Nakajima 1979), indicating that there was no metabolic interaction at this combination of exposure levels.

Urinary excretion of the benzene metabolite, *t*,*t*-muconic acid, was measured in groups of 8 rats that were simultaneously exposed to 5 or 20 ppm benzene and 50, 100, 200 or 1,000 ppm toluene by inhalation for 4 hours (Brondeau et al. 1992). Toluene reduced muconic acid excretion in a concentration-dependent manner, especially in the 20-ppm benzene groups, whereby coexposure to 100, 200, and 1,000 ppm toluene caused statistically significant (p<0.05) decreases of 28, 44, and 85%, respectively, compared to the rats exposed to benzene alone. The decreases in urinary muconic acid in the 5-ppm benzene groups were statistically significant only with coexposure to 1,000 ppm toluene (85% reduced compared to benzene alone).

Studies investigating the influence of toluene on benzene toxicity have shown that exposure to toluene inhibits benzene-induced hematologic and immunologic effects in animals (Andrews et al. 1977; Gad-El-Karim et al. 1984; Gut et al. 1980; Hsieh et al. 1990a; Plappert et al. 1994; Tunek et al. 1981, 1982). The inhibition of the hematologic effects of benzene by toluene is well-established and independent of exposure route (inhalation, oral, and injection), and the magnitude of toxicity inhibition appears to be dose-dependent (Hsieh et al. 1990a; Plappert et al. 1994). The findings are consistent with competitive metabolic interaction between toluene and benzene resulting in toluene inhibition of benzene metabolism and subsequent inhibition of hematotoxicity.

Benzene-induced hematotoxic effects that have been shown to be influenced by simultaneous exposure to toluene (generally at toluene dose levels greater than benzene) include reduced (compared with exposure to benzene alone) red blood cell ⁵⁹Fe uptake (a common measure of erythropoiesis) and concentrations of benzene metabolites in bone marrow of mice given single subcutaneous doses (Andrews et al. 1977), and clastogenic effects in bone marrow and/or peripheral blood cells of mice treated by subcutaneous injection for 6 days (Tunek et al. 1981, 1982), inhalation for 8 weeks (Plappert et al. 1994), or gavage for 2 days (Gad-El-Karim et al. 1984). In the inhalation study, exposure of mice to either 300 or 900 ppm benzene combined with either 250 or 500 ppm toluene for 6 hours/day, 5 days/week for up to 8 weeks, significantly reduced benzene-induced anemia and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage in peripheral blood, bone marrow, and liver cells (Plappert et al. 1994). The protective effect of toluene was most pronounced on the genetic toxicity of benzene, where the coexposures reduced the extent of DNA damage, as assessed by amount of cellular DNA, to about 50% of benzene alone in all three types of cells. Toluene exposure alone did not significantly increase DNA damage compared to controls. In the oral study, mice that were administered two gavage doses of mixed benzene (440 mg/kg) and toluene (860 or 1,720 mg/kg), 24 hours apart, had significantly reduced numbers of micronuclei and chromosomal aberrations per metaphase and percentage of damaged cells compared with exposure to 440 mg/kg benzene alone (Gad-El-Karim et al. 1984). Exposure to toluene alone induced no clastogenic activity. Similarly, simultaneous exposure of mice to a mixture of 166 mg/L benzene and 325 mg/L toluene in drinking water for 28 days completely inhibited immunotoxic effects (decreased thymus mass, increased B- and T-cell mitogenesis, and decreased antibody response to sheep red blood cells) produced by exposure to 166 mg/L benzene alone (Hsieh et al. 1990a). Coexposure to a lower level of toluene (80 mg/L+166 mg/L benzene) did not inhibit the benzene-induced immunotoxic effects, indicating that this amount of toluene was not sufficient for an inhibitory antagonistic effect on benzene immunotoxicity.

Information is available on hematological, biochemical (blood and urine), and subjective neurological endpoints in Chinese workers who were primarily exposed to benzene, toluene, or mixtures of these two chemicals (Yin et al. 1987). The benzene group (majority engaged in shoemaking, some in printing) included 146 workers (62 men, 84 women) who were exposed to mean TWA concentrations of 47.9 ppm benzene and 6.4 ppm toluene for a mean duration of 61 months. The toluene group (engaged in several occupations including shoemaking and printing) included 94 workers (38 men, 56 women) who were exposed to mean TWA concentrations of 42.8 ppm toluene and 1.3 ppm benzene for a mean duration of 82 months, and the mixed exposure group (engaged in automobile spray painting) included 75 workers (55 men, 20 women) who were exposed to approximately equal mean TWA concentrations of 14.0 ppm benzene and 17.5 ppm toluene for a mean duration of 149 months. A control group was comprised of

138 workers (48 men, 90 women) with no direct exposure to solvent vapors in the factories where the exposed workers were employed. There were no clear hematological changes among any of the groups as indicated by results of differential blood cell counts and hemoglobin/hematocrit measurements. Effects included a slight but statistically significant (p<0.01) increase in mean leukocyte numbers in the mixed benzene/toluene group (6.62±1.53x10³/mm) compared to the control, benzene, and toluene groups (5.78±1.55, 5.81±1.53, and 6.20±1.69x10³/mm, respectively), but no statistical comparisons between exposed groups were performed and there was no corresponding or consistent change in the percentage of cases with abnormal (<4.00x10³/mm) leukocyte values (8.9, 10.3, 3.2, and 2.7% in the control, benzene, toluene, and benzene/toluene groups, respectively). Additionally, there was no indication of pancytopenia (a reduction in all three blood cell types characteristic of benzene toxicity). The blood biochemistry assays and urinalyses showed no alterations indicative of liver or kidney damage, including changes in levels of liver enzymes and bilirubin in serum, blood urea nitrogen, and protein in urine.

The subjective symptom survey showed that the prevalence of total symptoms was higher in the three exposed groups than in the unexposed controls (Yin et al. 1987). The percentages of workers with any symptoms in the control, benzene, toluene, and benzene/toluene groups were 7.1, 80.1, 89.1, and 74.4%, respectively, at the time of the study, and 73.2, 93.0, 94.1, and 86.0%, respectively, during the 6 months preceding the study. An explanation for the high prevalence of symptoms in the control group before the study is not provided by the investigators. The prevalence of the three most common symptoms during the study (i.e., dizziness, headache, and throat irritation) were generally dose-related in the benzene and toluene groups when these groups were subdivided on the basis of low and high levels of exposure. For example, among the women workers during the study, dizziness was reported by 6.9% of the controls, 55.0 and 63.8% of the low and high benzene groups (<40 and ≥40 ppm, respectively), and 67.9 and 65.5% of the low and high toluene groups (<41 and ≥41 ppm, respectively). Headache among women workers was reported by 0% of the controls, 17.5 and 21.3% of the low and high benzene groups, respectively, and 14.3 and 31.0% of the low and high toluene groups, respectively. Results were essentially the same in the men exposed to benzene or toluene (data not reported). Although two of the three most common symptoms are characteristic of benzene and toluene neurotoxicity, data on the prevalence of these symptoms in the benzene/toluene group were not reported, precluding comparisons with the other exposed groups. Group comparisons are further complicated by the differences in mean TWA exposure concentrations among the benzene, toluene, and mixed exposure groups.

The only other information regarding interactive effects of benzene and toluene on neurologic endpoints is provided by a 4-week oral study in mice (Hsieh et al. 1990b). Brain levels of various biogenic amines

and their metabolites were investigated in groups of five male CD-1 mice that were exposed to drinking water containing neither chemical (untreated controls), benzene alone (166 mg/L), toluene alone (80 or 325 mg/L), or mixed benzene (166 mg/L) and toluene (80 or 325 mg/L). Concentrations of the catecholamines norepinephrine (NE) and dopamine (DA); the catecholamine metabolites vanillylmanelic acid (VMA), 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), and homovanillic acid (HVA); and the indoleamine serotonin (5-HT) and its metabolite 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) were measured in six discrete regions of the brain (hypothalamus, medulla oblongata, cerebellum, corpus striatum, cerebral cortex, and midbrain). Compared to untreated controls, exposure to benzene alone produced significant (p<0.05) increases in NE in the hypothalamus, cortex, midbrain, and medulla oblongata; DA in the hypothalamus and corpus striatum; and 5-HT in all brain regions except cerebellum. Exposure to toluene alone significantly increased the concentrations of NE in the hypothalamus and medulla oblongata; DA in the hypothalamus and cortex; and 5-HT in the corpus striatum, cortex, midbrain, and medulla oblongata. Benzene alone and toluene alone also caused increased levels of various monoamine metabolites in these brain areas. Exposure to combined benzene/toluene also caused increased concentrations of NE, DA, and 5-HT in some brain regions in comparison to unexposed controls, but none of the levels induced by mixed exposure were significantly different than those produced by exposure to either chemical alone. Concurrent exposure to benzene/toluene significantly (p<0.05) raised and lowered brain concentrations of monoamine metabolites in three and two instances, respectively, when compared to benzene and/or toluene alone. Due to the statistically similar brain levels of NE, DA, and 5-HT following mixed and single chemical exposure and lack of a clear pattern in effect of combined exposure on brain levels of monoamine metabolites, there were no clear interactive effects on levels of neurochemicals. Exposure to benzene and toluene, alone or combined, did not cause any treatment-related gross behavioral alterations, other overt clinical signs of toxicity, or adverse changes in growth, body weight, or food and water consumption.

Possible interactions between the components of a benzene/toluene mixture were studied using the *in vitro* rat embryonic development assay (Brown-Woodman et al. 1994) described in Section 2.2.1. The mixture was tested at a total concentration that was approximately the same as a minimally toxic level of each individual component and at a lower concentration that was similar to a no-effect level of each component. The average percentage of benzene and toluene contributing to the total concentration in the mixtures was 41.6 and 58.4%, respectively. Embryotoxic effects of the mixture were similar to those produced by similar equimolar concentrations of benzene (2.87 µmol/mL) and toluene (2.71 µmol/mL) alone. The no-effect level of the mixture (1.61 µmol/mL) was reported to be similar to equimolar concentrations of the individual chemicals that were without effects. The results are suggestive of

additive joint action on these endpoints but, study design limitations, as discussed in Section 2.2.1, preclude full characterization of the joint toxic action.

Table 2-4 provides a summary of the interaction data regarding the effects of toluene on the metabolism of benzene and effects of benzene on the metabolism of toluene. Table 2-5 summarizes the data regarding the effects of toluene on the toxicity of benzene and effects of benzene on the toxicity of toluene. These studies were evaluated in detail in the text. Further evaluation of the relevance of these data is provided in Section 2.3.

Table 2-4. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure

		Results									
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/No effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References					
	Toluene Influence on Metabolism of Benzene										
Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a											
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and benzene			$50 + 100 (r)^{b}$ $100 + 100$ $200 + 100$	< additive	Haddad et al. 1999a					
Acute	Closed chamber air levels of toluene and benzene			200 + 1000 (r)	< additive	Purcell et al. 1990					
Acute	Levels of benzene and toluene in blood and alveolar air		$100 + 25 \text{ (h)}^{b}$		no interaction	Sato and Nakajima 1979					
Acute	Urinary level of benzene metabolite (<i>t</i> , <i>t</i> -muconic acid)		50 + 5 (r) 50 + 20 100 + 5 200 + 5	100 + 20 (r) 200 + 20 1,000 + 5 1,000 + 20	no interaction (low dose mixtures) < additive (high dose mixtures)	Brondeau et al. 1992					
Repeated exposure	Urinary levels of benzene metabolites (phenol, quinol, catechol) and toluene metabolites (hippuric acid and <i>o</i> -cresol)			20.5 + 17.9 (h)	< additive	Inoue et al. 1988					

Table 2-4. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/No effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Benzen	e Influence on Metaboli	ism of Toluene		
			Inhalation Exposure (1	ppm) ^a		
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and benzene			100 + 50 (r) 100 + 100 100 + 200	< additive	Haddad et al. 1999a
Acute	Closed chamber air levels of toluene and benzene			1,000 + 200 (r)	< additive	Purcell et al. 1990
Acute	Levels of benzene and toluene in blood and alveolar air		25 + 100 (h)		no interaction	Sato and Nakajima 1979
Repeated exposure	Urinary levels of benzene metabolites (phenol, quinol, catechol) and toluene metabolites (hippuric acid and <i>o</i> -cresol)			17.9 + 20.5 (h)	< additive	Inoue et al. 1988

^a First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's metabolism.

^b Species code: r = rat; h = human

Table 2-5. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/No effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Tolue	ne Influence on Toxici	ty of Benzene		
			Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a		
Repeated exposure	Anemia and DNA damage in blood, bone marrow, and liver cells			$250 + 300 \text{ (m)}^{\text{b}}$ $250 + 900$ $500 + 300$ $500 + 900$	< additive	Plappert et al. 1994
Repeated exposure	Hematological, urinary, and serum chemistry indices		$17.5 + 14.0 (h)^b$		no interaction	Yin et al. 1987
			Oral Exposure (mg/	kg) ^a		
Acute	Micronuclei, chromosomal aberrations and cell damage in bone marrow cells			860 + 440 (m) 1,720 + 440	< additive	Gad-El-Karim et al. 1984
Repeated exposure	Thymus mass, B- and T-cell mitogenesis, antibody response to SRBC		80 + 166° (m)	325 + 166° (m)	no interaction (low dose mixture) < additive (high dose mixture)	Hsieh et al. 1990a
Repeated exposure	Brain levels of biogenic amines and their metabolites		$80 + 166^{\circ}$ (m) $325 + 166^{\circ}$		no interaction	Hsieh et al. 1990b

Table 2-5. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Benzene and the Influence of Benzene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/No effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Benze	ene Influence on Toxici	ty of Toluene		
			Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a		
Repeated exposure	Anemia and DNA damage in blood, bone marrow, and liver cells			300 + 250 (m) 300 + 500 900 + 250 900 + 500	< additive	Plappert et al. 1994
Repeated exposure	Hematology, urine, and serum chemistry indices		14.0 + 17.5 (h)		no interaction	Yin et al. 1987
			Oral Exposure (mg/l	kg) ^a		
Acute	Micronuclei, chromosomal aberrations and cell damage in bone marrow cells		440 + 1,720 (m)		no interaction	Gad-El-Karim et al. 1984
Repeated exposure	Thymus mass, B- and T-cell mitogenesis, antibody response to SRBC		$166 + 80^{\circ}$ (m) 166 + 325		no interaction	Hsieh et al. 1990a
Repeated exposure	Brain levels of biogenic amines and their metabolites		166 + 80° (m) 166 + 325		no interaction	Hsieh et al. 1990b

^a First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's toxicity.

^b Species code: m = mouse; h = human

^c Concentrations in drinking water (mg/L)

2.2.4 Benzene and Ethylbenzene

A PBPK model for inhalation of benzene and ethylbenzene in rats was developed as part of the model for the quaternary mixture discussed in Section 2.2.1 (Haddad et al. 1999a). The binary mixture model is based on individual PBPK models for benzene and ethylbenzene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition, and uncompetitive inhibition). Comparisons of binary model simulations of blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm benzene plus 50, 100, or 200 ppm ethylbenzene for 4 hours showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Haddad et al. 1999a).

No data were located regarding health effects in humans or animals exposed to mixtures exclusively containing benzene and ethylbenzene.

2.2.5 Benzene and Xylenes

A PBPK model for inhalation of benzene and xylene in rats was developed as part of the model for the quaternary mixture discussed in Section 2.2.1 (Haddad et al. 1999a). The binary mixture model is based on individual PBPK models for benzene and xylene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition, and uncompetitive inhibition). Comparisons of binary model simulations of blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm benzene plus 50, 100, or 200 ppm xylene for 4 hours showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Haddad et al. 1999a).

Possible interactions between the components of a benzene/xylene mixture were studied using an *in vitro* rat embryonic development assay (Brown-Woodman et al. 1994) described in Section 2.2.1. The mixture was tested at a total concentration that was approximately the same as a minimally toxic level of each individual component and at a lower concentration that was similar to a no-effect level of each component. The average percentage of benzene and xylene contributing to the total concentration in the mixtures was 35.9 and 64.1%, respectively. Embryotoxic effects of the mixture were similar to those produced by similar equimolar concentrations of benzene (2.87 μmol/mL) and xylene (2.75 μmol/mL) alone. The no-effect level of the mixture (1.58 μmol/mL) was reported to be similar to equimolar

concentrations of the individual chemicals that were without effects. The results are suggestive of additive joint action on these endpoints but study design limitations, as discussed in Section 2.2.1, preclude full characterization of the joint toxic action.

2.2.6 Toluene and Ethylbenzene

A PBPK model was developed for binary mixtures of toluene and ethylbenzene in rats as part of the development of the model for the ternary mixture discussed in Section 2.2.2 (Tardif et al. 1997). The binary mixture model is based on individual PBPK models for toluene and ethylbenzene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition, and uncompetitive inhibition). Comparisons of binary model simulations with observed blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm toluene + 200 ppm ethylbenzene or 200 ppm toluene + 100 ppm ethylbenzene for 4 hours showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Tardif et al. 1996). The blood concentrations of unchanged toluene and ethylbenzene were measured postexposure (5–120 minutes) and AUC were calculated. As summarized in Table 2-3 in Section 2.2.2, exposure to the binary mixture resulted in significantly higher AUCs of toluene and ethylbenzene compared with the individual chemical exposures. These findings are consistent with the occurrence of mutual competitive metabolic inhibition at these exposure levels.

2.2.7 Toluene and Xylenes

PBPK models have been developed for mixtures of inhaled toluene and xylene in rats and humans (Tardif et al. 1993a, 1993b, 1995). The rat binary mixture model (Tardif et al. 1993a, 1993b) is based on individual PBPK models for toluene and xylene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition, and uncompetitive inhibition). The adequacy of the single chemical models was assessed by comparing simulations of the time-course blood concentrations of toluene and xylene to previously determined concentrations in blood from rats exposed to 75, 150, or 225 ppm for 5 hours (Tardif et al. 1992). Comparisons of binary model simulations of inhalation uptake (time course of decline in closed chamber gas concentrations) showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data in rats that were exposed to mixtures of 500 ppm toluene + 1,000 ppm xylene, 1,000 ppm toluene + 500 ppm xylene, or

1,000 ppm toluene + 1,000 ppm xylene (Tardif et al. 1993a, 1993b). The adequacy of the binary chemical PBPK model with the competitive metabolic interaction term was verified by comparing model simulations with previously obtained experimental data on blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 75 ppm toluene + 225 ppm xylene, 150 ppm toluene + 150 ppm xylene, or 225 ppm toluene + 75 ppm xylene for 5 hours (Tardif et al. 1992). The validated rat binary chemical model was used to predict the magnitude of inhibitory interactions between toluene and xylene at untested exposure concentrations. Simulations of the percent metabolized (amount metabolized/amount inhaled) of one chemical in the presence of the second chemical showed that, during 5-hour exposure to equiconcentration mixtures, interaction between toluene and xylene became apparent when the exposure concentrations exceeded approximately 50 ppm of each chemical (Tardif et al. 1993a, 1993b).

Comparisons of binary model simulations with observed blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm toluene + 200 ppm xylene or 200 ppm toluene + 100 ppm xylene for 4 hours also showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Tardif et al. 1996). The blood concentrations of unchanged toluene and xylene were measured postexposure (5–120 minutes) and AUCs were calculated. As summarized in Table 2-3 in Section 2.2.2, exposure to the binary mixture resulted in significantly higher AUCs of toluene and xylene compared with the individual chemical exposures at these concentrations.

The validated PBPK model of toluene/xylene in rats was used as the basis of the human model (Tardif et al. 1995). The human PBPK model was developed by substituting the rat physiological parameters and blood:air partition coefficients with those of humans, scaling the $V_{\rm max}$ on the basis of body weight^{0.75}, and assuming that the other metabolic constants ($K_{\rm m}$ and $K_{\rm i}$) are species-invariant on the basis that the same cytochrome P-450 isozyme (CYP2E1) is involved in the metabolism of toluene and xylene in both rats and humans. The model was validated by determining that simulated venous blood and alveolar air concentrations of toluene and xylene adequately compared with those previously observed in volunteers exposed to toluene alone (50 ppm for 7 hours or 95 ppm for 4 hours), xylene alone (40 ppm for 7 hours or 80 ppm for 4 hours), or two mixtures of the chemicals (50 ppm toluene + 40 ppm xylene for 7 hours; 95 ppm toluene + 80 ppm xylene for 4 hours) (Tardif et al. 1991). As detailed in the summary of the Tardif et al. (1991) study below, the 7-hour mixed exposure to 50 ppm toluene and 40 ppm xylene resulted in no apparent change in predicted or observed blood and alveolar air concentrations of the chemicals compared to the single chemical exposures, and the 4-hour exposure to 95 ppm toluene and 80 ppm xylene resulted in increases in the predicted and observed levels compared to the individual exposures. Based on model simulations of anticipated changes in blood levels of toluene following

8-hour exposure to 50 ppm of toluene alone (TLV concentration) or in combination with xylene (50, 100, 200, or 400 ppm), or changes in blood levels of xylene following 8-hour exposure to 100 ppm of xylene alone (TLV concentration) or in combination with toluene (50, 100, 200, or 400 ppm), it was concluded that mixed exposure to air concentrations of toluene and xylene that remain within the TLVs would not result in significant (>10%) changes in blood levels of the chemicals. In other words, the human model predicted that mutual competitive metabolic inhibition does not occur at exposure levels below 50 ppm toluene and 100 ppm xylene.

The xylene used in the human experimental study was a mixture of three isomers (15% *ortho*, 25% *para*, and 60% *meta*), whereas the PBPK simulations were obtained with parameter estimates for *m*-xylene. The acceptability of using *m*-xylene as a surrogate for the xylene mixture was verified during the modeling study in rats (Tardif et al. 1992, 1993a), in which the single chemical PBPK model of xylene adequately simulated the kinetics of a similar mixture of xylene isomers.

As indicated above, experimental data from the Tardif et al. (1991) study were used to validate the human binary PBPK model for toluene/xylene. In this study, five male volunteers were exposed to 50 ppm toluene and 40 ppm xylene either separately or in combination for 7 hours/day for 3 consecutive days. The exposures were repeated 3 times at intervals of 2 weeks. Three other men were exposed to 95 ppm toluene and 80 ppm xylene separately or in combination for 4 hours with no replicate sessions. Urinary excretion of the metabolites hippuric acid (toluene) and methylhippuric acid (xylene), as well as concentrations of unchanged chemicals in venous blood and alveolar air, were evaluated. Values for these indexes in subjects exposed to the lower-level (50/40 ppm) mixture were not significantly different from averages of the single chemical exposures. Exposure to the higher-level (95/80 ppm) mixture caused significantly (p<0.05) increased mean blood levels of toluene and xylene (58.9 and 11.9%, respectively) and alveolar air levels of xylene (24.4%) near the end of the exposure period, as well as significantly delayed urinary excretion of hippuric acid without altering the amount excreted. Changes of ≤10% in the kinetics of toluene and xylene during combined exposures (compared to the chemicals individually) were considered to be in the range of normal interindividual variations. The results of this study are consistent with the hypothesis that the 50/40 ppm exposure was below the metabolic interaction threshold.

Results of other human studies also indicate the lack of competitive metabolic interaction between toluene and xylene at lower exposure concentrations. Coexposure to 2.2 mmol/m³ (54 ppm) toluene and 0.9 mmol/m³ (22 ppm) *p*-xylene for 4 hours had no significant effect on the level of either chemical in the

blood or exhaled air of four male volunteers, compared with exposure to the chemicals individually (Wallen et al. 1985). The amount of methylbenzoic acid (derived from m-methylhippuric acid during analysis) excreted in the urine after exposure to 70 ppm m-xylene for 4 hours was not affected by simultaneous exposure to toluene at either 45 or 70 ppm in groups of 4 male volunteers (Jakubowski and Kostrzewski 1989). There was no indication of increased urinary concentrations of hippuric acid or methylhippuric acid in 233 workers (122 men, 111 women) who were concurrently exposed to toluene and mixed xylenes for unreported durations in factories engaged in printing, painting, and production of plastic coated wire, compared with unexposed workers from the same factories (Huang et al. 1994). The whole group was exposed to geometric mean personal TWA concentrations of 2.7 ppm toluene and 3.1 ppm total xylenes (0.2, 1.6, and 0.5 ppm o-, m-, and p-xylene, respectively). Although the mean air levels of toluene and xylene were approximately 3 ppm each, peak exposures exceeded 200 ppm toluene and 100 ppm xylenes. Regression analysis of metabolite concentrations in urine collected near the end of an 8-hour shift showed a linear correlation between air concentrations of toluene or xylene and urinary levels of hippuric acid or methylhippuric acid, respectively. The slopes of the regression lines were essentially the same for the three xylene isomers. There was no significant difference in the slopes of the regression lines for toluene and xylenes, suggesting the absence of metabolic interaction.

Neurobehavioral effects of toluene (100 ppm), xylene (100 ppm), and their mixture (50 ppm toluene and 50 ppm xylene) were evaluated in 10 male volunteers who were exposed during 4-hour inhalation sessions (Dudek et al. 1990). A battery of nine tests was conducted that assessed memory (Sperling's Test), cognitive processes (Stroop's Test, Sternberg's Test), motor-visual coordination (Flanagan's Test), speed and precision of hand movements (Aiming), psychomotor efficiency (Simple Reaction Time, Choice Reaction Time, Santa Ana Test), and mood (Profile of Mood State). The tests were performed pre-exposure and after 1 and 2 hours of exposure in a total of three sessions conducted at 1-week intervals. Blood concentrations of toluene and xylene were determined in each session from samples collected at or near the time of the neurobehavioral tests as well as at 15 minutes postexposure. The maximum (4-hour) blood levels of toluene and xylene in the mixed exposure group were similar to and ≈28% lower than, respectively, the levels produced by exposure to the chemicals alone. The only observable exposure-related neurobehavioral effects (compared with pre-exposure performances) were increased simple and/or choice reaction time in the xylene-only and mixed chemical groups in the second (last) tests of the sessions (i.e., after 3 hours of exposure). Exposure to toluene alone did not cause any significant impairment in either test. The only clear effect on simple reaction time was in the xylene-only group, which had \approx 22% reduced mean performance (p<0.001) versus \approx 3% (p>0.05) and \approx 7% (p>0.05) impairment in the toluene-only and mixed exposure groups, respectively. Mean performance in the

choice reaction time test was significantly reduced in the groups exposed to xylene alone ($\approx 13.5\%$, p<0.01) and mixed toluene/xylene ($\approx 9.5\%$, p<0.05), but not to toluene alone ($\approx 5.5\%$, p>0.05). These results showed that combined exposure to 50 ppm toluene and 50 ppm xylene produced effects on neurobehavioral performance that were not different from effects from 100 ppm of either alone, indicating that joint action was additive.

There were no effects on reaction time and short-term memory in another human inhalation study of coexposure to toluene and xylene (Olson et al. 1985). Sixteen men were exposed to control air, toluene (300 mg/m³ [80 ppm]), *p*-xylene (300 mg/m³ [69 ppm]), or mixed toluene (200 mg/m³ [53 ppm]) and xylene (100 mg/m³ [23 ppm]) for 4 hours on successive days (i.e., one session per day). Each session included three tests (simple reaction time, memory-reproduction, and (choice reaction time) conducted when the subjects entered the chamber and after 2 and 4 hours of exposure. Exposure to the chemicals individually or in mixture did not cause observable performance decreases in any of the tests.

Effects on the olfactory perception of toluene were investigated in five volunteers who were exposed to 50 ppm toluene, 40 ppm xylene, or an "additive mixture of the two" (not otherwise specified) for 7 hours (Mergler and Beauvais 1992). The exposures were conducted on 3 consecutive days with an 11-day interval between each 3-day session. Olfactory perception thresholds (OPTs, the concentrations at which the chemical could be detected) were determined for toluene before exposure, immediately following cessation of exposure, and 60 and 90 minutes postexposure. The OPT for toluene was significantly increased to a similar extent (approximately 6-fold) immediately following exposure to toluene, xylene, or the mixture, suggesting a lack of interactions between the chemicals. Recovery from the olfactory threshold shift to toluene had not attained pre-exposure levels by the end of the 1.5-hour postexposure period. The investigators suggested that the observed effect on OPT for toluene is due to direct chemical contact with olfactory receptor neuronal membranes, and consequent disruption of sensory transduction and succeeding electrical events.

Rotarod performance (an indicator of neuromuscular function) was evaluated in groups of 10 male Wistar rats that were exposed by inhalation to very high concentrations of toluene alone (1,030, 1,980, 2,950, 2,970, 4,120, or 4,850 ppm), xylenes alone (1,030, 2,010, 2,870, 2,930, 4,150, or 4,970 ppm), or their mixture (1,050, 2,030, 2,610, 2,710, 4,130, or 4,700 ppm) for 4 hours (Korsak et al. 1988). The mixture was 50 volume percent toluene and 50 volume percent xylenes, indicating that the concentrations of toluene and xylenes in the mixed exposure groups were 525+525, 1,015+1,015, 1,305+1,305, 1,355+1,355, 2,065+2,065, and 2,350+2,350 ppm. Comparison with pre-exposure test values showed

concentration-related performance disturbances following exposure to toluene and xylene individually and in combination. Probit analysis of exposure vs. response yielded EC_{50} values of 4,050 ppm (95% confidence interval [CI] 3,580–4,580 ppm), 4,520 ppm (95% CI 3,580–4,580 ppm), and 2,770 ppm (95% CI 2,560–2,990 ppm) for toluene, xylene, and mixed toluene/xylene, respectively, showing that the mixture was more potent than the individual chemicals. Statistical comparison of relative potency values, apparently determined from the slopes of the exposure-response curves, indicated that the mixture was about 1.5-fold more potent than the individual agents (see Table 2-6).

Table 2-6. Relative Potency of Toluene, Xylene, and Their 1:1 Mixture on Rotarod Performance in Rats

Reference compound	Reference potency	Compound compared	Relative potency
Toluene	1	Xylene	0.974
Toluene	1	Toluene + Xylene	1.489ª
Xylene	1	Toluene	1.027
Xylene	1	Toluene + Xylene	1.529 ^a

^aSignificantly (p<0.01) different than toluene and xylene alone

Source: Korsak et al. 1988

These data are not consistent with additive joint action of toluene and xylene on the neurobehavioral endpoint and suggest that, at these very high exposure levels, greater-than-additive joint action occurred as a consequence of metabolic saturation and resulted in increased blood concentrations of both parent compounds.

Neurotoxic effects of mixed inhalation exposure to toluene and xylene were further assessed by subchronic evaluations of rotarod performance and spontaneous motor activity in rats (Korsak et al. 1992). Groups of 12 male Wistar rats were intermittently exposed (6 hours/day, 5 days/week) to control air (sham-exposed), 100 ppm toluene, 100 ppm *m*-xylene, or 50 ppm toluene + 50 ppm *m*-xylene for 6 months, or to control air, 1,000 ppm toluene, 1,000 ppm *m*-xylene, or 500 ppm toluene + 500 ppm *m*-xylene for 3 months. Rotarod performance was tested at monthly intervals throughout the study, and spontaneous motor activity was measured at the end of the 3- and 6-month exposure periods. Additional

study endpoints, evaluated at the end of the exposure periods, included clinical chemistry and hematology indexes, body and organ weights, and liver ultrastructure (Korsak et al. 1992; Rydzynski et al. 1992). Rotarod performance was significantly ($p \le 0.01$) reduced in all individual chemical and mixed exposure groups compared to the controls; the approximate percentages of control, toluene, xylene, and toluene/xylene groups with abnormal performance as compared to pre-exposure values were 0, 40, 60, and 72%, respectively, in the 1,000 ppm (3-month) study, and 0, 35, 33, and 43%, respectively, in the 100 ppm (6-month) study. Although performance reduction was more pronounced in the groups exposed to the mixtures than in those exposed to the individual chemicals, none of these group differences were statistically significant. A similar pattern was observed for spontaneous motor activity (i.e., significant decreases in single and mixed chemical groups in comparison to unexposed controls, but not between the individual and mixed chemical groups). The approximate percent reductions in spontaneous movements (number per hour) compared to controls in the toluene, xylene and mixed toluene/xylene groups were 37.5, 47, and 62.5%, respectively, in the 100 ppm study (data were not reported for the 1,000 ppm study). Based on these neurotoxicity data, there are no clear indications of greater-than-additive joint action as found in the previously summarized high concentration acute exposure (4-hour) rotarod study (Korsak et al. 1988). Other effects included some hematological changes in the 1,000 ppm study, including reduced red blood cell counts (2.5, 3.4, and 11.8% compared to controls in the toluene, xylene, and, toluene/xylene groups, respectively; p≤0.05 in the mixed group only), reduced lymphocyte counts (16.8, 25.2, and 21.9%, $p \le 0.05$ in all groups), and increased monocyte counts (75.9, 96.4, and 97.6%, $p \le 0.05$ in all groups) (Korsak et al. 1992). There were no changes in serum levels of liver enzymes or other clinical chemistry endpoints (Korsak et al. 1992), although hepatic ultrastructural changes indicative of adaptation (e.g., proliferation of smooth endoplasmic reticulum and increased number of lysosomes) were found in all exposed groups in the 100 and 1,000 ppm studies (Rydzynski et al. 1992). Based on a semiquantitative evaluation of the lesions (not changed, slight/focal or moderate/multifocal), the investigators concluded that proliferation of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum in the mixed exposure group was consistent with an additive effect of the individual chemicals.

Effects of acute inhalation exposure to toluene, xylene, and their half-concentration mixture on behavior and induced seizure characteristics were investigated in rats and mice (Frantik et al. 1988). In one series of experiments, groups of 17 male albino rats were exposed to control air, 540 ppm toluene alone, 460 ppm mixed xylenes alone, or 270 ppm toluene + 230 ppm xylenes for 6 hours and evaluated for changes in spontaneous motor activity and latency, duration and intensity of audiogenic (sound-induced) seizures. Spontaneous motor activity, assessed as meters traveled during the second 30 minutes of exposure, was increased 123, 196, and 117% compared with controls in the toluene, xylene, and toluene/

xylene groups, respectively. The latency of the of audiogenic seizures was increased 529, 750, and 434% compared with controls in the toluene, xylene, and toluene/xylene groups, respectively. A composite score reflecting the latency, duration, and intensity of the audiogenic seizures (maximum value=3) was reduced 60, 91, and 52% in the toluene, xylene, and toluene/xylene groups, respectively. Experiments were also conducted in which effects of exposure to 540 ppm toluene alone, 460 ppm mixed xylenes alone, or 270 toluene + 230 ppm xylenes on electric shock-induced seizures were studied in rats and mice that were exposed for 4 and 2 hours, respectively (Frantik et al. 1988). Evaluation of the latency of hindlimb extension (both species) and duration of maximum tonic extension (rats only) showed no significant differences (p>0.05) between the three exposed groups (no unexposed animals tested). The results from this study indicate that toluene alone and xylene alone caused similar neurological changes of increased spontaneous activity and depressed generation, propagation, and maintenance of induced seizures. The effects of combined exposure were not significantly different from the effects from exposure to comparable levels of toluene or xylene alone.

The inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures was further investigated in male rats that were exposed to 270 or 540 ppm toluene alone for 4 hours, 230 or 460 ppm *o*-xylene alone for 4 hours, or 270 ppm toluene + 230 ppm *o*-xylene for 2 hours, as well as in female mice that were similarly exposed to 380 or 760 ppm toluene alone, 320 or 640 ppm *o*-xylene alone, or 380 ppm toluene + 320 ppm *o*-xylene (Vodickova et al. 1995). Seizure inhibition was evaluated by measuring duration of tonic extension of hindlimbs in the rats and velocity of tonic extension in the mice. There were no statistically significant (p>0.05) differences in mean duration of hindlimb extension in the rats exposed to the mixture and those exposed to either concentration of toluene alone or xylene alone. Comparisons in the mice showed that seizure propagation was significantly (p<0.05) slower in the mixture group (34% reduced compared to pre-exposure) than in the groups exposed to 760 ppm toluene alone or 640 ppm xylene alone (44 and 41% reduced, respectively), indicating that there was a less-than-additive joint effect in this species. Linear regression analysis of effect on air or blood concentrations of the individual chemicals also predicted a less-than-additive effect of the mixture in both species.

Korsak et al. (1988) evaluated effects of 4-hour high-level exposure to toluene (3,030, 3,850, or 4,690 ppm), mixed xylenes (2,600, 4,000, 4,600, or 7,000 ppm), and their mixture (1,060, 2,400, and 4,400 ppm) on respiratory rate in groups of 2–4 Balb C mice. The mixture was 50 volume percent toluene and 50 volume percent xylenes, indicating that the concentrations of toluene and xylenes in the mixed exposure groups were 530+530, 1,200+1,200, and 2,200+2,200 ppm. The RD₅₀ concentration (i.e., level that depresses respiratory rate by 50%) was calculated to be 4,750, 2,440 and 1,990 ppm for toluene,

xylene, and mixed toluene/xylene, respectively. These data are consistent with a greater-than-additive joint irritative effect of toluene and xylene on the upper respiratory tract at these relatively high exposure levels.

The cytogenic potential of 50 ppm toluene and 40 ppm mixed xylenes (15, 25, and 60% *o-*, *m-*, and *p-*isomers, respectively) was investigated in five adult male volunteers who were exposed to the chemicals either separately or in combination (50 ppm toluene + 40 ppm xylenes) for 7 hours/day for 3 consecutive days (Richer et al. 1993). The experiment was repeated three times at biweekly intervals. Analysis of peripheral blood cells showed that cell mortality was significantly (p<0.05) increased in all exposed groups compared to unexposed controls, but not different in the mixed exposed group compared to the individual chemical exposures. There were no exposure-related changes in cell cycle delay and sister chromatid exchanges in any of the groups. Similar results were found in human blood lymphocytes exposed to either toluene, xylene, or their mixture (i.e., no significant cytogenic effects at lower concentrations, with only cell mortality significantly affected at higher concentrations) (Richer et al. 1993).

Possible interactions between the components of a toluene/xylene mixture were also studied using the *in vitro* rat embryonic development assay (Brown-Woodman et al. 1994) described in Section 2.2.1. The mixture was tested at a total concentration that was approximately the same as a minimally toxic level of each individual component or at a lower concentration that was similar to a no-effect level of each component. The average percentages of toluene and xylene contributing to the total concentration in the mixtures were 44.1 and 55.9%, respectively. Embryotoxic effects of the mixture were similar to those produced by similar equimolar concentrations of toluene (2.71 µmol/mL) and xylene (2.75 µmol/mL) alone. The no-effect level of the mixture (1.90 µmol/mL) was reported to be similar to equimolar concentrations of the individual chemicals that were without effects. The results are suggestive of additive joint action on these endpoints, but study design limitations, as discussed in Section 2.2.1, preclude full characterization of the joint toxic action.

Table 2-7 provides a summary of the interaction data regarding the effects of toluene on the metabolism of xylenes and effects of xylenes on the metabolism of toluene. Table 2-8 summarizes the data regarding the effects of toluene on the toxicity of xylenes and effects of xylenes on the toxicity of toluene. These studies were evaluated in detail in the text. Further evaluation of the relevance of these data is provided in Section 2.3.

Table 2-7. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Toluene	Influence on Metabol	ism of Xylene		
			Inhalation Exposure (p	opm) ^a		
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and xylene			$75 + 225 \text{ (r)}^{\text{b}}$ 150 + 150 225 + 75	< additive	Tardif et al. 1992
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and xylene			100 + 200 (r) 200 + 100	< additive	Tardif et al. 1996
Acute	Levels of toluene and xylene in blood and alveolar air and their metabolites (hippuric acid and methylhippuric acid) in urine		$50 + 40 \text{ (h)}^{\text{b}}$	95 + 80	< additive (high dose mixture)	Tardif et al. 1991
Acute	Levels of toluene and xylene in blood and exhaled air		54 + 22 (h)		no interaction	Wallen et al. 1985
Acute	Urinary level of xylene metabolite methylhippuric acid		45 + 70 (h) 70 + 70		no interaction	Jakubowski and Kostrzewski 1989
Repeated	Urinary levels of metabolites of toluene (hippuric acid) and xylene (methylhippuric acid).		2.7 + 3.1 (h)		no interaction	Huang et al. 1994

Table 2-7. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Xylene I	nfluence on Metabolis	sm of Toluene		
			Inhalation Exposure (1	opm) ^a		
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and xylene			75 + 225 (r) 150 + 150 225 + 75	< additive	Tardif et al. 1992
Acute	Blood levels of toluene and xylene			100 + 200 (r) 200 + 100	< additive	Tardif et al. 1996
Acute	Levels of toluene and xylene in blood and alveolar air and hippuric acid and methylhippuric acid metabolites in urine		40 + 50 (h)	80 + 95	< additive in high dose mixture	Tardif et al. 1991
Acute	Levels of toluene and xylene in blood and exhaled air		22 + 54 (h)		no interaction	Wallen et al. 1985
Acute	Urinary excretion of xylene metabolite methylhippuric acid		70 + 45 (h) 70 + 70		no interaction	Jakubowski and Kostrzewski 1989
Repeated	Urinary excretion of metabolites of toluene (hippuric acid) and xylene (methylhippuric acid)		3.1 + 2.7 (h)		no interaction	Huang et al. 1994

^a First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's toxicity.

^b Species code: r= rat; h = human

Table 2-8. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Toluc	ene Influence on Toxici	ty of Xylene		
			Inhalation Exposure (1	opm) ^a		
Acute	Neurobehavioral test battery ^c		50 + 50 (h) ^b		additive	Dudek et al. 1990
Acute	Reaction time (simple and choice) and short-term memory		53 + 23 (h)		no interaction	Olson et al. 1985
Acute	Rotarod performance	525 + 525 (r) ^b 1,015 + 1,015 1,305 + 1,305 1,355 + 1,355 2,065 + 2,065 2,350 + 2,350			> additive	Korsak et al. 1988
Repeated	Rotarod performance, spontaneous motor activity, clinical chemistry and hematology indices, liver ultrastructure		50 + 50 (r) 500 + 500		additive	Korsak et al. 1992

Table 2-8. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
Acute	Spontaneous motor activity and inhibition of sound-induced seizures		270 + 230 (r)		additive	Frantik et al. 1988
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		270 + 230 (r)		additive	Frantik et al. 1988
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		270 + 230 (m) ^b	380 + 320 (m)	additive (low dose mixture) < additive (high dose mixture)	Frantik et al. 1988; Vodickova et al. 1995
Acute	Depression of respiratory rate	530 + 530 (r) 1,200 + 1,200 2,200 + 2,200			> additive	Korsak et al. 1988
Acute	Sister-chromatid exchanges and cell mortality in peripheral lymphocytes		50 + 40 (h)		no interaction	Richer et al. 1993
		Xyleı	ne Influence on Toxicit	y of Toluene		
			Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a		
Acute	Neurobehavioral test battery ^c		50 + 50 (h)		additive	Dudek et al. 1990
Acute	Reaction time (simple and choice) and short-term memory		23 + 53 (h)		no interaction	Olson et al. 1985

Table 2-8. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
Acute	Rotarod performance	525 + 525 (r) ^b 1,015 + 1,015 1,305 + 1,305 1,355 + 1,355 2,065 + 2,065 2,350 + 2,350			> additive	Korsak et al. 1988
Repeated	Rotarod performance, spontaneous motor activity, clinical chemistry and hematology indices, liver ultrastructure		50 + 50 (r) 500 + 500		additive	Korsak et al. 1992
Acute	Spontaneous motor activity and inhibition of sound-induced seizures		230 + 270 (r)		additive	Frantik et al. 1988
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		230 + 270 (r)		additive	Frantik et al. 1988
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		230 + 270 (m)	320 + 380 (m)	additive (low dose mixture) < additive (high dose mixture)	Vodickova et al. 1995; Frantik et al. 1988
Acute	Depression of respiratory rate	530 + 530 (r) 1,200 + 1,200 2,200 + 2,200			> additive	Korsak et al. 1988

Table 2-8. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Toluene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Toluene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

		Results				
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
Acute	Sister-chromatid exchanges and cell mortality in peripheral lymphocytes		40 + 50 (h)		no interaction	Richer et al. 1993

^a First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's toxicity.

^b Species code: h = human; r= rat; m = mouse

^c Nine tests were conducted that assessed memory, cognitive processes, motor-visual coordination, speed and precision of hand movements, psychomotor efficiency, and mood.

2.2.8 Ethylbenzene and Xylenes

A PBPK model was developed for binary mixtures of xylene and ethylbenzene in rats as part of the development of the model for the ternary mixture discussed in Section 2.2.2 (Tardif et al. 1997). The binary mixture model is based on individual PBPK models for toluene and ethylbenzene that were linked via the saturable metabolism term in the liver compartment by modifying the metabolism term to accommodate alternative mechanisms of interaction (i.e., no interaction, competitive inhibition, noncompetitive inhibition, and uncompetitive inhibition). Comparisons of binary model simulations with observed blood levels of the chemicals in rats that were exposed to 100 ppm xylene + 200 ppm ethylbenzene or 200 ppm xylene + 100 ppm ethylbenzene for 4 hours showed that the competitive metabolic interaction model best described the experimental data (Tardif et al. 1996). The blood concentrations of unchanged toluene and ethylbenzene were measured postexposure (5–120 minutes) and AUC were calculated. As summarized in Table 2-3 in Section 2.2.2, exposure to the binary mixture resulted in significantly higher AUCs of xylene and ethylbenzene compared with the individual chemical exposures. These results are consistent with the occurrence of mutual competitive metabolic inhibition at these exposure levels.

Metabolic interaction studies that monitored urinary metabolites have not consistently found that combined exposure to xylene and ethylbenzene produces a mutual inhibition of metabolism. In a study in which volunteers were exposed to 150 ppm ethylbenzene, 150 ppm m-xylene, or both compounds together (150 ppm + 150 ppm) for 4 hours, there was a general mutual inhibition of metabolism manifested by delayed excretion and reduced amounts of metabolites excreted for both compounds (Engstrom et al. 1984). In contrast to these results in humans, ethylbenzene did not appear to affect m-xylene metabolism in rats as indicated by urinary excretion of major metabolites, although m-xylene did delay the metabolism and excretion of ethylbenzene in this species (Elovaara et al. 1982, 1984). Groups of three rats were exposed to m-xylene + ethylbenzene air concentrations of 0+0, 75+25, 300+100, or 600+200 ppm for 6 hours/day for 5 days. The observed delay in ethylbenzene metabolism increased with repetitive dosing and as the combined dose of the two chemicals increased to 600+200 ppm. Additionally, comparison of the mixture-exposed rats after the first 6-hour exposure with rats that were exposed to ethylbenzene alone (100 or 200 ppm) or m-xylene alone (300 or 600 ppm) for 6 hours showed that more total metabolites of ethylbenzene were recovered following exposure to 300+100 ppm and 600+200 ppm as compared to the single chemical exposures. Possible explanations offered by the investigators included enhanced excretion of endogenous metabolites, formation of the same metabolite from both compounds, and metabolic saturation.

Limited information is available regarding interactions between ethylbenzene and xylene using toxicity endpoints. Induction of microsomal enzymes in the liver, kidneys and lungs was investigated in rats exposed to 2,000 ppm of either ethylbenzene, *m*-xylene, *o*-xylene, *p*-xylene, or their mixture (23% ethylbenzene, 64.5% *m*-xylene, 10% *p*-xylene, 2% *o*-xylene, and 0.5% toluene) for 6 hours/day for 3 days (Toftgard and Nilsen 1981, 1982). All of these chemicals induced microsomal enzymes to varying degrees, but the effects of the mixture generally paralleled those of *m*-xylene, suggesting that the presence of ethylbenzene did not alter *m*-xylene activity at this high level of exposure. The same experimental protocol was used to study effects on dopamine and noradrenaline levels and turnover in various parts of the brain (Andersson et al. 1981). Mixture-induced changes in the hypothalamus generally reflected the activity of *m*-xylene, but effects of the mixture in the forebrain (increased dopamine levels and turnover compared with controls) were not produced by any of the single chemical exposures. The findings in the forebrain suggest that greater-than-additive joint action occurred, probably between *m*-xylene and ethylbenzene, which were present in the highest concentrations, although no overt behavioral signs occurred in any of the groups.

The inhibition of electroconvulsive shock-induced seizures was investigated in groups of 10 male Wistar rats that were exposed to ethylbenzene (160 or 320 ppm), m-xylene (280 or 560 ppm), or mixed ethylbenzene + m-xylene combination in half concentrations (80+140 or 160+280 ppm) by inhalation for 4 hours (Frantik and Vodickova 1995). Blood and brain levels of the chemicals were determined in the rats exposed to the higher of the two concentrations of ethylbenzene, xylene, or their mixture, as well as in additional groups exposed to 640 ppm ethylbenzene, 1,120 ppm xylene, or 320 ppm ethylbenzene + 560 ppm xylene, respectively. Seizure discharge resulting from a short electrical shock applied through ear electrodes, as assessed by measurements of latency and duration of tonic extension of the hindlimbs, was considered to be a reliable indicator of subnarcotic neurotoxicity based on previous findings. Chemicals that depress seizure discharge also inhibit various behavioral activities in higher doses, as well as induce sleep and narcosis at even higher levels. Neither ethylbenzene + xylene mixture (80+140 or 160+280 ppm) was significantly (p<0.05) more effective than their double-concentration components in altering the latency or duration of seizure discharge, indicating that there were no nonadditive interactive effects of combined exposure. Exposure to 160 ppm ethylbenzene + 200 ppm xylene had no effect on the blood and brain concentrations of either chemical, although the higher concentration mixture (320+560 ppm) caused significantly (p<0.05) increased xylene in the blood and brain (52 and 40%, respectively) with no changes in levels of toluene. At the concentrations tested, latency and duration of seizure discharge induced by the mixture were not significantly different from latency and duration of seizure discharge from the individual chemicals.

Table 2-9 provides a summary of the interaction data regarding the effects of ethylbenzene on the metabolism of xylenes and effects of xylenes on the metabolism of ethylbenzene. Table 2-10 summarizes the data regarding the effects of ethylbenzene on the toxicity of xylenes and effects of xylenes on the toxicity of ethylbenzene. These studies were evaluated in detail in the text. Further evaluation of the relevance of these data is provided in Section 2.3.

Table 2-9. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Ethylbenzene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Ethylbenzene after Simultaneous Exposure

			Results					
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References		
		Ethylber	nzene Influence on Xyle	ene Metabolism				
	Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a							
Acute	Blood levels of ethylbenzene and xylene			$100 + 200 (r)^b 200 + 100$	< additive	Tardif et al. 1996		
Acute	Urinary excretion of metabolites of xylene (methylhippuric acid) and ethylbenzene (mandelic and phenylglyoxylic acids)			150 + 150 (h) ^b	< additive	Engstrom et al. 1984		
Repeated	Urinary excretion of major metabolites		25 + 75 (r) 100 + 300 200 + 600		no interaction	Elovaara et al. 1982, 1984		

Table 2-9. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Ethylbenzene on Metabolism of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Metabolism of Ethylbenzene after Simultaneous Exposure (continued)

			Results			
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References
		Xylene I	nfluence on Ethylbenze	ene Metabolism		
			Inhalation Exposure (1	opm) ^a		
Acute	Blood levels of xylene and ethylbenzene			100 + 200 (r) 200 + 100	< additive	Tardif et al. 1996
Acute	Urinary excretion of metabolites of xylene (methylhippuric acid) and ethylbenzene (mandelic and phenylglyoxylic acids)			150 + 150 (h)	< additive	Engstrom et al. 1984
Repeated	Urinary excretion of major metabolites			$75 + 25 (r)^{b}$ 300 + 100 600 + 200	< additive	Elovaara et al. 1982, 1984

 $[^]a$ First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's toxicity. b Species code: $r=rat;\ h=human$

Table 2-10. Summary of Available Data on the Influence of Ethylbenzene on Toxicity of Xylene and the Influence of Xylene on Toxicity of Ethylbenzene after Simultaneous Exposure

		Results					
Duration	Endpoint	Greater than additive	Additive/no effect	Less than additive	Conclusions	References	
	Inhalation Exposure (ppm) ^a						
	Ethylbenzene Influence on Xylene Toxicity						
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		$80 + 140 (r)^b$ 160 + 280		additive	Frantik and Vodickova 1995	
Repeated	Brain levels of dopamine and noradrenaline	2,000° (r)			> additive (dopamine)	Andersson et al. 1981	
Repeated	Microsomal enzyme activity in liver, kidneys, and lungs		2,000° (r)		no interaction	Toftgard and Nilsen 1981, 1982	
	Xylene Influence on Ethylbenzene Toxicity						
Acute	Inhibition of electric shock-induced seizures		140 + 80 (r) 280 + 160		additive	Frantik and Vodickova 1995	
Repeated	Brain levels of dopamine and noradrenaline	2,000° (r)			> additive (dopamine)	Andersson et al. 1981	
Repeated	Microsomal enzyme activity in liver, kidneys, and lungs		2,000° (r)		no interaction	Toftgard and Nilsen 1981, 1982	

^a First dose listed is for the chemical influencing the other chemical's toxicity.

^b Species code: r = rat

^{° 2,000} ppm of either ethylbenzene, *m*-xylene, *o*-xylene, *p*-xylene, or their mixture (23% ethylbenzene, 64.5% *m*-xylene, 10% *p*-xylene, 2% *o*-xylene, and 0.5% toluene).

2.3 Relevance of the Joint Toxic Action Data and Approaches to Public Health

Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes frequently occur together at hazardous waste sites as indicated in Section 1. Public health risks from exposure to BTEX may best be assessed by an approach that considers both the mechanism and toxic consequences of the joint action of the whole mixture, particularly the presence or absence of interactions affecting the responses of the critical target organs. Data on the whole BTEX mixture are lacking; however, a PBPK model was developed that predicts blood levels of the four chemicals in rats. Similar PBPK models have also been developed for binary, ternary, and quinary mixtures of BTEX components in humans as well as rats. No toxicity studies are available for whole BTEX, although health effects of the individual chemicals are generally well characterized (Appendices A–D). Information pertaining to toxic interactions among the BTEX components is essentially limited to data on a few binary mixtures of the chemicals. As discussed below, predictions from the PBPK modeling studies, when used in conjunction with mechanistic, interaction, and toxicity information on the components, provide a sufficient basis for assessing the joint toxic action of the whole mixture in humans.

PBPK models have been developed for inhalation exposure of rats to all binary mixtures of BTEX components (Haddad et al. 1999a; Purcell et al. 1990; Tardif et al. 1993a, 1993b, 1995, 1997), the ternary mixture toluene/ethylbenzene/m-xylene (Tardif et al. 1997), the quaternary mixture BTEX (Haddad et al. 1999a), and the quinary mixture DBTEX (Haddad et al. 2000). The PBPK models for the ternary, quaternary, and quinary mixtures were constructed by linking binary models for the constituent chemical pairs in each mixture via a mechanism of metabolic interaction. Competitive metabolic inhibition at CYP2E1 was determined to be the most plausible mechanism of binary interaction for all of the component pairs by optimal fitting of model simulations to blood concentrations of each chemical during actual binary exposures. The PBPK models of the ternary, quaternary, and quinary mixtures therefore are complementary because they share a common framework based on competitive metabolic inhibition and the network of binary interactions present in each mixture.

The PBPK model for the ternary mixture adequately simulated the blood concentrations of each component in rats exposed to a mixture of 100 ppm each of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene for 4 hours (Tardif et al. 1997). Similarly, the quaternary mixture PBPK model adequately predicted the blood levels of all four components in rats exposed for 4 hours to BTEX mixtures comprised of 50 ppm of each component, 100 ppm of each BTEX component, or 100 ppm of benzene and 50 ppm each of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene (Haddad et al. 1999a). The model simulations and experimental data also

showed that blood concentrations of each component chemical were higher in rats exposed to the mixtures than to the chemicals alone, indicating that metabolic interactions (competitive inhibition) were occurring at both the 50 ppm per component (quaternary mixture) and 100 ppm per component (ternary and quaternary mixtures) exposure levels. The BTEX study also showed that the inhibitory effect of the quaternary mixture was greater (i.e., blood concentrations of the component chemicals were increased to a larger extent) following exposure to 100 ppm of each component (400 ppm total mixture exposure) than to 50 ppm of each component (200 ppm total exposure). Additionally, simulations in rats exposed to 100 ppm benzene alone or in combination with 100 ppm of toluene, ethylbenzene, and/or xylene (Table 2-1) indicate that the inhibitory effect of BTEX mixtures increases with increasing number of components as well as with increasing concentration of components (Haddad et al. 1999a).

The PBPK model for the toluene/ethylbenzene/m-xylene ternary mixture in rats was scaled to humans by replacing species-specific model parameters with those for humans, and assuming that the competitive metabolic inhibition constants are species-invariant on the basis that the same isozyme (CYP2E1) is involved in the metabolism of toluene, xylene, and ethylbenzene in both rats and humans (Tardif et al. 1997). The human model adequately simulated the blood and alveolar air concentrations of all three components in volunteers following individual or mixed exposure to 17 ppm toluene, 33 ppm ethylbenzene, and 33 ppm xylene for 7 hours. The model simulations and experimental data showed that the blood and alveolar air levels of each chemical were similar following exposure alone or in combination, thereby indicating that there were no significant metabolic interactions at these lower exposure levels. Measurements of major urinary metabolites of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene further indicated that exposure to the ternary mixture did not significantly modify the metabolism of the individual components in humans (Tardif et al. 1997). Iterative use of the human PBPK model to estimate biological hazard indexes for varying exposure concentrations and proportions of the ternary mixture, calculated on the basis of additivity using blood levels of the components as discussed in Section 2.2.2, similarly predicted that component interactions are negligible at concentrations of 10-20 ppm toluene, 20-30 ppm ethylbenzene and 20–30 ppm m-xylene (Table 2-2) (Haddad et al. 1999b). Similar results were obtained from iterative simulations with the human PBPK model for DBTEX, which predicted negligible component interactions at exposure concentrations of 16 ppm dichloromethane, 0.5 ppm benzene, 16 ppm toluene, 33 ppm ethylbenzene, and 33 ppm xylene (Haddad et al. 2001).

The ability of the PBPK models to adequately simulate the blood concentrations of BTEX components in rats and humans is based on the assumption that competitive metabolic inhibition is the mechanism of interaction. This assumption is supported by *in vitro* and *in vivo* metabolism and toxicity studies

providing evidence of competitive metabolic interactions for some of the binary mixtures, particularly benzene and toluene (Section 2.2.3) and toluene and xylene (Section 2.2.7). However, even though there is reasonable basis to assume that competitive metabolic inhibition is the likely mechanism of interaction for the ternary, quaternary, and quinary mixtures, it is not necessary that the actual mechanism be conclusively established to use the findings from the PBPK studies in assessing the impact of interactions in health assessments of BTEX-exposed humans. In other words, because there is a good fit between model simulations and experimental data at relevant exposure levels, the "real" mechanism does not necessarily have to be conclusively known in order for the models to have practical usefulness.

The predictions from the ternary mixture PBPK studies are particularly relevant to the public health assessment of BTEX because the model has been validated at pertinent exposure concentrations in humans. Both the human model simulations and experimental data indicate that exposure to mixtures of approximately 20 ppm each of toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene will not result in significant increases in blood levels of these chemicals compared to individual chemical exposure (Haddad et al. 1999b; Tardif et al. 1997), indicating that competitive inhibition is negligible at these concentrations. Considering that these sub-interaction threshold exposure concentrations are much higher than expected environmental exposure levels of the three chemicals, and correspond to the occupational TLVs for the chemicals in ternary mixture (i.e., 17 ppm toluene, 33 ppm ethylbenzene, and 33 ppm *m*-xylene), thereby indicating a low potential for toxicologically significant interactions, the ternary mixture human data suggest that component interactions will not impact public health assessments of BTEX for hazardous waste sites.

The proximity of the metabolic interaction thresholds for the ternary and quaternary mixtures in humans is unclear due to the lack of PBPK simulations of BTEX in humans. A comparison based on results of the studies of the ternary mixture in humans (i.e., no interactions at 20 ppm for each of three components) and quaternary mixture in rats (i.e., interactions at 50 ppm each of four components) suggests that metabolic interactions are unlikely to be a concern in humans exposed to whole BTEX at the ternary component concentrations. Assuming similar responses between species, the total exposure to 20 ppm each of the four components (80 ppm) would be 2.5-fold lower than the total exposure to 50 ppm of each component (200 ppm total), which exceeded the threshold for interactions. Although the interactive (inhibitory) effects of BTEX mixtures tend to increase with increasing number of components as well as with concentration of components (Haddad et al. 1999a), the comparison suggests that quaternary exposure to 20 ppm of each component would still be below the threshold for interactions. The predictions of the human PBPK model for DBTEX (i.e., no interactions at component concentrations as high as 16 ppm dichloromethane, 0.5 ppm benzene, 16 ppm toluene, 33 ppm ethylbenzene, and 33 ppm xylene) (Haddad et al. 2001) provide incomplete support for the conclusion that metabolic interactions are negligible in humans exposed to BTEX at concentrations below approximately 20 ppm of each

component. The simulations with the DBTEX model were constrained by use of a fixed benzene exposure level of 0.5 ppm (the TLV concentration). This exposure level is in the range of maximum estimated concentrations of benzene in air near hazardous waste sites (ATSDR 1997), indicating that interactions are unlikely to occur in people environmentally exposed to BTEX. Because 0.5 ppm was the only concentration of benzene used in the model simulations, the conclusion that the interaction threshold for benzene is approximately 20 ppm is speculative. This speculation could be verified by using the DBTEX model to simulate BTEX, i.e., by setting the exposure concentration of dichloromethane to zero and testing a range of concentrations of benzene and the other components.

As discussed above, the PBPK model for BTEX assumes competitive inhibition for all component interactions on the basis of both plausibility and kinetic data (Haddad et al. 1999a). Plausibility is based on evidence that the principal isozyme responsible for the metabolism of each of the BTEX components at low concentrations is CYP2E1. Competitive inhibition would be expected if the components are all substrates for the same isozyme. This expectation was tested by comparison of model predictions with kinetic data on parent chemical blood concentrations following mixed inhalation exposures at component concentrations in the range of 50–200 ppm, and a competitive inhibition description provided a better fit to the data than non- or uncompetitive inhibition. These results supported the use of a competitive description at inhalation concentrations in the range of the data (50–200 ppm) and below. However, they do not necessarily support the use of a competitive description at higher concentrations.

An indication that the competitive inhibition-based PBPK model for BTEX may not be adequate at high concentrations is provided by the results of PBPK modeling studies of binary mixtures of benzene and toluene. As discussed in Section 2.2.3, Haddad et al. (1999a) found that interactions between benzene and toluene at exposure concentrations of 50–200 ppm are best described by a competitive inhibition-based model, whereas Purcell et al. (1990) found that interactions at higher levels (200–1,000 ppm) are consistent with noncompetitive inhibition. These results do not conflict because noncompetitive and competitive descriptions result in the same low-concentration behavior and differ only at high concentrations. The contribution of isozymes other than CYP2E1 to the metabolism of the BTEX components (see Appendices A–D) also suggests that interactions may not be adequately described by the competitive inhibition-based BTEX model at high concentrations.

Although the adequacy of the competitive inhibition-based PBPK model for BTEX is unlikely to be a concern for most environmental inhalation exposure scenarios, it could be important in the case of acute exposures from spills and occupational exposures. Additionally, it is unclear if the PBPK model description would be appropriate for oral exposures (e.g., from drinking contaminated water). Because ingested BTEX mixtures are subject to presystemic metabolism, whereas inhaled BTEX mixtures are not,

the results obtained with the inhalation model are not necessarily applicable to oral exposures. In particular, although it is reasonable to expect that the nature of the interactions associated with low level oral exposures would also be consistent with competitive (or noncompetitive) inhibition, there is no clear basis for predicting the oral threshold for interactions.

No toxicity endpoints were evaluated in the PBPK studies and no epidemiological and toxicological studies of BTEX have been performed. Health effects data on ternary mixtures of BTEX components are limited to two investigations of benzene/toluene/xylene, a mixture that has not been modeled in PBPK studies. These studies provide an effect level for hematological and immunological effects in exposed workers (Lange et al. 1973), and evidence of dose additivity in an *in vitro* rat embryonic development assay (Brown-Woodman et al. 1994), but are an insufficient basis for hazard assessment. Considering the health effects information on the individual BTEX chemicals summarized in the appendices, as well as the data on binary component mixtures discussed in Section 2.2, neurotoxicity, hematotoxicity, immunotoxicity, and carcinogenicity are the critical effects of concern for human exposure to BTEX.

Based on findings in human and animal studies, acute or repeated exposure to any of the BTEX component chemicals is expected to produce neurological impairment resulting from the parent chemicals acting on components of neuronal membranes (see Appendices A–D). Nervous system toxicity from lipophilic solvents such as the BTEX components is thought to involve reversible intercalation in lipid bilayers of nerve membranes (yielding changes in membrane fluidity), and/or reversible interactions with membrane proteins (yielding conformational changes) leading to altered ion transport, enzymic activities, and neurotransmitter receptor functions necessary for normal nerve impulses and regeneration of action potentials (Balster 1998; Cruz et al. 1998; Engelke et al. 1996; Franks and Lieb 1985, 1987; Mihic et al. 1994; von Euler 1994). Animal data further indicate that repeated exposure to higher levels of toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes can damage liver and kidney tissues due to the formation of reactive metabolites (see Appendices B, C, and D). The critical nature of the neurotoxicity of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene is reflected by the selection of neurological endpoints as the basis of 9 of the 13 MRLs for these chemicals, including 6 of 8 inhalation MRLs (see Table 2-11). Eight of the nine neurotoxicity-based MRLs are for toluene and xylene. The four non-neurotoxicity-based MRLs are for oral exposure to xylene (intermediate oral MRLs for mixed xylenes and m-xylene), inhalation exposure to benzene (acute inhalation MRL), and inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene (intermediate inhalation MRL). These MRLs do not imply a low neurotoxic potential for these chemicals and durations, but rather that there is insufficient information on sensitive neurological effects at low levels of exposure. For example, although the intermediate oral MRLs for mixed xylenes and m-xylene are based

on kidney and liver toxicity, respectively, all three inhalation MRLs for mixed xylenes, as well as the acute oral MRL for *p*-xylene, are based on neurotoxicity. Similarly, the immuno/hematotoxicity-based acute inhalation MRL for benzene and developmental toxicity-based intermediate inhalation MRL for ethylbenzene are for exposure categories and chemicals for which sensitive neurological effects are poorly characterized, although the neurotoxicity of these chemicals is recognized as discussed below.

Available exposure-response data for neurological effects of acute inhalation exposure to benzene and intermediate inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene mainly reflect relatively insensitive endpoints such as overt symptoms and signs of central nervous system toxicity (ATSDR 1997, 1999b). Although these data, as well as information summarized in Appendices A and C, clearly show that the nervous system is a target of benzene and ethylbenzene, more studies are needed to identify thresholds for neurotoxicity and better characterize the relative sensitivity of neurological, immunological, and developmental endpoints. Indications that neurotoxicity is likely to be a critical effect for acute exposure to benzene and intermediate exposure to ethylbenzene include the following inhalation data, as summarized by ATSDR (1997, 1999b) in Levels of Significant Exposure (LSE) tables: (1) proximity of the lowest-observedadverse-affect level (LOAEL) for neurological symptoms (60 ppm in humans) to the LOAEL for immunological effects (10 ppm in mice) used to derive the acute MRL for benzene; (2) use of a neurotoxicity LOAEL (0.78 ppm in mice) as the basis for the intermediate inhalation MRL for benzene; (3) similarity of the no-observed-adverse-affect level (NOAEL) for neurotoxicity (99 ppm in rats) to the NOAEL for developmental toxicity (97 ppm in rats) used to derive the intermediate MRL for ethylbenzene; and (4) a neurotoxicity LOAEL (382 ppm in rats) that is lower than the LOAELs for developmental toxicity (959 ppm in rats) and immunotoxicity (959 ppm in rats) for intermediate exposure to ethylbenzene. Increased concern for neurotoxicity compared to immunological and developmental effects is further indicated by data for toluene and xylenes, including the following (ATSDR 1995, 2000): (1) the acute MRL for toluene is based on a NOAEL for neurotoxicity (40 ppm in humans) that is higher than the LOAEL for immunological effects (2.5 ppm in mice); (2) the chronic

Table 2-11. Health Effects Forming the Basis of ATSDR MRLs for Chemicals of Concern (See Appendices A, B, C, and D for More Details)

Exposure route	Exposure duration				
	Acute	Intermediate	Chronic		
Inhalation	Immunological effects in mice	Neurological effects in mice	_		
Oral	_		_		
Inhalation	Neurological effects in humans	a	Neurological effects in humans		
Oral	Neurological effects in rats	Neurological effects in mice	_		
Inhalation	_	Developmental effects in rats	_		
Oral	_	_	_		
Inhalation	Neurobehavioral effects in humans	Neurodevelopmental effects in rats	Neurotoxicity symptoms and eye and respiratory tract irritation in humans		
Oral	_	Renal toxicity in rats	_		
Inhalation	_	_	_		
Oral	_	_	_		
Inhalation	_	_	_		
Oral	_	Liver toxicity in rats	_		
Inhalation	_	_	_		
Oral	Neurological effects in rats	_	_		
	route Inhalation Oral Inhalation	Inhalation Immunological effects in mice Oral — Inhalation Neurological effects in humans Oral Neurological effects in rats Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation Neurobehavioral effects in humans Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation — Oral — Inhalation —	Exposure route Acute Inhalation Immunological effects in mice Oral Inhalation Neurological effects in humans Oral Neurological effects in rats Neurological effects in mice Developmental effects in rats Oral Inhalation Neurobehavioral effects in humans Oral Neurobehavioral effects in humans Oral Renal toxicity in rats Inhalation Oral Inhalation Oral Inhalation Uran Inhalation U		

^aNo data were considered suitable for use in deriving an intermediate duration MRL for inhalation exposures to toluene. ATSDR concluded, however, that the neurotoxicity-based chronic inhalation MRL would also be protective for intermediate duration exposures (ATSDR 2000).

ATSDR = Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry; MRL = Minimum Risk Level

Source: ATSDR 1995, 1997, 1999b, 2000

MRL for toluene is based on a LOAEL for neurotoxicity (35 ppm in humans) that is similar to chronic LOAELs for immunological effects (41 and 44 ppm in humans); (3) the *de facto* intermediate MRL for toluene (i.e., the chronic MRL for toluene, which is also protective for intermediate exposures) is based on a LOAEL for neurotoxicity (35 ppm in humans) that is higher than the intermediate LOAEL for immunological effects (2.5 ppm in mice); and (4) the acute MRL for mixed xylenes is based on a LOAEL for neurotoxicity (100 ppm in humans) that is higher than LOAELs for developmental toxicity (53 and 58 ppm in rats).

Hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity are additional concerns for exposure to BTEX based on known effects of the benzene component. There is strong evidence that these health effects are benzene-specific and due to the formation of reactive metabolites (see Appendix A). The most characteristic toxic effect of long-term benzene exposure is a decrease in bone marrow cellularity, which appears to ultimately lead to aplastic anemia and development of leukemia. A chronic inhalation MRL for benzene was not derived due to lack of appropriate exposure-response data on noncancer effects (ATSDR 1997). The intermediate inhalation MRL for benzene is based on neurological effects that occurred at a lower exposure level than for hematological changes. The carcinogenic potential of benzene is well established as reflected by its classification as a human carcinogen by NTP (2001), EPA (IRIS 2001), and IARC (1987). There is also a concern for the carcinogenicity of the ethylbenzene component due to its classification by IARC (2000) as possibly carcinogenic to humans based on recent animal bioassay data (see Appendix C). Ethylbenzene is not listed as a known or anticipated human carcinogen by NTP (2001), and EPA determined that ethylbenzene is not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity (IRIS 2001), but both of these assessments predate the data used as the basis of the IARC classification. The mechanism of carcinogenicity of ethylbenzene has not been elucidated, but is likely related to the formation of reactive metabolites (Appendix C). The human and animal evidence does not support a concern for the carcinogenicity of the other BTEX components; reflecting the weights of available evidence for toluene and xylenes, these chemicals are considered not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity by both EPA (IRIS 2001) and IARC (1999a, 1999b).

In the absence of data on toxic or carcinogenic responses to the whole mixture, the health hazards from exposure to BTEX are best assessed by a components-based approach that considers both the shared (neurologic) and unique (hematologic/immunologic/carcinogenic) critical effects of the four mixture components. Available ATSDR methods for assessing hazards of the shared critical effects are based on an assumption that the responses to the mixture components are additive, and therefore require

judgements concerning the presence or absence of chemical interactions affecting the responses (ATSDR 2001a). The unique critical effects are best assessed on a benzene-specific basis.

Although no data are available on the response of the shared critical target organ, the nervous system, to mixtures of all four BTEX chemicals, the PBPK model studies provide a basis for projecting how the whole mixture is likely to act in producing neurological effects. The PBPK studies facilitate the assessment of neurological hazards of BTEX mixtures by providing estimated and observed exposure levels that reflect the net effect of component interactions at the target tissue. In other words, the modeled/observed blood concentrations of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene represent target tissue doses because the neurological effects are likely due to direct actions of the parent chemicals on neuronal membranes. Based on the PBPK model simulations and experimental data discussed above, there is compelling evidence that metabolic interactions (competitive inhibitions) are negligible in humans exposed to BTEX at concentrations of approximately 20 ppm of each component (Haddad et al. 1999a, 1999b, 2001; Tardif et al. 1997). Although the exact threshold for metabolic interactions is unclear due to incomplete information on the interaction threshold for the benzene component, the available data imply that exposure to lower (e.g., environmental) levels of BTEX is unlikely to cause greater-than-additive joint action in the nervous system. This indicates that an additive componentsbased approach, such as the Hazard Index method, is appropriate for assessing neurotoxic hazards from exposure to BTEX.

As discussed above, the PBPK studies facilitate the use of the Hazard Index method to assess the joint neurotoxic action of BTEX by providing an estimate of the threshold for interactions (i.e., by defining the additive region in which the method is applicable). Another approach that could be used to incorporate information on component interactions in the assessment of BTEX mixtures is the binary weight-of-evidence (BINWOE) modification to the hazard index (ATSDR 2001a, 2001b). Unlike the PBPK model-based approach, the BINWOE method is qualitative and does not provide an integrated view of the potential for non-additive effects over a range of relevant exposures. This method evaluates joint action data for all possible pairs of chemicals in order to determine a BINWOE for the effect of each chemical on the toxicity of every other chemical in the mixture. Each BINWOE is a single qualitative determination of what the direction of interactions is likely to be, when they do occur, and includes confidence ratings for that determination. Thus, if joint toxic action is known to be additive at low levels of exposure and greater than additive at higher exposures, the BINWOE determination will predict greater than additive. The BINWOEs are collectively examined for any patterns that might be evident, and the overall weight of evidence is used to predict whether the whole mixture would increase the hazard

beyond what would be expected based on additivity of the components (i.e., to modify the hazard index for interactions). A BINWOE analysis does not define the exposure region in which its predicted direction of interaction is applicable, and is intended to be used when joint action data are inadequate to support more quantitative methods, such as the PBPK modeling of BTEX, that do provide an integrated assessment of the potential for interactions in the low-exposure region relevant to environmental concerns.

Although a BINWOE analysis is not the most appropriate approach for BTEX given the inherent advantages of PBPK-based assessment, it is relevant that the binary interaction studies generally support the direction of interaction predicted by the PBPK models for higher levels of exposures. Binary interaction matrixes that indicate the plausible direction of interactions when they do occur, as predicted from the interaction studies of metabolic and neurological effects, are presented in Tables 2-12 and 2-13. These matrixes show that joint action was less than additive for metabolic effects in all 12 predictions, greater than additive for neurological effects in 2 of 12 predictions, and additive for neurological effects in 2 of 12 predictions. Because less-than-additive metabolic interaction implies greater-than-additive neurotoxicity (due to increased levels of unmetabolized chemicals that can act on neuronal membranes), the overall assessment is that the mixture components are likely to jointly act on the nervous system in a greater-than-additive manner, which is consistent with the PBPK model predictions for levels of exposure above the interaction threshold.

Studies that directly examined the joint toxic action of BTEX chemicals on the nervous system mainly consist of human and animal investigations of a few binary mixtures of components, particularly benzene/toluene, toluene/xylene, and ethylbenzene/xylene (Sections 2.2.3, 2.2.6, and 2.2.7, respectively). The interpretation of a number of these studies is complicated by experimental designs that preclude conclusively determining if effects of combined exposure were jointly additive because the mixtures were tested at a higher dosage level than the dose levels of the individual components. Considering the better-designed studies in particular, there is no clear evidence that binary component mixtures may jointly act on the nervous system in a less-than-additive or greater-than-additive mode at exposure concentrations below approximately 1,000 ppm. For example, dopamine levels and rate of turnover were higher in the forebrain of rats exposed for 6 hours/day for 3 days to 2,000 ppm of ethylbenzene and xylene in mixture than to either chemical individually at 2,000 ppm (Toftgard and Nilsen 1981, 1982), suggesting that there was a greater-than-additive joint action at this relatively high level of exposure.

Table 2-12. Binary Interaction Matrix for Metabolic Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern

		ON METABOLISM OF				
		Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	
E F	Benzene		<	<	<	
F E C T	Toluene	<		<	<	
	Ethylbenzene	<	<		<	
O F	Xylenes	<	<	<		

INTERACTIONS: = additive; > greater than additive; < less than additive; ? indeterminate

Table 2-13. Binary Interaction Matrix for Nervous System Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern

		ON NERVOUS SYSTEM EFFECTS OF ^a				
		Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	
E F	Benzene		?	?	?	
F E C T	Toluene	?		?	=	
	Ethylbenzene	?	?		=	
O F	Xylenes	?	=	=		

INTERACTIONS: = additive; > greater than additive; < less than additive; ? indeterminate.

^aThe direction of interaction determinations do not consider metabolic interactions, which are summarized in Table 2-12

Greater-than-additive joint neurotoxic action was also suggested by a comparison of relative potency factors for impaired rotarod performance in rats, which showed that a 4-hour exposure to mixtures of toluene and xylene (1,050–4,700 ppm total) were about 1.5-fold more potent than similar concentrations of toluene alone or xylene alone (Korsak et al. 1988). In contrast, there were no clear indications of greater-than-additive joint action on rotarod performance and spontaneous motor activity in rats exposed for 6 hours/day, 5 days/week to 1000 ppm toluene alone, 1000 ppm xylene alone, or 500 ppm toluene plus 500 ppm xylene for 3 months, or to 100 ppm toluene alone, 100 ppm xylene alone, or 50 ppm toluene plus 50 ppm xylene for 6 months (Korsak et al. 1992). Other lower concentration studies similarly found that combined exposure produced effects that were not significantly different from effects from exposure to comparable levels of either component. Endpoints in these studies included neurobehavioral performance (assessed by a battery of nine tests) in humans exposed to 100 ppm toluene alone, 100 ppm xylene alone, or 50 ppm toluene plus 50 ppm xylene for 4 hours (Dudek et al. 1990); spontaneous motor activity and sound-induced seizures in rats and mice exposed to 540 ppm toluene alone, 460 ppm xylenes alone, or 270 ppm toluene plus 230 ppm xylenes for 2-6 hours (Frantik et al. 1988); and electric shock-induced seizures in rats exposed to ≥160 ppm ethylbenzene alone, ≥280 ppm xylene alone, or ≥80 ppm ethylbenzene plus ≥140 ppm xylene for 4 hours (Frantik and Vodickova 1995). The neurotoxicity studies of the binary component mixtures therefore provide no data that are inconsistent with the predictions of the PBPK studies (i.e., that effects from exposures to BTEX at concentrations below approximately 20 ppm of each component are likely to be additive).

The potential hazards due to the benzene-specific hematological and carcinogenic effects of BTEX are best assessed by an approach that considers the mechanistic relationship between these effects. As summarized in Appendix A, it is well established that exposure to benzene can cause damage to the human hematopoietic system, resulting in effects that include aplastic anemia with subsequent manifestation of acute myelogenous leukemia (AML). Additionally, there is general agreement that benzene metabolites, rather than benzene, are the agents involved in the induction of the hematotoxicity and cancer. Assessing the joint toxic action of chemical mixtures usually involves separate strategies for the noncarcinogenic and carcinogenic effects of the components (ATSDR 2001a). However, considering that the only unique critical noncarcinogenic and carcinogenic effects of BTEX chemicals are causally related and induced by the same component, benzene, it is logical to group the hematotoxic and leukemogenic effects together in assessing hazards from exposure to the benzene component. Using cancer risk as the basis for quantifying benzene hazard would be protective of hematotoxicity as well as leukemia.

The PBPK model predictions indicate that toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene are unlikely to influence the hematotoxic and carcinogenic effects of benzene, and that benzene, toluene, and xylene are unlikely to influence the carcinogenicity of ethylbenzene, at exposure concentrations below approximately 20 ppm of each component (Haddad et al. 1999a, 1999b, 2001; Tardif et al. 1997). Exposure to higher concentrations of BTEX is expected to result in reduced blood levels of benzene and ethylbenzene metabolites (compared to exposure to benzene and ethylbenzene alone) due to competitive metabolic interactions, thereby decreasing the potential for hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity. Studies of binary mixtures of BTEX components are consistent with the PBPK model predictions in indicating less-than-additive joint metabolic action for levels of exposure above the interaction threshold (Table 2-12).

Additionally, as discussed in Section 2.2.3 and indicated in Table 2-14, it is well established that toluene can inhibit the hematological effects of benzene. Although ethylbenzene and xylenes are also expected to reduce the hematotoxic/carcinogenic potential of benzene due to competitive metabolic interactions, available toxicity data for these pairs of chemicals are indeterminate (Table 2-14). Similarly, there are no binary toxicity data supporting the possible reduction in ethylbenzene carcinogenicity due to competitive metabolic interactions with benzene, toluene, and xylenes.

Table 2-14. Binary Interaction Matrix for Hematological and Clastogenic Effects from Simultaneous Exposure to Chemicals of Concern

		ON HEMATOLOGICAL AND CLASTOGENIC EFFECTS OF ^a			
		Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes
E F	Benzene		Ш	?	?
F E C T	Toluene	<		?	=
	Ethylbenzene	?	?		?
O F	Xylenes	?	=	?	

INTERACTIONS: = additive; > greater than additive; < less than additive; ? indeterminate

^aThe direction of interaction determinations do not consider metabolic interactions, which are summarized in Table 2-12.

3. Recommendation for Exposure-Based Assessment of Joint Toxic Action of the Mixture

Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes frequently occur together at hazardous waste sites. The four chemicals are volatile and have good solvent properties. Toxicokinetic studies in humans and animals indicate that these chemicals are well absorbed, distribute to lipid-rich and highly vascular tissues such as the brain, bone marrow, and body fat due to their lipophilicity, and are rapidly eliminated from the body (Appendices A, B, C, and D). Metabolism of the four chemicals is dose-dependent and generally extensive at dose levels that do not saturate the first metabolic step of each compound, which involves cytochrome P-450-dependent mixed function oxidases. The predominant cytochrome P-450 isozyme involved in the metabolism of each chemical is CYP2E1. As discussed in Chapter 2 and the Appendices, all four chemicals can produce neurological impairment via parent compound-induced physical and chemical changes in nervous system membranes. Exposure to benzene can additionally cause hematological effects including aplastic anemia, with subsequent manifestation of acute myelogenous leukemia, via the action of reactive metabolites.

No data are available on toxic or carcinogenic responses to whole mixtures of BTEX. To conduct exposure-based assessments of possible health hazards from BTEX in the absence of these data, a component-based approach that considers both the shared (neurologic) and unique (hematologic/immunologic/carcinogenic) critical effects of the chemicals is recommended. In particular, as explained below, it is advised that (1) the Hazard Index approach be used to assess the joint neurotoxic hazard of the four mixture components, and (2) the hematological and carcinogenic hazards be assessed on a benzene-specific basis. As discussed by ATSDR (1992, 2001a), exposure-based health assessments are used, in conjunction with evaluation of community-specific health outcome data, consideration of community health concerns, and biomedical judgement, to assess the degree of public health hazard presented by mixtures of hazardous substances released into a community.

Neurotoxicity is the critical noncancer effect of concern for BTEX mixtures. Neurological impairment forms the basis for 9 of the 13 MRLs for the component chemicals, including 6 of 8 inhalation MRLs, as summarized in Table 2-11. The six neurotoxicity-based inhalation MRLs are for benzene (intermediate MRL), toluene (acute and chronic MRLs), and mixed isomers of xylene (acute, intermediate, and chronic MRLs). The two other inhalation MRLs are based on immunotoxicity (the acute MRL for benzene) and developmental toxicity (the intermediate MRL for ethylbenzene). These MRLs do not imply that there is a low neurotoxic potential for acute exposure to benzene and intermediate exposure to ethylbenzene, but rather that there is insufficient information on sensitive neurological effects at low levels of exposure.

Available exposure-response data on neurological effects for these chemicals and duration categories mainly reflect relatively insensitive endpoints, such as overt symptoms and signs of central nervous system toxicity (ATSDR 1997, 1999b). Although these data clearly show that the nervous system is a target of benzene and ethylbenzene (also see information summarized in Appendices A and C), more studies are needed to identify thresholds for neurotoxicity and to better characterize the relative sensitivity of neurological, immunological, and developmental endpoints. Because neurotoxicity is likely to be as sensitive an effect as immunotoxicity and developmental toxicity for these chemicals as discussed in Section 2.3, it is reasonable to assume that the acute MRL for benzene and the intermediate MRL for ethylbenzene are also protective of neurological effects, indicating that these MRLs can also be used as risk guidance values for neurotoxicity.

Derivations of a chronic MRL for benzene, an intermediate MRL for toluene, and acute and chronic MRLs for ethylbenzene were precluded by insufficient inhalation exposure-response data for neurotoxicity and other health endpoints (ATSDR 1995, 1997, 2000). Although no data were suitable for deriving an intermediate-duration inhalation MRL for toluene, ATSDR (2000) concluded that the neurotoxicity-based chronic MRL would also be protective for intermediate-duration exposures. A neurotoxicity-based guidance value can be estimated for chronic exposure to benzene by applying a duration uncertainty factor of 10 to the intermediate MRL for benzene. A guidance value for chronic exposure to ethylbenzene can be similarly estimated by applying a factor of 10 to the neurotoxicity-based intermediate guidance value for ethylbenzene. The intermediate-duration guidance value for ethylbenzene can additionally be used as a guidance value for acute exposure. Considering the available inhalation MRLs and risk guidance values for benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene discussed above and in the preceding paragraph, all 12 possible values are plausibly based on neurotoxicity as summarized in Table 3-1.

The hazard index method is recommended for assessing the joint neurotoxic hazard of BTEX because this approach is most appropriately applied to mixture components that cause the same effect by the same mechanism of action (ATSDR 2001a). A hazard index is calculated for each exposure scenario of concern by first determining a hazard quotient for each of the mixture components. A hazard quotient is the ratio of an exposure estimate to the appropriate MRL, reference dose (RfD)/reference concentration (RfC), or guidance value. Available inhalation MRLs and guidance values for BTEX components are summarized in Table 3-1. The assessment should proceed if two or more of the individual components

Table 3-1. Inhalation MRLs and Risk Guidance Values for Neurological Effects of BTEX

	Exposure Duration			
Chemical	Acute	Intermediate	Chronic	
Benzene	0.05 ppm	0.004 ppm	0.0004 ppm	
	(guidance value) ^a	(MRL)	(guidance value) ^b	
Toluene	1 ppm	0.08 ppm	0.08 ppm	
	(MRL)	(guidance value) ^c	(MRL)	
Ethylbenzene	1 ppm	1 ppm	0.1 ppm	
	(guidance value) ^d	(guidance value) ^e	(guidance value) ^b	
Xylenes (mixed)	1 ppm	0.7 ppm	0.1 ppm	
	(MRL)	(MRL)	(MRL)	

^aThe immunotoxicity-based acute MRL is used as a guidance value for neurotoxicity.

^bEstimated by dividing the intermediate-duration value by an uncertainty factor of 10 to adjust for chronic exposure.

^cATSDR (2000) concluded that the neurotoxicity-based chronic inhalation MRL for toluene will also be protective for intermediate-duration exposures.

^dThe intermediate-duration guidance value is assumed to be protective for acute exposures.

^eThe developmental toxicity-based intermediate-duration MRL is used as a guidance value for neurotoxicity.

have hazard quotients equaling or exceeding ratios of 0.1 (see Figure 2 in the *Guidance Manual for the Assessment of the Joint Toxic Action of Chemical Mixtures*, ATSDR 2001a). If only one or if none of the components have a hazard quotient that equals or exceeds 0.1, then no further assessment of the joint toxic action is needed because additivity and/or interactions are unlikely to result in a significant health hazard. As exposure levels approach threshold levels for toxic effects, a hazard index approach is likely to give a more complete assessment of health hazards than an approach that only examines hazard quotients for individual components in a mixture.

Under conditions for proceeding with the hazard index approach, the hazard quotients are summed to derive the hazard index for neurological effects as follows:

$$HI_{NEURO} = \frac{E_B}{MRL_B} + \frac{E_T}{MRL_T} + \frac{E_E}{MRL_E} + \frac{E_X}{MRL_X}$$

where *HI* is the hazard index, *E* represents the exposure estimates for the individual components, MRL represents the appropriate minimal risk level or guidance value for the components, and B, T, E, and X represent benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene. A different hazard index is derived for each duration of exposure (acute, intermediate, and chronic) and exposure route of concern. The calculated indexes will provide indicators of the hazard for neurotoxicity from exposure to the BTEX mixture. Preliminary evidence that exposure to the mixture may constitute a hazard for neurological impairment is provided if the hazard index for a particular exposure scenario exceeds one. As the value of the hazard index increases above one, there is increased concern for the possibility of a health hazard as well as the need for further evaluation using methods described by ATSDR (1992).

The addition of hazard quotients for a particular exposure scenario assumes that the mixture components additively act on a common toxicity target by a common mechanism or mode of action, and that less-than-additive (e.g., antagonistic interactions) or greater-than-additive (e.g., synergism or potentiation) interactions do not occur among the components of the mixture. A primary objective of this profile was to assess available information on modes of joint toxic action of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes. As discussed in Section 2.3, information from PBPK modeling studies of BTEX and ternary (toluene/ethylbenzene/xylene) and quinary (DBTEX) mixtures of its components, supported by data on neurotoxic interactions in binary component mixtures, can be used to evaluate the possible influence of component interactions in the overall neurotoxicity of BTEX. The PBPK studies are particularly relevant because they provide information on exposure levels of the mixture of concern and corresponding

predicted blood concentrations of the parent compounds after possible metabolic interactions (i.e., net blood levels of the form of the chemicals expected to act on target neuronal membranes).

Based on the results of PBPK model simulations and experimental exposures with BTEX in rats and the ternary and quinary component mixtures in humans and rats (Haddad et al. 1999a, 1999b, 2000, 2001; Tardif et al. 1997), it was concluded that inhalation exposure to mixtures of approximately 20 ppm each of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene is unlikely to result in biologically significant increases in blood levels of these chemicals in humans compared to individual chemical exposure. Although the interactions threshold could be better defined for benzene and the other mixture components by using the human PBPK model for DBTEX (Haddad et al. 2001) to conduct simulations of BTEX (i.e., by using it as a human BTEX model), the available predictions clearly indicate that metabolic interactions are probably negligible at ≤20 ppm of each component, which implies that environmental exposures to BTEX are well below the threshold for interactions. Competitive metabolic inhibition is the most plausible mechanism of interaction among the BTEX components based on the PBPK studies as well as in vitro and in vivo metabolism and toxicity studies for some of the binary component mixtures, as discussed in Section 2.3. Therefore, due to the apparent lack of competitive metabolic interactions in BTEX mixtures below approximately 20 ppm of each component, it is plausible that joint neurotoxic actions among the chemicals will be additive at environmental levels of exposure. Exposure to higher concentrations of BTEX components (i.e., above the threshold for metabolic inhibition) would be expected to lead to greater than additive increases in blood levels of parent compounds and, consequently, increased concern for neurotoxicity. However, as discussed in Section 2.3, it is unclear whether the PBPK model descriptions are adequate for predicting interactions from inhalation of BTEX mixtures above approximately 200 ppm of each component, or if they are appropriate for oral exposures. Studies that directly examined the joint toxic action of BTEX chemicals on the nervous system are essentially limited to a few human and animal inhalation studies of some binary mixtures of components, particularly benzene/toluene, toluene/xylene, and ethylbenzene/xylene (Dudek et al. 1990; Frantik and Vodickova 1995; Frantik et al. 1988; Korsak et al. 1988, 1992; Toftgard and Nilsen 1981, 1982). As discussed in Section 2.3, the neurotoxicity studies of the binary mixtures provide no data that conflict with the predictions of the PBPK studies (i.e., that joint action is expected to be additive at BTEX concentrations below approximately 20 ppm of each component). In summary, based on evidence from PBPK and neurotoxicity studies supporting the plausibility of additive joint action at the shared target of toxicity at relatively low levels of exposure, the hazard index approach is recommended for assessing possible neurotoxic health hazards from environmental exposures to BTEX. This is a conservative approach for assessing BTEX due to the protective nature of the MRLs and guidance values on which it is based, the

data indicating that greater-than-additive interactions are unlikely at component doses that would not otherwise be overtly toxic, and because the neurotoxicity of the mixture would be decreased, not increased, if interactions were less than additive at low levels of exposure.

Hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity are additional concerns for exposure to BTEX based on strong evidence that benzene induces these health effects in humans and that ethylbenzene is carcinogenic in animals. It is well established that long-term exposure to benzene can cause damage to the human hematopoietic system, resulting in effects that include aplastic anemia with subsequent development of leukemia, through the action of its metabolites (see Appendix A). Reactive metabolites also appear to be involved in the induction of kidney, liver, testicular, and other tumors in rats and mice exposed to ethylbenzene (see Appendix C). The carcinogenic potential of benzene is recognized by its consensus classification as a human carcinogen by NTP (2001), EPA (IRIS 2001), and IARC (1987). IARC (2000) has classified ethylbenzene as possibly carcinogenic to humans on the basis of the positive animal data. Ethylbenzene was not determined to be a known or anticipated human carcinogen by NTP (2001) or classifiable as to human carcinogenicity by EPA (IRIS 2001), but these assessments predate the animal data used as the basis of the IARC classification and precluded the derivation of a cancer risk value by EPA. The lack of evidence for the carcinogenicity of the other BTEX chemicals is reflected by the classification of toluene and xylenes as not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity by EPA (IRIS 2001) and IARC (1999a, 1999b).

The evaluation of possible hematotoxic and carcinogenic hazards from exposure to BTEX is best approached by evaluating benzene as a single component. PBPK model predictions indicate that toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene are unlikely to influence the hematotoxicity or carcinogenicity of benzene, and benzene, toluene, and xylene are unlikely to affect the carcinogenicity of ethylbenzene, at environmental levels of exposure. Exposure to relatively high concentrations of BTEX (above approximately 20 ppm of each component) would be expected to result in reduced blood levels of benzene and ethylbenzene metabolites (compared to exposure to benzene and ethylbenzene alone) due to competitive metabolic interactions (Haddad et al. 1999a, 1999b, 2001; Tardif et al. 1997), thereby decreasing the potential for hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity. Binary interaction studies in animals similarly indicate that toluene can inhibit the hematological effects of benzene, although data are insufficient to conclude that the protective interaction would occur at low doses (see Section 2.2.3). Considering the causal relationship between the noncancer hematological effects of benzene and subsequent manifestation of leukemia, as well as the lack of a cancer risk value for ethylbenzene, it is recommended that an overall assessment of the hematotoxic and carcinogenic hazards of BTEX be conservatively based on benzene cancer risk as

discussed in Section 2.3. Benzene, therefore, should be evaluated as a single component using ATSDR (1992) public health assessment guidance, which indicates that exposure will be a concern if the estimated risk of cancer equals or exceeds 1×10^{-6} . Increased lifetime cancer risks for inhalation exposure are estimated by multiplying the unit risk for benzene by the estimated exposure (air concentration).

4. Conclusions

No studies are available that directly characterize health hazards and dose-response relationships for exposures to whole mixtures of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes. All four components can produce neurological impairment, and benzene can additionally cause hematological effects which may ultimately lead to aplastic anemia and development of acute myelogenous leukemia. Concern for the carcinogenicity of BTEX is also raised by evidence that ethylbenzene is carcinogenic. No studies were located that directly examined joint toxic actions of mixtures of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes on the nervous system, but additive joint action is plausible. Results of PBPK model simulations and experimental exposures with BTEX and ternary and quinary mixtures of its components (Haddad et al. 1999a, 1999b, 2000, 2001; Tardif et al. 1997) strongly suggest that joint neurotoxic action is expected to be additive at BTEX concentrations below approximately 20 ppm of each component. Neurotoxicity interaction studies of binary component mixtures support the plausibility of additive joint action at environmental levels of BTEX exposure. It is unclear whether the PBPK models are adequate for characterizing interactions from inhalation of BTEX mixtures above approximately 200 ppm of each component, or if the results are applicable to oral exposures. A component-based hazard index approach that assumes additive joint action and uses ATSDR MRLs based on neurological impairment is recommended for exposure-based assessments of possible neurotoxic health hazards from mixtures of BTEX. The possible hematotoxic and leukemogenic hazards of BTEX exposures should be evaluated on a benzene-specific basis because the other mixture components do not induce these effects. Considering the causal relationship between the noncancer hematological effects of benzene and development of leukemia, as well as lack of a cancer risk value for ethylbenzene, it is recommended that the inhalation cancer unit risk value for benzene be used to assess the benzene/ethylbenzene-related hematological/carcinogenic hazards from exposures to BTEX. Exposure to relatively high concentrations of BTEX (above approximately 20 ppm of each chemical) is expected to increase the potential for neurotoxicity and decrease the potential for hematotoxicity/carcinogenicity due to competitive metabolic interactions among the mixture components.

5. List of References

- *ACGIH. 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.
- *Andersson K, Fuxe K, Nilsen OG, et al. 1981. Production of discrete changes in dopamine and noradrenaline levels and turnover in various parts of the rat brain following exposure to xylene, *ortho-, meta-*, and *para-*xylene, and methylbenzene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 60:535-548.
- *Andrews LS, Lee EW, Wither CM, et al. 1977. Effects of toluene on the metabolism, disposition and hemopoietic toxicity of [³H]benzene. Biochem Pharmacol 26:293-300.

Angerer J, Lehnert G. 1979. Occupational chronic exposure to organic solvents. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 43:145-150.

Angerer J, Wulf H. 1985. Occupational chronic exposure to organic solvents. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 56:307-321.

Askergren A. 1981. Studies on kidney function in subjects exposed to organic solvents. Acta Med Scand 210:103-106.

Astrand I, Engstrom J, Ovrum P. 1978. Exposure of xylene and methylbenzene. I. Uptake, distribution and elimination in man. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:185-194.

- *ATSDR. 1992. Public health assessment guidance manual. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 1995. Toxicological profile for xylenes. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 1997. Toxicological profile for benzene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 1999a. Toxicological profile for total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs). Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 1999b. Toxicological profile for ethylbenzene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 2000. Toxicological profile for toluene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- *ATSDR. 2001a. Draft guidance manual for the assessment of joint toxic action of chemical mixtures: August, 1999. Atlanta, GA: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

_

^{*}Cited in text

*ATSDR. 2001b. Draft guidance for the preparation of an interaction profile: August, 1999. Atlanta, GA: Agency for toxic substances and disease registry, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Au WW, Ward JB, Ramanujam VMS, et al. 1988. Genotoxic effects of a sub-acute low-level inhalation exposure to a mixture of carcinogenic chemicals. Mutat Res 203:103-115.

*Balster RL. 1998. Neural basis of inhalant abuse. Drug Alcohol Depend 51:207-214.

Bond JA, Medinsky MA. 1995. Health risk assessment of chemical mixtures from a research perspective. Toxicol Lett 82/83:521-525.

Bond JA, Leavens TL, Seaton MJ, et al. 1997. Predicting the toxicity of chemical mixtures based on knowledge of individual components. CIIT Act 17(12):1-12.

Bond JA, Leavens TL, Seaton MJ, et al. 1998. Predicting the toxicity of chemical mixtures. Chemtech July:16-23.

*Brondeau MT, Ducos P, Gaudin R, et al. 1992. Evaluation of the interaction of benzene and toluene on the urinary excretion of *t,t*-muconic acid in rats. Toxicol Lett 61:311-316.

Brown-Woodman PD, Webster WS, Huq F, et al. 1992. Assessment of interactive effects of the aromatic hydrocarbons toluene, xylene and benzene on rat embryonic development *in vitro*. Teratology 45(3):326.

*Brown-Woodman PDC, Webster WS, Picker K, et al. 1994. *In vitro* assessment of individual and interactive effects of aromatic hydrocarbons on embryonic development of the rat. Reprod Toxicol 8:121-135.

Caprino L, Togna GI. 1998. Potential health effects of gasoline and its constituents: A review of current literature (1990-1997) on toxicological data. Environ Health Perspect 106:115-125.

Chapman DE, Moore TJ, Michener SR, et al. 1990. Metabolism and covalent binding of 14 ^C toluene by human and rat liver microsomal fractions and liver slices. Drug Metab Dispos 18:929-936.

Chen C-Y, Chiou Y-S. 1995. Toxicity of binary mixtures of organic chemicals. Environ Toxicol Water Oual 10:97-106.

Chen JD, Wang JD, Jang JP, et al. 1991. Exposure to mixtures of solvents among paint workers and biochemical alterations of liver function. Br J Ind Med 48:696-701.

Chen JD, Wang JD, Tsai SY, et al. 1997. Effects of occupational and nonoccupational factors on liver function tests in workers exposed to solvent mixtures. Arch Environ Health 52(4):270-274.

Chen Z, Liu SJ, Cai SX, et al. 1994. Exposure of workers to a mixture of toluene and xylenes. II. Effects. Occup Environ Med 51:47-49.

*Cruz SL, Mirshahi T, Thomas B, et al. 1998. Effects of the abused solvent toluene on recombinant N-methyl-*D*-aspartate and non-N-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptors expressed in *Xenopus oocytes*. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 286(1):334-340.

Dean BJ. 1985. Recent findings on the genetic toxicology of benzene, toluene, xylenes and phenols. Mutat Res 154:153-181.

Dobrokhotov VB, Yenikeyev MI. 1977. The mutagenic action of benzene, toluene in a mixture of these hydrocarbons in a chronic experiment. Gig Sanit 2(1):32-34.

*Dudek B, Gralewicz K, Jakuboski M, et al. 1990. Neurobehavioral effects of experimental exposure to toluene, xylene and their mixture. Pol J Occup Med 3(1):109-116.

Eastmond DA, Smith MT, Irons RD. 1987. An interaction of benzene metabolites reproduces the myelotoxicity observed with benzene exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 91:85-95.

El-Masri H, Constan AA, Ramsdell HS, et al. 1996a. Physiologically based pharmacodynamic modeling of an interaction threshold between trichloroethylene and 1,1-dichloroethylene in Fischer 344 rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 141:124-132.

El-Masri H, Tessari JD, Yang RSH. 1996b. Exploration of an interaction threshold for the joint toxicity of trichloroethylene and 1,1-dichloroethylene: utilization of a PBPK model. Arch Toxicol 70:527-539.

*Elovaara E, Engström K, Vaino H. 1982. Unaltered metabolism of m-xylene in the presence of methylbenzene. In: Laitinen M, Hanninen O, eds. Cytochrome P 450 biochemistry, biophysics, and environmental implications. New York: Elsavier Biomedical Press, 765-768.

*Elovaara E, Ingstrom K, Vainio H. 1984. Metabolism and disposition of simultaneously inhaled *m*-xylene and methylbenzene in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 75:466-478.

*Engelke M, Tähti H, Vaalavirta L. 1996. Perturbation of artificial and biological membranes by organic compounds of aliphatic, alicyclic and aromatic structure. Toxicol in Vitro 10:111-115.

Engstrom J, Bjurstrom R. 1978. Exposure to xylene and methylbenzene. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:195-203.

*Engström K, Riihimäki V, Laine A. 1984. Urinary disposition of methylbenzene and —xylene in man following separate and combined exposure. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 54:355-363.

Farris GM, Wong VA, Wong BA, et al. 1996. Benzene-induced micronuclei in erythrocytes: An inhalation concentration-response study in B6C3F1 mice. Mutagenesis 11(5):455-462.

*Franks NP, Lieb WR. 1985. Mapping of general anaesthetic target sites provides a molecular basis for cutoff effects. Nature 316:349-351.

*Franks NP, Lieb WR. 1987. Anaesthetics on the mind. Nature 328:113-114.

*Frantik E, Vodickova L. 1995. Combined effects of binary solvent mixtures. Cent Eur J Occup Environ Med 1(1):31-37.

*Frantík E, Horváth M, Vodicková L. 1988. [Effects of solvent mixtures on behaviour and seizure characteristics at the utmost additive]. Act Nerv Super (Praha) 30:260-264. (Russian).

Freundt KJ, Schneider J-C. 1986. Drastic increase of the m-xylene or toluene concentrations in blood of rats after combined inhalation with acetone. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 332(Suppl):104.

*Gad-El-Karim MM, Harper BL, Legator MS. 1984. Modifications in the myeloclastogenic effect of benzene in mice with toluene, phenobarbital, 3-methylcholanthrene, Aroclor 1254 and SKF-525A. Mutat Res 135:225-243.

Gerner-Smidt P, Friedrich U. 1978. The mutagenic effect of benzene, toluene, and xylene studied by the SCE technique. Mutat Res 58:313-316.

Gradiski D, Bonnet P, Duprat P, et al. 1981. Etude toxicologique chronique par inhalation chez le rat de l'association benzene-toluene. Toxicol Eur Res 3:201-206.

Gromadzinska J, Wasowicz W, Skłodowska M, et al. 1996. The influence of atmospheric chromium on selenium content and glutathione peroxidase activity in blood of tannery workers. Environ Health Perspect 104(12):1312-1316.

*Gut I, Kopecky J, Nerudova J, et al. 1980. Metabolic and toxic interactions of benzene and acrylonitrile with organic solvents. In: Gut I, Microslav C, Plaa G, eds. Ind Environ Xenobiotics. Prague, Czechoslovakia. Proc Int Conf, 255-262.

Haddad S, Krishnan K. 1998. Physiological modeling of toxicokinetic interactions: Implications for mixture risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 106(6):1377-1384.

*Haddad S, Béliveau M, Tardif R, et al. 2001. A PBPK modeling-based approach to account for interactions in the health risk assessment of chemical mixtures. Toxicol Sci 63:125-131.

*Haddad S, Charest-Tardif G, Tardif R, et al. 2000. Validation of a physiological modeling framework for simulating the toxicokinetics of chemicals in mixtures. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 167:199-209.

*Haddad S, Tardif R, Charest-Tardif G, et al. 1999a. Physiological modeling of the toxicokinetic interactions in a quaternary mixture of aromatic hydrocarbons. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 161:249-257.

*Haddad S, Tardif R, Viau C, et al. 1999b. A modeling approach to account for toxicokinetic interactions in the calculation of biological hazard index for chemical mixtures. Toxicol Lett 108:303-308.

Haglund U, Lundberg I, Zech L. 1980. Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Swedish paint industry workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 6:291-298.

Hansen H, De Rosa CT, Pohl H, et al. 1998. Public health challenges posed by chemical mixtures. Environ Health Perspect 106(Suppl. 6):1271-1280.

Hristeva-Mirtcheva V. 1998. Changes in the peripheral blood of workers with occupational exposure to aromatic hydrocarbons. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 71(Suppl):S81-S83.

*Hsieh GC, Parker RDR, Sharma R, et al. 1990a. Subclinical effects of groundwater contaminants. III. Effects of repeated oral exposure to combinations of benzene and toluene on immunologic responses in mice. Arch Toxicol 64:320-328.

*Hsieh GC, Sharma RP, Parker RDR. 1990b. Subclinical effects of groundwater contaminants. IV. Effects of repeated oral exposure to combinations of benzene and toluene on regional brain monoamine metabolism in mice. Arch Toxicol 64:669-676.

*Huang MY, Jin C, Liu YT, et al. 1994. Exposure of workers to a mixture of toluene and xylenes. I. Metabolism. Occup Environ Med 51:42-46.

*IARC. 1987. Benzene Group 1: A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (*sufficient*). In: IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: An updating of *IARC Monographs* Volumes 1 to 42. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer.

*IARC. 1999a. Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Toluene. In: Volume 71 Part Two. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine, and hydrogen peroxide. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, 829-864.

*IARC. 1999b. Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Xylenes. In: Volume 71 Part Three. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine, and hydrogen peroxide. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, 1189-1208.

*IARC. 2000. Some industrial chemicals. Ethylbenzene. Volume 77. In: IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 227-266.

Ikeda M. 1988. Multiple exposure to chemicals. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 8:414-421.

Ikeda M. 1995. Exposure to complex mixtures: Implications for biological monitoring. Toxicol Lett 77:85-91.

*Ikeda M, Ohtsuji H, Imamura T. 1972. *In vivo* suppression of benzene and styrene oxidation by coadministered toluene in rats and effects of phenobarbital. Xenobiotica 2(2):101-106.

Inoue O, Seiji K, Kawai T, et al. 1993. Excretion of methylhippuric acids in urine of workers exposed to a xylene mixture: Comparison among three xylene isomers and toluene. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:533-539.

*Inoue O, Seiji K, Nakatsuka H, et al. 1989a. Excretion of 1,2,4-benzenetriol in the urine of workers exposed to benzene. Br J Ind Med 46:559-565.

Inoue O, Seiji K, Nakatsuka H, et al. 1989b. Urinary t,t-muconic acid as an indicator of exposure to benzene. Br J Ind Med 46:122-127.

*Inoue O, Seiji K, Watanabe T, et al. 1988. Mutual metabolic suppression between benzene and toluene in man. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 60:15-20.

*IRIS. 2001. Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylenes. Integrated Risk Information System, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://:www.epa.gov/iris/subst/index.html.

*Jakubowski M, Kostrzewski P. 1989. [Excretion of methylbenzoic acid in urine as a result of single and combined exposure to m-xylene.] Pol J Occup Med 2(3):238-247. (Polish)

Johnson A-C, Nylen PR. 1995. Effects of industrial solvents on hearing. Occup Med State Art Rev 10(3):623-640.

Kawai T, Mizunuma K, Yasugi T, et al. 1991. Urinary methylhippuric acid isomer levels after occupational exposure to a xylene mixture. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 63:69-75.

Kawai T, Yasugi T, Mizunuma K, et al. 1992. Comparative evaluation of urinalysis and blood analysis as means of detecting exposure to organic solvents at low concentrations. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:223-234.

Kononen DW, Gorski RA. 1997. A method for evaluating the toxicity of industrial solvent mixtures. Environ Toxicol Chem 16(5):968-976.

Korn M, GfrÖrer W, Herz R, et al. 1992. Stereometabolism of ethylbenzene in man: Gas chromatographic determination of urinary excreted mandelic aid enentiomers and phenylglyoxylic acid and their relation to the height of occupational exposure. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:75-78.

*Korsak Z, Sokal J, Dedyk A, et al. 1988. Toxic effects of combined exposure to toluene and xylene in animals. I. Acute inhalation study. Pol J Occup Med 1(1):45-50.

*Korsak Z, Sokal JA, Górny R. 1992. Toxic effects of combined exposure to toluene and m-xylene in animals. III. Subchronic inhalation study. Pol J Occup Med Environ Health 5(1):27-33.

Korsak Z, Sokal JA, Swiercz R. 1991. The toxic effects of combined exposure to toluene and m-xylene in animals. II. Blood toluene and m-xylene during single and combined exposure in rats. Pol J Occup Med Environ Health 4(4):377-382.

Krishnan K, Pelekis M. 1995. Hematotoxic interactions: Occurrence, mechanisms and predictability. Toxicology 105:355-364.

Krishnan K, Andersen ME, Clewell HJ III, et al. 1994. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of chemical mixtures. In: Yang RSH, ed. Toxicology of chemical mixtures: Case studies, mechanisms, and novel approaches. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 399-437.

Kumagai S, Matsunaga I. 1992. Fluctuations of occupational exposure indices to mixtures. Ann Occup Hyg 36(2):131-143.

Kumagai S, Matsunaga I. 1995a. Changes in the distribution of short-term exposure concentration with different averaging times. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 56(1):24-31.

Kumagai S, Matsunaga I. 1995b. Models describing variation of short-term exposure levels of two chemicals. Ann Occup Hyg 39(1):7-20.

*Lange A, Smolik R, Zatonki W, et al. 1973. Serum immunoglobulin levels in workers exposed to benzene, toluene and xylene. Int Arch Arbeitsmed 31:37-44.

Lapare S, Tardif R, Brodeur J. 1993. Effect of various exposure scenarios on the biological monitoring of organic solvents in alveolar air. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:569-580.

Lemasters GK, Lockey JE, Olsen DM, et al. 1999. Comparison of internal dose measures of solvents in breath, blood, and urine and genotoxic changes in aircraft maintenance personnel. Drug Chem Toxicol 22(1):181-200.

Liu Y, Fechter LD. 1997. Toluene disrupts outer hair cell morphometry and intracellular calcium homeostasis in cochlear cells of guinea pigs. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 142:270-277.

Maizlish NA, Langolf GD, Whitehead LW, et al. 1985. Behavioural evaluation of workers exposed to mixtures of organic solvents. Br J Ind Med 42:579-590.

Marks TA, Ledoux TA. 1982. Teratogenicity of a commercial xylene mixture in the mouse. J Toxicol Environ Health 9:97-105.

Medinsky MA, Schlosser PM, Bond JA. 1994. Critical issues in benzene toxicity and metabolism: The effect of interactions with other organic chemicals on risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 102(9):119-124.

*Mergler D, Beauvais B. 1992. Olfactory threshold shift following controlled 7-hour exposure to toluene and/or xylene. Neurotoxicology 13:211-216.

*Mihic SJ, McQuilkin SJ, Eger II EI, et al. 1994. Potentiation of μ -amonibutyric acid type a receptor-mediated chloride currents by novel halogenated compounds correlates with their abilities to induce general anesthesia. Mol Pharmacol 46:851-857.

Mortensen B, Osvoll PO, Wolbeak T, et al. 1998. *In vitro* screening for metabolic interactions among frequently occurring binary mixtures of volatile organic chemicals in Norwegian occupational atmosphere. Pharmacol Toxicol 83:49-56.

Mumtaz MM, Sipes IG, Clewell HJ, et al. 1993. Risk assessment of chemical mixtures: Biological and toxicologic issues. Fundam Appl Toxicol 21:258-269.

Nakajima T, Sato A. 1974. Metabolic antagonism among benzene, toluene and *m*-xylene *in vitro*. Jpn J Ind Health 21:546-547.

Nakajima T, Wang RS. 1994. Induction of cytochrome P450 by toluene. Int J Biochem 12:1333-1340.

Nakajima T, Wang RS, Elovaara E, et al. 1992. A comparative study on the contribution of cytochrome P450 isozymes to metabolism of benzene, toluene and trichloroethylene in rat liver. Biochem Pharmacol 43(2):251-257.

Nakajima T, Wang RS, Elovaara E, et al. 1993. Cytochrome P450-related differences between rats and mice in the metabolism of benzene, toluene and trichloroethylene in liver microsomes. Biochem Pharmacol 45(5):1079-1085.

Neghab M, Stacey NH. 1997. *In vitro* interference with hepatocellular uptake of bile acids by xylene. Toxicology 120:1-10.

*NTP. 2001. Ninth report on carcinogens. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. http://ehis.niehs.nih.gov/roc/toc9.html. June 2001.

Nylen P. 1996. Differing non-additive alterations in different parts of the nervous system of the rat. Food Chem Toxicol 34:1121-1123.

Ogata M, Fujii T. 1979. Urinary excretion of hippuric acid and *m*-Methylhippuric acid administration of toluene and *m*-xylene mixture to rats. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 43:45-51.

Ogata M, Tomokuni K, Takatsuka Y. 1970. Urinary excretion of hippuric acid and — or *p*-methylhippuric acid in the urine of persons exposed to vapours of toluene and — or *p*-xylene as a test of exposure. Br J Ind Med 27:43-50.

*Olson BA, Gamberale F, Iregren A. 1985. Coexposure to toluene and p-xylene in man: Central nervous functions. Br J Ind Med 42:117-122.

Pelekis M, Krishnan K. 1997. Assessing the relevance of rodent data on chemical interactions for health risk assessment purposes: A case study with dichloromethane-toluene mixture. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 25:79-86.

*Plappert U, Barthel E, Seidel HJ. 1994. Reduction of benzene toxicity by toluene. Environ Mol Mutagen 24:283-292.

Prah JD, Case MW, Goldstein GM. 1998. 1998 equivalence of sensory responses to single and mixed volatile organic compounds at equimolar concentrations. Environ Health Perspect 106(11):739-744.

*Purcell KJ, Cason GH, Gargas ML, et al. 1990. *In vivo* metabolic interactions of benzene and toluene. Toxicol Lett 52:141-152.

Rebert CS, Schwartz RW, Svendsgaard DJ, et al. 1995. Combined effects of aspired solvents on the rat's auditory system. Toxicology 105:345-354.

*Richer C-L, Chakrabarti S, Senecal-Quevillon M, et al. 1993. Cytogenetic effects of low-level exposure to toluene, xylene, and their mixture on human blood lymphocytes. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:581-585.

Romer KG, Federsel RJ, Freundt KF. 1986. Rise of inhaled toluene, ethyl benzene, m-xylene, or mesitylene in rat blood after treatment with ethanol. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 37:874-876.

*Rydzynski K, Korsak Z, Jedlínska U, et al. 1992. The toxic effects of combined exposure to toluene and m-xylene in animals. IV. Liver ultrastructure after subchronic inhalatory exposure. Pol J Occup Med Environ Health 5(1):35-42.

Sato A. 1993. Confounding factors in biological monitoring of exposure to organic solvents. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 65:S61-S67.

*Sato A, Nakajima T. 1979. Dose-dependent metabolic interaction between benzene and toluene *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 48:249-256.

Simmons JE. 1994. Nephrotoxicity resulting from multiple chemical exposures and chemical interactions. In: Yang RSH, ed. Toxicology of chemical mixtures: Case studies, mechanisms, and novel approaches. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, Inc, 335-360.

Simmons JE. 1996. Application of physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling to combination toxicology. Food Chem Toxicol 34:1067-1073.

Simmons JE, Yang RSH, Berman E. 1995. Evaluation of the nephrotoxicity of complex mixtures containing organics and metals: Advantages and disadvantages of the use of real-world complex mixtures. Environ Health Perspect 103:67-71.

Snyder R. 1984. The benzene problem in historical perspective. Fundam Appl Toxicol 4:692-699.

Snyder R. 1994. A perspective on benzene leukemogenesis. Crit Rev Toxicol 24(3):177-209.

Snyder R, Kocsis JJ. 1975. Current concepts of chronic benzene toxicity. CRC Crit Rev Toxicol 3:265-288.

Snyder R, Dimitriadis E, Guy R, et al. 1989. Studies on the mechanism of benzene toxicity. Environ Health Perspect 82:31-35.

Snyder R, Longacre SL, Sammett D, et al. 1983. Relationship between the toxicity and metabolism of benzene. In: Mehlman MA, ed. Carcinogenicity and toxicity of benzene. Princeton: Princeton Scientific Publishers Inc., 23-36.

Snyder R, Witz G, Goldstein BD. 1993. The toxicology of benzene. Environ Health Perspect 100:293-306.

Speck B, Moeschlin S. 1968. The effect of toluene, xylenes, chloramphenicol, and thioracil on bone marrow. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 98:1684-1686.

Susheela AK, Bhatnagar M. 1993. Fluoride toxicity: A biochemical and scanning electron microscopic study of enamel surface of rabbit teeth. Arch Toxicol 67:573-579.

*Tardif R, Charest-Tardif G, Brodeur J. 1996. Comparison of the influence of binary mixtures versus a ternary mixture of inhaled aromatic hydrocarbons on their blood kinetics in the rat. Arch Toxicol 70:405-413.

*Tardif R, Charest-Tarif G, Brodeur J, et al. 1997. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of a ternary mixture of alkyl benzenes in rats and humans. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 144:120-134.

*Tardif R, Laparé S, Charest-Tardif G, et al. 1995. Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modeling of a mixture of toluene and xylene in humans. Risk Anal 15(3):335-342.

*Tardif R, Lapare S, Krishnan K, et al. 1993a. A descriptive and mechanistic study of the interaction between toluene and xylene in humans. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 65:S135-S137.

*Tardif R, Lapare S, Krishnan K, et al. 1993b. Physiologically based modeling of the toxicokinetic interaction between toluene and m-xylene in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 120:266-273.

*Tardif R, Lapare S, Plaa GL, et al. 1991. Effect of simultaneous exposure to toluene and xylene on their respective biological exposure indices in humans. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 63:279-284.

*Tardif R, Plaa GL, Brodeur J. 1992. Influence of various mixtures of inhaled toluene and xylene on the biological monitoring of exposure to these solvents in rats. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 70:385-393.

Tassaneeyakul W, Birkett DJ, Edwards JW, et al. 1996. Human cytochrome P450 isoform specificity in the regioselective metabolism of toluene and o-, and p-xylene. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 276(1):101-108.

*Toftgard R, Nilsen OG. 1981. Induction of cytochrome P-450 in rat liver after inhalation of aromatic organic solvents. In: Industrial and environmental xenobiotics: Metabolism and pharmacokinetics of organic chemicals and metals: proceedings of an international conference held in Prague, Czechoslovakia, 27-30 May 1980. New York: Springer-Verlag, 307-317.

*Toftgard R, Nilsen OG. 1982. Effects of xylene and xylene isomers on cytochrome P-450 and in vitro enzymatic activities in rat liver, kidney and lung. Toxicology 23:197-212.

Travis CC, Fox MT, Simmons M, et al. 1992. Co-exposure to gasoline vapor decreases benzene metabolism in Fischer-344 rats. Toxicol Lett 62:231-240.

Tsuruta H. 1996. Skin absorption of solvent mixtures: Effect of vehicles on skin absorption of toluene. Ind Health 34:369-378.

*Tunek A, Hosgstedt B, Olofsson T. 1982. Mechanism of benzene toxicity: Effects of benzene and benzene metabolites on bone marrow cellularity, number of granulopoietic stem cells and frequency of micronuclei in mice. Chem Biol Interact 39:129-138.

*Tunek A, Olofsson T, Berlin M. 1981. Toxic effects of benzene and benzene metabolites on granulopoietic stem cells and bone marrow cellularity in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 59:149-156.

*Vodicková L, Frantík E, Vodicková A. 1995. [Neurotropic effects and blood levels of solvents at combined exposures: binary mixtures of toluene, o-xylene and acetone in rats and mice] Cent Eur J Public Health 3(2):57-64.

*von Euler G. 1994. Toluene and dopaminergic transmission. In: Isaacson RL, Jensen KF, eds. The vulnerable brain and environmental risks. Volume 3: Toxins in air and water. New York: Plenum Press, 301-321.

Walden T, Spence L. 1997. Risk-based BTEX screening criteria for a groundwater irrigation scenario. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 3(4):699-722.

*Wallen M, Holm S, Nordqvist MB. 1985. Coexposure to toluene and p-xylene in man: Uptake and elimination. Br J Ind Med 42:111-116.

Wallen M, Naslund PH, Nordqvist MB. 1984. The effects of ethanol on the kinetics of toluene in man. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 76:414-419.

Wang RS, Nakajima T, Tsuruta H, et al. 1996. Effect of exposure to four organic solvents on hepatic cytochrome P450 isozymes in rat. Chem Biol Interact 99:239-252.

Xiao G, Pan C, Cai Y, et al. 1999. Effect of benzene, toluene, xylene on the semen quality of exposed workers. Chin Med J 112(8):709-712.

*Yin S, Li G, Hu Y, et al. 1987. Symptoms and signs of workers exposed to benzene, toluene or the combination. Ind Health 25:113-130.

Yokoyama K, Araki S, Murata K, et al. 1997. Postural sway frequency analysis in workers exposed to *n*-hexane, xylene, and toluene: Assessment of subclinical cerebellar dysfunction. Environ Res 74:110-115.

Appendix A: Background Information for Benzene

This appendix summarizes information on the toxicokinetics, health effects, mechanisms of action, and health guidelines for benzene. The summaries are mainly based on information presented in the ATSDR (1997) toxicological profile for benzene and therefore do not represent reviews of the primary literature. The chemical structure for benzene is included in Appendix E.

A.1 Toxicokinetics

Benzene is rapidly but incompletely absorbed by humans and animals following inhalation exposure (ATSDR 1997). Results of several studies indicate that average respiratory uptake is approximately 50% in humans. For example, in a study of 23 subjects who inhaled 47–110 ppm benzene for 2–3 hours, absorption was 70–80% during the first 5 minutes of exposure, but subsequently decreased to about 50% (range, 20–60%) by 1 hour (Srbova et al. 1950). Respiratory uptake was approximately 47% in six subjects exposed to 52–62 ppm benzene for 4 hours (Nomiyama and Nomiyama 1974), and 52 and 48% in three subjects exposed to 1.6 or 9.4 ppm, respectively, for 4 hours (Pekari et al. 1992). In rodents, the extent of uptake increased linearly with concentration for exposures up to approximately 200 ppm (ATSDR 1997). At concentrations >200 ppm, zero-order kinetics were observed (i.e., uptake became nonlinear, indicating saturation of the metabolic capacity). The percentage of inhaled benzene that was absorbed and retained during a 6-hour exposure period decreased from 33 to 15% in rats and from 50 to 10% in mice when the exposure concentration was increased from about 10 to 1,000 ppm (Sabourin et al. 1987). Mice and rats have different absorption characteristics in that the cumulative inhaled dose in mice was greater than that in rats (Eutermoser et al. 1986; Sabourin et al. 1987).

Quantitative oral absorption data are not available for benzene in humans. Oral doses of benzene are extensively absorbed in animals (generally >90%), although benzene was administered in oil in many oral studies to assure predictable solubility and dose concentration control (ATSDR 1997; Cornish and Ryan 1965; Parke and Williams 1953a, 1953b; Sabourin et al. 1987). One of the studies showed that gastrointestinal absorption was >97% in rats and mice when the animals were treated with benzene by gavage at doses 0.5–150 mg/kg (Sabourin et al. 1987). Dermal absorption of benzene is low in humans and animals. Approximately 0.05% of an applied dose (0.0026 mg/cm²) was determined in one human study (Franz 1984), and another estimated a dermal absorption rate of approximately 0.4 mg/cm²/hour under conditions of complete saturation (35–43 cm² of skin was exposed to approximately 0.06 g/cm² of liquid benzene for 1.25–2 hours) (Hanke et al. 1961). Animal studies found that dermal absorption was

<1% following a single direct application of liquid benzene to Rhesus monkeys, minipigs, and hairless mice (Franz 1984; Maibach and Anjo 1981; Susten et al. 1985). Absorbed benzene is widely distributed to tissues, with the relative uptake dependent on the perfusion rate of the tissue by blood, and the total potential uptake dependent on fat content and metabolism (ATSDR 1997; Sato et al. 1975; Tauber 1970).

The metabolism and elimination of benzene appear to be qualitatively similar in humans and animals (ATSDR 1997; Henderson et al. 1989; Sabourin et al. 1988). Benzene is initially metabolized by cytochrome P-450-dependent mixed function oxidases primarily in the liver via several toxification and detoxification (via conjugation) pathways. Several cytochrome P-450 isozymes are involved in the metabolism of benzene, although the predominant form is CYP2E1 (Gut et al. 1993; Nakajima et al. 1993). The first metabolic step is the formation of the epoxide benzene oxide. This is followed by two toxification pathways, one involving ring hydroxylation and the second involving ring opening, resulting in the formation of putative toxic metabolites (ATSDR 1997; Henderson et al. 1989). In the first pathway involving ring hydroxylation, opening of the epoxide ring is followed by aromatization resulting in formation of phenol. Phenol is further converted into hydroquinone, which is oxidized to benzoquinone. The conjugates formed from hydroquinone (hydroquinone glucuronide and hydroquinone sulfate) are markers for this toxification pathway leading to benzoquinone. Phenol can also be metabolized to catechol and trihydroxy benzene. Metabolism of benzene oxide leads to the formation of benzene dihydrodiol. Catechol can also be formed from benzene dihydrodiol via metabolism by cytosolic dehydrogenases (Henderson et al. 1989). The second pathway involving ring-opening leads to the formation of muconic acid, apparently via the precursor muconic dialdehyde.

There are two detoxification pathways. One detoxification pathway leads to the formation of mercapturic acid via glutathione conjugates of benzene oxide, which are subsequently metabolized to prephenyl mercapturic acid and phenyl mercapturic acid and eliminated by biliary excretion (ATSDR 1997; Henderson et al. 1989; Sabourin et al. 1987; Schrenk et al. 1992). The major portion of benzene oxide is nonenzymatically rearranged to phenol. The second detoxification pathway involves the formation of water-soluble urinary metabolites, which are glucuronide or sulfate conjugates of phenol. Further metabolites of phenol and benzene dihydrodiol (e.g., catechol, hydroquinone, and trihydroxy benzene) are excreted as sulfate or glucuronide conjugates and are also considered detoxification products.

Although the metabolism of benzene occurs primarily in the liver, studies in rats and mice indicate that a small amount is metabolized independently of the liver in the bone marrow, the site of characteristic benzene toxicity (Ganousis et al. 1992; Irons et al. 1980). It is believed that biotransformation is essential

for benzene-induced bone marrow damage, but it is unclear whether benzene is activated in the marrow, activated elsewhere and transported to the marrow, or metabolized in the liver and the metabolites activated in the marrow (ATSDR 1997). Benzene has been found to stimulate its own metabolism (Arinc et al. 1991; Gonasun et al. 1973; Saito et al. 1973). Differences in species, routes of exposure, and dosing regimens affect the disposition and metabolic fate of benzene (Sabourin et al. 1987, 1988, 1989a, 1989b, 1992). Benzene metabolism (both total and amounts of individual metabolites) is dose-dependent in all species studies thus far, including humans (ATSDR 1997). At low doses, more of the benzene is converted to putative toxic metabolites than at high doses. At high doses, benzene inhibits phenol metabolism to hydroquinone, apparently through competition for a common site on the CYP2E1 isozyme to which hydroquinone and catechol also bond. The effect that dose and species can have on the metabolism of benzene is illustrated by a study in which rats and mice were administered benzene by gavage at doses of 0.5–150 mg/kg (Sabourin et al. 1987). At doses below 15 mg/kg, >90% of the benzene was metabolized, while at doses above 15 mg/kg, an increasing percentage of the administered benzene was exhaled unmetabolized. Total metabolites per unit body weight were equal in rats and mice at doses up to 50 mg/kg/day. Total metabolites did not increase at higher doses in mice, suggesting saturation of metabolic pathways. Other studies similarly indicate that mice metabolize benzene more efficiently than rats (Medinsky et al. 1989a, 1989b; Travis et al. 1990).

Human and animal data show that exhalation is the main route for elimination of unmetabolized benzene, metabolites are excreted predominantly in the urine, and only a small amount of the absorbed amount is eliminated in feces (ATSDR 1997). Respiratory uptake (the amount of benzene absorbed from the lungs) and respiratory excretion (the amount of absorbed benzene excreted via the lungs) was approximately 47 and 17%, respectively, in six humans exposed to 52–62 ppm benzene for 4 hours (Nomiyama and Nomiyama 1974). Results from a study of 23 humans who inhaled 47–110 ppm benzene for 2–3 hours showed that 16.4–41.6 and 0.07–0.2% of the retained benzene was excreted in the breath (within 5–7 hours) and urine, respectively (Srbova et al. 1950). The major route of excretion following a 6-hour nose-only inhalation exposure of rats and mice to ¹⁴C-benzene appeared to be dependent on the inhaled concentration (Sabourin et al. 1987). At similar exposures to vapor concentrations of 10-1,000 ppm, the mice received 150-200% of the equivalent dose in rats on a per kg body weight basis. At all concentrations, fecal excretion accounted for <3.5 and <9% of the radioactivity in the rats and mice, respectively. At lower exposure concentrations (11–130 ppm), both rats and mice excreted <6% of the radioactivity in the expired air. At the highest exposure concentrations (870 ppm in rats, 990 ppm in mice), both rats and mice exhaled a significant amount of unmetabolized benzene (48 and 14%, respectively) following termination of exposure. The percentage of total excreted radioactivity that was

not exhaled or associated with feces was 47–92% for rats and 80–94% for mice. Approximately 90% of the radioactivity was excreted as urinary metabolites by rats at \leq 260 ppm and by mice at \leq 130 ppm. The total urinary metabolite formation was 5–37% higher in the mice than in the rats at all doses, apparently due to the greater amount of benzene inhaled by mice per kg of body weight. The effect of dose on excretion of radioactivity was also studied in rats and mice following oral administration of 0.5–300 mg/kg single doses of ¹⁴C-benzene (Sabourin et al. 1987). At doses <15 mg/kg, \geq 90% of the administered dose was excreted in the urine of both species. There was a linear relationship for the excretion of urinary metabolites up to 15 mg/kg; above that level, there was an increased amount of radioactivity in the expired air. Mice and rats excreted equal amounts up to 50 mg/kg; above this level, metabolism apparently became saturated in mice. Of a 150 mg/kg dose, 50 and 69% was eliminated in the expired air largely as unmetabolized benzene in rats and mice, respectively.

Four PBPK models have been developed to describe the behavior of benzene in rats, mice, and humans. The Medinsky model addresses species differences in benzene kinetics using rats and mice (Medinsky et al. 1989a, 1989b, 1989c). The Travis model specifically addresses human pharmacokinetics of benzene in comparison to experimental animal data (Travis et al. 1990), whereas the Bois and Paxman model (Bois and Paxman 1992) addresses the effect of exposure rate on benzene metabolism. The Sun model (Sun et al. 1990) addresses the formation of hemoglobin-benzene derived adducts in the blood, as a tool in monitoring benzene exposure.

A.2 Health Effects

The nervous and hematopoietic systems are the main targets of benzene. Acute inhalation or oral exposure to high levels of benzene has caused symptoms and signs of central nervous system toxicity in humans and animals (ATSDR 1997; Carpenter et al. 1944; Cornish and Ryan 1965; Midzenski et al. 1992; Tauber 1970; Thienes and Haley 1972). Effects such as dizziness, vertigo, tremors, narcosis, and cardiac arrhythmias have been observed following both acute nonlethal and lethal exposures. Intermediate-duration inhalation and oral exposures to benzene induced neurological effects in animals that included reduced limb grip strength, behavioral disturbances, and changes in brain levels of monoamine transmitters and acetylcholinesterase (Dempster et al. 1984; Frantik et al. 1994; Hsieh et al. 1988; Li et al. 1992).

Hematotoxicity is the most noted and characteristic systemic effect resulting from intermediate and chronic benzene exposure in humans and animals. All of the major types of blood cells are susceptible

(erythrocytes, leukocytes, and platelets). In the less severe cases of toxicity, specific deficiencies occur in individual types of blood elements. A common clinical finding is cytopenia, which is a decrease in various cellular elements manifested as anemia, leukopenia, or thrombocytopenia in humans (ATSDR 1997). Benzene-associated cytopenias vary and can involve a reduction in one (unicellular cytopenias) to all three (pancytopenia) cellular elements of the blood. Prolonged exposure to benzene can cause severe damage to the bone marrow involving cellular aplasia in humans and animals. This condition, known as aplastic anemia, is characterized by reduction of all cellular elements in the peripheral blood and in bone marrow (ATSDR 1997). Benzene-induced aplastic anemia can progress to AML, which is characterized by the appearance in the peripheral blood of cells morphologically indistinguishable from myeloblasts (Aksoy 1980; Aksoy et al. 1974; Doskin 1971; Rozen et al. 1984). Human studies that provide some estimate of levels of exposure indicate that adverse hematological effects occurred at levels >10 ppm and generally not at levels <1 ppm (ATSDR 1997). Adverse hematological effects begin to appear in animals at benzene concentrations of 10–100 ppm and above. Oral data are essentially limited to findings in intermediate- and chronic-duration animal studies showing that loss of blood elements occurs following exposure to benzene in drinking water or by gavage at doses as low as 8–25 mg/kg/day (ATSDR 1997).

Other health effects of benzene include immunological changes in humans and animals, which appear to be largely related to decreases in circulating leukocytes and the ability of lymphoid tissue to produce the mature lymphocytes necessary to form antibodies (ATSDR 1997). Adequate reproductive and developmental toxicity data on benzene are essentially limited to results of inhalation studies in animals (ATSDR 1997). There is suggestive evidence of benzene-induced testicular effects (e.g., atrophy/ degeneration, decrease in spermatozoa, increase in abnormal sperm forms), particularly in mice following intermediate duration exposure to 300 ppm (ATSDR 1997; Ward et al. 1985; Wolf et al. 1956). Results of developmental toxicity studies indicate that inhalation exposure to high levels of benzene is fetotoxic and maternally toxic in several species as shown by decreased fetal weight and/or minor skeletal variants. Fetotoxic effects in rodents occurred at benzene levels ≥47 ppm (Coate et al. 1984; Green et al. 1978; Kuna and Kapp 1981; Murray et al. 1979; Tatrai et al. 1980a, 1980b; Ungvary and Tatrai 1985), although there was evidence of transient hematopoietic anomalies in fetuses and offspring of mice exposed to 5-20 ppm benzene (Keller and Snyder 1986, 1988). Chromosomal damage in bone marrow cells and lymphocytes are well documented effects of benzene based on findings in human occupational studies and in vivo studies in animals (ATSDR 1997). As indicated above, there is a well established causal relationship between occupational exposure to benzene and acute myelogenous leukemia (ATSDR 1997; Aksoy et al. 1971, 1972, 1974). Benzene-induced leukemia has not been clearly demonstrated in laboratory animals, although increased incidences of lymphomas, Zymbal gland carcinomas, and other

neoplasms were found in rats and mice following chronic inhalation or oral exposure (ATSDR 1997; Cronkite et al. 1984, 1985, 1986, 1989; Farris et al. 1993; NTP 1986; Snyder et al. 1980, 1984, 1988).

A.3 Mechanisms of Action

The most characteristic toxic effect of benzene is a decrease in bone marrow cellularity, which appears to ultimately lead to aplastic anemia and development of leukemia. The compensatory proliferative response (regenerative hyperplasia) to the anemia observed in the bone marrow, thymus, and spleen of exposed animals may play a role in the carcinogenic response (Rozen and Snyder 1985; Snyder 1987; Snyder and Koscis 1975; Snyder et al. 1984, 1993; Toft et al. 1982).

Metabolites appear to play key roles in the development of the hematotoxic, clastogenic, and carcinogenic effects of benzene. Studies of benzene metabolism and mechanisms of toxic action have identified or postulated a number of biologically reactive metabolites, including benzene oxide, benzene dihydrodiol, hydroquinone, catechol, benzoquinones, and muconaldehyde (ATSDR 1997). It is generally believed that benzene metabolites covalently bind to cellular macromolecules (including DNA, ribonucleic acid [RNA], and proteins), thereby leading to dysfunction in the bone marrow (including stem, progenitor, and stromal cells) and other tissues. For example, benzene and its metabolites may induce oxidative DNA damage or interfere with the incorporation of iron into bone marrow precursors (Longacre et al. 1981; Snyder and Kalf 1994; Snyder et al. 1989), chelates of iron and hydroquinone or 1,2,4-benzenetriol appear to be potent DNA cleaving agents (Rao 1996; Singh et al. 1994), and hydroquinone may accumulate in bone marrow to act as substrates for myeloperoxidase, forming benzoquinone which is myelotoxic and clastogenic (ATSDR 1997; Medinsky et al. 1994).

The relationship between adduct formation and toxicity is not clear, and multiple metabolic pathways and mechanisms are involved in benzene toxicity and carcinogenicity. The multiple metabolic pathways provide opportunities for modulation of benzene metabolism, either by competition with other chemicals for the available cytochrome P-450 sites, by induction or inhibition of the oxidation or conjugation enzymes, or by direct competition between benzene and its metabolites (Medinsky et al. 1994). There also may be synergism between metabolites (Eastmond et al. 1987; Snyder et al. 1989) or between glutathione-depleting metabolites of benzene and oxygen radicals (generated by futile cycling of cytochrome P-450 or cycling of quinone metabolites) (Parke 1989).

The acute neurological effects of benzene are similar to the general anesthetic effects of other lipophilic solvents, and consequently are presumed to result from a direct effect of the parent compound on central nervous system cell membranes unrelated to its metabolites (Snyder et al. 1993). There is a paucity of mechanistic information on the chronic nervous system toxicity of benzene (ATSDR 1997; Snyder et al. 1993).

A.4 Health Guidelines

ATSDR (1997) derived an acute-duration inhalation MRL of 0.05 ppm for benzene based on a LOAEL of 10 ppm for immunotoxicity (reduced lymphocyte proliferation) following mitogen stimulation in mice (Rozen et al. 1984). The animal LOAEL was converted to a human equivalent concentration (LOAEL_{HEC}) of 14.7 ppm and divided by an uncertainty factor of 300 (10 for the use of a LOAEL, 3 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability) to yield the MRL. The mice were exposed 6 hours/day for 6 days.

ATSDR (1997) derived an intermediate-duration inhalation MRL of 0.004 ppm for benzene based on a LOAEL of 0.78 ppm for neurological effects (increased rapid response time) in mice (Li et al. 1992). The animal LOAEL was converted to a LOAEL_{HEC} of 0.33 ppm and divided by an uncertainty factor of 90 (3 for the use of a minimal LOAEL, 3 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability) to yield the MRL. The mice were exposed 6 hours/day, 6 days/week for 30 days.

ATSDR (1997) did not derive a chronic-duration inhalation MRL or acute-, intermediate-, or chronic-duration oral MRLs for benzene due to lack of suitable data.

The EPA Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) database does not list a RfD or RfC for benzene (IRIS 2001). EPA has classified benzene as a "known" human carcinogen (Category A) under the 1986 Risk Assessment Guidelines (IRIS 2001). Under EPA's proposed revised Carcinogen Risk Assessment Guidelines, benzene is characterized as a known human carcinogen for all routes of exposure based on convincing human evidence as well as supporting evidence from animal studies (IRIS 2001). Based on leukemia data in humans, an inhalation unit risk range of 2.2x10⁻⁶–7.8x10⁻⁶ per μg/m³ was estimated for benzene (IRIS 2001). The inhalation unit risk range was extrapolated to an oral (drinking water) unit risk range of 4.4x10⁻⁴–1.6x10⁻³ per mg/L (IRIS 2001).

The NTP (2001) concluded that benzene is known to be a human carcinogen. IARC (1987) classified benzene as a Group 1 carcinogen (carcinogenic to humans).

ACGIH (2001) recommends a TLV-TWA of 0.5 ppm and short-term exposure limit/ceiling (STEL/C) of 2.5 ppm for benzene based on cancer as the critical effect. ACGIH has included benzene in the carcinogenicity category A1 (confirmed human carcinogen).

A.5 References

ACGIH. 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.

Aksoy M. 1980. Different types of malignancies due to occupational exposure to benzene: A review of recent observations in Turkey. Environ Res 23:181-190. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Aksoy M, Dincol K, Akgun T, et al. 1971. Haematological effects of chronic benzene poisoning in 217 workers. Br J Ind Med 28:296-302. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Aksoy M, Dincol K, Erdem S, et al. 1972. Details of blood changes in 32 patients with pancytopenia associated with long-term exposure to benzene. Br J Ind Med 29:56-64. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Aksoy M, Erdem S, Dincol G. 1974. Leukemia in shoe-workers exposed chronically to benzene. Blood 44:837-841.

Arinc E, Adaldi O, Iscan M, et al. 1991. Stimulatory effects of benzene on rabbit liver and kidney microsomal cytochrome P-450 dependent drug metabolizing enzymes. Arch Toxicol 65(3):186-190. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

ATSDR. 1997. Toxicological profile for benzene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Bois FY, Paxman DG. 1992. An analysis of exposure rate effects for benzene using a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 110(1):79-88. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Carpenter CP, Shaffer CB, Weil CS, et al. 1944. Studies on the inhalation of 1:3-butadiene; with a comparison of its narcotic effect with benzol, toluol, and styrene, and a note on the elimination of styrene by the human. J Ind Hyg Toxicol 26:69-78. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Coate WB, Hoberman AM, Durloo RS. 1984. Inhalation teratology study of benzene in rats. Adv Mod Environ Toxicol 6:187-198. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Cornish HH, Ryan RC. 1965. Metabolism of benzene in nonfasted, fasted, and aryl-hydroxylase inhibited rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 7:767-771. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Cronkite EP. 1986. Benzene hematotoxicity and leukemogenesis. Blood Cells 12:129-137. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Cronkite EP, Bullis JE, Inoue T, et al. 1984. Benzene inhalation produces leukemia in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 75:358-361. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Cronkite EP, Drew RT, Inoue T, et al. 1985. Benzene hematotoxicity and leukemogenesis. Am J Ind Med 7:447-456. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Cronkite EP, Drew RT, Inoue T, et al. 1989. Hematotoxicity and carcinogenicity of inhaled benzene. Environ Health Perspect 82:97-108. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Dempster AM, Evans HL, Snyder CA. 1984. The temporal relationship between behavioral and hematological effects of inhaled benzene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 76:195-203. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Doskin VA. 1971. [Effect of age on the reaction to a combination of hydrocarbons.] Hyg Sanit 36:379-384. (Russian). (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Eastmond DA, Smith MT, Irons RD. 1987. An interaction of benzene metabolites reproduces the myelotoxicity observed with benzene exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 91:85-95.

Eutermoser M, Rusch GM, Kuna RA, et al. 1986. A method for repeated evaluation of benzene uptake in rats and mice during a six hour inhalation period. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 47:37-40. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Farris GM, Everitt JI, Irons RD, et al. 1993. Carcinogenicity of inhaled benzene in CBA mice. Fundam Appl Toxicol 20(4):503-507. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Frantik E, Hornychova M, Horvath M. 1994. Relative acute neurotoxicity of solvents: Isoeffective air concentrations of 48 compounds evaluated in rats and mice. Environ Res 66:173-185. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Franz TJ. 1984. Percutaneous absorption of benzene. In: MacFarland HN, Holdsworth CE, MacGregor JA, et al., eds. Advances in modern environmental toxicology. Vol. VI. Applied toxicology of petroleum hydrocarbons. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Scientific Publishers, Inc., 61-70. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Ganousis LG, Goon D, Zyglewska T, et al. 1992. Cell-specific metabolism in mouse bone marrow stroma: studies of activation and detoxification of benzene metabolites. Mol Pharmacol 42(6):1118-1125. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Gonasun LM, Witmer C, Kocsis J, et al. 1973. Benzene metabolism in mouse liver microsomes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 26:398-406. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Green JD, Leong BKJ, Laskin S. 1978. Inhaled benzene fetotoxicity in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 46:9-18. Ganousis LG, Goon D, Zyglewska T, et al. 1992. Cell-specific metabolism in mouse bone marrow stroma: studies of activation and detoxification of benzene metabolites. Mol Pharmacol 42(6):1118-1125. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Gut I, Terelius Y, Frantík E, et al. 1993. Exposure to various benzene derivatives differently induces cytochromes P450 2B1 and P450 2E1 in rat liver. Arch Toxicol 67:237-243.

Hanke J, Dutkiewicz T, Piotrowski J. 1961. [The absorption of benzene through the skin in men]. Medycyna Pracy 12:413-426. (Polish). (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Henderson RF, Sabourin PJ, Bechtold WE, et al. 1989. The effect of dose, dose rate, route of administration, and species on tissue and blood levels of benzene metabolites. Environ Health Perspect 82:9-17. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Hsieh GC, Parker RDR, Sharma RP. 1988. Subclinical effects of groundwater contaminants. II. Alteration of regional brain monoamine neurotransmitters by benzene in CD-1 mice. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 17:799-805. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

IARC. 1987. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: An updating of IARC Monographs volumes 1 to 42. Suppl 7. Lyons, France: World Health Organization. International Agency for Research on Cancer, 38-74. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

IRIS. 2001. Benzene. Integrated Risk Information System, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0276.htm.

Irons RD, Dent JG, Baker TS, et al. 1980. Benzene is metabolized and covalently bound in bone marrow in situ. Chem-Biol Interact 30:241-245. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Keller KA, Snyder CA. 1986. Mice exposed in utero to low concentrations of benzene exhibit enduring changes in their colony forming hematopoietic cells. Toxicology 42:171-181. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Keller KA, Snyder CA. 1988. Mice exposed *in utero* to 20 ppm benzene exhibit altered numbers of recognizable hematopoietic cells up to seven weeks after exposure. Fundam Appl Toxicol 10:224-232. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Kuna RA, Kapp RW. 1981. Embryotoxic/teratogenic potential of benzene vapor in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 57:1-7. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Li L, Sun W, Gong Z, et al. 1992. Effect of low benzene exposure on neurobehavioral function, AChE in blood and brain and bone marrow picture in mice. Biomed Environ Sci 5(4):349-354. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Longacre SL, Locsis JJ, Witmer CM, et al. 1981. Toxicological and biochemical effects of repeated administration of benzene in mice. J Toxicol Environ Health 7:223-237. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Maibach HI, Anjo DM. 1981. Percutaneous penetration of benzene and benzene contained in solvents in the rubber industry. Arch Environ Health 36:256-260. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Medinsky MA, Sabourin PJ, Henderson RF, et al. 1989a. Differences in the pathways for metabolism of benzene in rats and mice stimulated by a physiological model. Environ Health Perspect 82:43-49. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Medinsky MA, Sabourin PJ, Lucier G, et al. 1989b. A physiological model for simulation of benzene metabolism by rats and mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 99:193-206. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Medinsky MA, Sabourin PJ, Lucier G, et al. 1989c. A toxicokinetic model for simulation of benzene metabolism. Exp Pathol 37:150-154. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Medinsky MA, Schlosser PM, Bond JA. 1994. Critical issues in benzene toxicity and metabolism: the effect of interactions with other organic chemicals on risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 102(Suppl 9):119-124. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Midzenski MA, McDiarmid MA, Rothman N, et al. 1992. Acute high dose exposure to benzene in shipyard workers. Am J Ind Med 22:553-565. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Murray FJ, John JA, Rampy LW, et al. 1979. Embryotoxicity of inhaled benzene in mice and rabbits. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 40:933-998. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Nakajima T, Wang RI, Elovaara E, et al. 1993. Cytochrome P450-related differences between rats and mice in the metabolism of benzene toluene and trichloroethylene in liver microsomes. Biochem Pharmacol 45(5):1079-1085.

Nomiyama K, Nomiyama H. 1974. Respiratory retention, uptake and excretion of organic solvents in man: Benzene, toluene, n-hexane, trichloroethylene, acetone, ethyl alcohol. Int Arch Arbeitsmed 32:75-83. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

NTP. 1986. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of benzene (CAS No. 71-43-2) in F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice (gavage studies). Research Triangle Park, NC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institute of Health. National Toxicology Program. NIH Publication no. 86-2545. Technical report series no. 289. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

NTP. 2001. Ninth report on carcinogens. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. http://ehis.niehs.nih.gov/roc/toc9.html. June 2001.

Parke DV. 1989. Introduction: Session on metabolism. Environ Health Perspect 82:7-8. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Parke DV, Williams RT. 1953a. Studies in detoxication. 49. The metabolism of benzene containing $[^{14}C_1]$ benzene. Biochem J 54:231-238. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Parke DV, Williams RT. 1953b. Studies in detoxification 54. The metabolism of benzene. (a) The formation of phenylglucuronide & phenylsulphuric acid from [¹⁴C] benzene (b) the metabolism of [¹⁴C₁] benzene. Biochem J 54: 231-238. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Pekari K, Vainiotalo S, Heikkila P, et al. 1992. Biological monitoring of occupational exposure to low levels of benzene. Scand J Work Environ Health 18(5):317-322. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Rao GS. 1996. Glutathionyl hydroquinone: A potent pro-oxidant and a possible toxic metabolite of benzene. Toxicology 106:49-54. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Rozen MG, Snyder CA. 1985. Protracted exposure of C57BL/6 mice to 300 ppm benzene depresses B- and T-lymphocyte numbers and mitogen responses. Evidence for thymic and bone marrow proliferation in response to the exposures. Toxicology 37:13-26. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Rozen MG, Snyder CA, Albert RE. 1984. Depression in B- and T-lymphocyte mitogen-induced blastogenesis in mice exposed to low concentrations of benzene. Toxicol Lett 20:343-349. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sabourin PJ, Bechtold WE, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1988. Differences in the metabolism and disposition of inhaled [³H]benzene by F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 94:128-140. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sabourin PJ, Bechtold WE, Griffith WC, et al. 1989a. Effect of exposure concentration, exposure rate, and route of administration on metabolism of benzene by F344 rats and B6C3F₁ mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 99:421-444. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sabourin PJ, Chen BT, Lucier G, et al. 1987. Effect of dose on the absorption and excretion of [14C]benzene administered orally or by inhalation in rats and mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 87:325-336. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sabourin PJ, Muggenburg BA, Couch RC, et al. 1992. Metabolism of [14C]benzene by Cynomolgus monkeys and chimpanzees. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 114(2):277-284. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sabourin PJ, Sun JD, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1989b. Effect of repeated benzene inhalation exposures on subsequent metabolism of benzene. Exp Pathol 37:155-157. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Saito FU, Kocsis JJ, Snyder R. 1973. Effect of benzene on hepatic drug metabolism and ultrastructure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 26:209-217. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sato A, Nakajima T, Fujiwara Y, et al. 1975. Kinetic studies on sex differences in susceptibility to chronic benzene intoxication- with special reference to body fat content. Br J Ind Med 32:321-328. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Schrenk D, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Bock KW. 1992. Influence of P-4502E1 induction on benzene metabolism in rat hepatocytes and on biliary metabolite excretion. Drug Metab Dispos 20(2):137-141. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Singh V, Ahmad S, Rao GS. 1994. Prooxidant and antioxidant properties of iron-hydroquinone and iron-1,2,4-benzenetriol complex. Implications for benzene toxicity. Toxicology 89(1):25-33. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder CA. 1987. Benzene. In: Snyder R, ed. Ethyl Browning's toxicity and metabolism of industrial solvents. 2nd ed. Vol. 1: Hydrocarbons. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder CA, Goldstein BD, Sellakumar AR, et al. 1980. The inhalation toxicology of benzene: Incidence of hematopoietic neoplasms and hematotoxicity in AKR/J and C57BL/6J mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 54:323-331. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder CA, Goldstein BD, Sellakumar AR. 1984. Evidence for hematotoxicity and tumorigenesis in rats exposed to 100 ppm benzene. Am J Ind Med 5:429-434. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder CA, Sellakumar AR, James DJ, et al. 1988. The carcinogenicity of discontinuous inhaled benzene exposures in CD-1 and C57BL/6 mice. Arch Toxicol 62:331-335. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder R, Kalf GF. 1994. A perspective on benzene leukemogenesis. Crit Rev Toxicol 1994. 24(3):177-209. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder R, Kocsis JJ. 1975. Current concepts of chronic benzene toxicity. CRC Crit Rev Toxicol 3:265-288. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Snyder R, Dimitriadis E, Guy R, et al. 1989. Studies on the mechanism of benzene toxicity. Environ Health Perspect 82:31-35.

Snyder R, Witz G, Goldstein BD. 1993. The toxicology of benzene. Environ Health Perspect 100:293-306.

Srbova J, Teisinger J, Skramovsky S. 1950. Absorption and elimination of inhaled benzene in man. Arch Ind Hyg Occup Med 2:1-8. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Sun JD, Medinsky MA, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1990. Benzene hemoglobin adducts in mice and rats: Characterization of formation and physiological modeling. Fundam Appl Toxicol 15:468-475. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Susten A, Dames B, Burg J, et al. 1985. Percutaneous penetration of benzene in hairless mice: An estimate of dermal absorption during tire-building operations. Am J Ind Med 7:323-335. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Tatrai E, Rodics K, Ungvary G. 1980a. Embryotoxic effects of simultaneously applied exposure of benzene and toluene. Folia Morphol (Praha) 28:286-289. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Tatrai E, Ungvary GY, Hudak A, et al. 1980b. Concentration dependence of the embryotoxic effects of benzene inhalation in CFY rats. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol 24:363-371. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Tauber J. 1970. Instant benzol death. J Occup Med 12:94-92. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Thienes H, Haley TJ. 1972. Clinical toxicology. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lea & Febiger, 124-127. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Toft K, Olofsson T, Tunek A, et al. 1982. Toxic effects on mouse bone marrow caused by inhalation of benzene. Arch Toxicol 51:295-302. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Travis C, Bowers J. 1990. Altered pharmacokinetics of soil-absorbed benzene administered orally in the rat. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 45(2):197-207. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Ungvary G, Tatrai E. 1985. On the embryotoxic effects of benzene and it's alkyl derivatives in mice, rats and rabbits. Arch Toxicol Suppl 8:425-430. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Ward CO, Kuna RA, Snyder NK, et al. 1985. Subchronic inhalation toxicity of benzene in rats and mice. Am J Ind Med 7:457-473. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Wolf MA, Rowe VK, McCollister DD, et al. 1956. Toxicological studies of certain alkylated benzene and benzene. AMA Arch Ind Health 14:387-398. (As cited in ATSDR 1997.)

Appendix B: Background Information for Toluene

This appendix summarizes information on the toxicokinetics, health effects, mechanisms of action, and health guidelines for toluene. The summaries are mainly based on information presented in the ATSDR (2000) toxicological profile for toluene and therefore do not represent reviews of the primary literature. The chemical structure for toluene is included in Appendix E.

B.1 Toxicokinetics

Studies with humans and animals indicate that toluene is readily absorbed from the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts and, to a lesser extent, through the skin (ATSDR 2000). Respiratory uptake was rapid in humans exposed to 80 ppm toluene, as shown by the appearance of toluene in the blood within 10-15 minutes of exposure (Hjelm et al. 1988). About 50% of deuterium-labeled toluene was absorbed from the lungs in volunteers exposed to 53 ppm for 2 hours during a period of light exercise (Lof et al. 1993). Seven humans exposed to 50 ppm toluene in a closed chamber showed an average retention of 83% of the inspired concentration (Benoit et al. 1985). Complete gastrointestinal absorption in humans was indicated by monitoring exhaled air for toluene and urine for toluene metabolites (hippuric acid and ortho-cresol) following oral administration of toluene as a 2 mg/minute infusion for 3 hours through a feeding tube into the stomach (Baelum et al. 1993). Complete absorption of orally administered toluene has also been observed in rats, although the rate of oral absorption was slower than pulmonary absorption (maximum blood levels were observed 1.5–3 hours and 15–30 minutes after administration, respectively) (Pyykko et al. 1977). The rate of dermal absorption of liquid toluene through human forearm skin was found to be slow, ranging from 14 to 23 mg/cm²/hour (Dutkiewicz and Tyras 1968). Dermal absorption of toluene vapor has been demonstrated in animals (ATSDR 2000). For example, dose and durationrelated increases in whole body toluene levels were found in nude mice that were exposed to 300, 1,000, or 3,000 ppm toluene under conditions where there was no respiratory intake of toluene (Tsuruta 1989). The calculated skin absorption coefficient was 1.24 cm/hour. The skin absorption rates were 0.0009, 0.0046, and 0.0144 mg/cm²/hour for the 300, 1,000 and 3,000 ppm concentrations, respectively.

Distribution of absorbed toluene in humans and laboratory animals is characterized by preferential uptake in lipid-rich and highly vascular tissues such as the brain, bone marrow, and body fat (ATSDR 2000). Toluene is distributed between the plasma and red blood cells at approximately a 1:1 ratio in humans based on *in vitro* data and a 1:2 ratio in rats based on *in vivo* data (Lam et al. 1990). In the red blood cells, toluene appears to be associated with the hemoglobin rather than the cell membrane. The

interaction of toluene with the red blood cell increases the amount of toluene that can be accommodated by the aqueous blood medium and facilitates transport of toluene to all areas of the body (including the brain) at a rate that is greater than if toluene was transported only in the plasma. Within the brain, toluene has a greater affinity for the areas that contain lipid-rich white matter, such as the brain stem and midbrain, rather than the areas with larger amounts of gray matter (Ameno et al. 1992; Bergman 1979).

The first step in toluene metabolism is catalyzed by several cytochrome P-450 species (ATSDR 2000; Gut et al. 1993; Nakajima and Wang 1994; Nakajima et al. 1991, 1992a, 1992b, 1993, 1997; Tassaneeyakul et al. 1996). Most toluene is initially metabolized by side-chain hydroxylation to form benzyl alcohol, followed by oxidation to benzoic acid. The main CYP isozyme involved in the formation of benzyl alcohol is CYP2E1, although CYP2B1, CYP2B6, CYP2C6, CYP1A2, and CYP1A1 (in decreasing order) are also active. Most of the benzoic acid is then conjugated with glycine to form hippuric acid, although some can be conjugated with uridine-5'-diphosphate (UDP)-glucuronate to form the acyl-glucuronide. In both humans and rats, up to about 75–80% of inhaled toluene that is absorbed can be accounted for as hippuric acid in the urine. Much of the remaining toluene is exhaled unchanged. A very small portion (<1-5%) of absorbed toluene undergoes ring hydroxylation by CYP1A2, CYP2B2, or CYP2E1 to form 2,3- and 3,4-epoxide intermediates and subsequently ortho- or para-cresols, which are conjugated with sulfate or glucuronate (Baelum et al. 1993, Nakajima and Wang 1994; Nakajima et al. 1997; Tassaneeyakul et al. 1996). Other minor metabolites include S-benzyl mercapturic acid and S-p-toluylmercapturic acid, which are thought to be formed by a series of steps beginning with benzyl alcohol and 3,4-toluene expoxide, respectively (Angerer et al. 1998). The liver is expected to be the main site of toluene metabolism, based on the concentration of CYP isozymes in the liver relative to other tissues. Studies in rats indicate that the expression of hepatic CYP isozymes is influenced by various factors, including age, sex, and level of toluene exposure (Nakajima and Wang 1994).

As indicated above, studies with humans and laboratory animals indicate that following acute periods of inhalation exposure to toluene, absorbed toluene is excreted predominately in the urine as metabolites and, to a lesser extent, as nonmetabolized toluene in exhaled air (Lof et al. 1993; Ogata 1984; Tardif et al. 1998). For example, following a 2-hour exposure with light physical exercise to deuterium-labeled toluene at a concentration of 200 mg/m³ (53 ppm), an average 78% of retained label was excreted as urinary hippuric acid within 20 hours by a group of nine volunteers (Lof et al. 1993). A significant portion of absorbed toluene in this and other studies has been estimated to be exhaled as nonmetabolized toluene (7–20% of absorbed toluene) (Carlsson 1982; Leung and Paustenbach 1988; Lof et al. 1993). Analyses of kinetic data for toluene concentrations in blood, exhaled breath, or adipose tissue following

inhalation exposure of humans and rats indicate that most absorbed toluene is rapidly eliminated from the body and that a smaller portion (that which gets into adipose tissues) is slowly eliminated (Leung and Paustenbach 1988; Lof et al. 1993; Pellizzari et al. 1992; Pierce et al. 1996, 1999; Rees et al. 1985). For example, using PBPK models, mean terminal half-lives of about 30–38 hours were calculated for changes in blood toluene concentrations between 50 and 100 hours after cessation of 2-hour inhalation exposures of male subjects to 50 ppm $^{1}H_{8}$ -toluene and 50 ppm $^{2}H_{8}$ -toluene (Pierce et al. 1996, 1999). During this terminal phase of disposition, >95% of toluene is expected to be in adipose tissue and the release of toluene from adipose tissues has been proposed to be the rate-limiting step (Pierce et al. 1999). Elimination half-lives ranged from about 12 to 65 hours in subcutaneous adipose tissue samples taken from 12 subjects at several times within 8 days of cessation of exposure to about 80 ppm toluene for four consecutive 30-minute periods, and increasing elimination half-lives were significantly correlated with increasing amounts of body fat (Carlsson and Ljungquist 1982).

PBPK models are available that describe the kinetics of toluene after inhalation exposure in humans (Fisher et al. 1997; Lapare et al. 1993; Pierce et al. 1996, 1999) and rats (DeJongh and Blaauboer 1996, 1997; Tardif et al. 1993b).

B.2 Health Effects

The nervous system is the critical target of toluene toxicity following acute, intermediate, or chronic inhalation or oral exposure to toluene (ATSDR 2000). Effects on the human nervous system from inhaled toluene are well documented. Studies with volunteers under controlled acute (6–8 hours) exposure conditions indicate that subtle neurological impairment is detectable in most subjects at concentrations in the 75–150 ppm range (Andersen et al. 1983; Baelum et al. 1985; Echeverria et al. 1991; Guzelian et al. 1988; Iregren 1986; Rahill et al. 1996). Concentrations of 200–800 ppm can produce exhilaration and light-headedness, and, at higher acute exposure concentrations, intellectual, psychomotor, and neuromuscular abilities are obviously impaired followed by development of narcosis (EPA 1985; von Oettingen et al. 1942). Numerous case studies have associated chronic inhalation exposure to toluene at levels inducing narcosis and euphoria (estimated 4,000–12,000 ppm) with residual or permanent neurological damage as evidenced by abnormal electroencephalograms, structural changes in the brain, tremors, paranoid psychosis, recurrent hallucinations, and impaired speech, hearing, and vision (ATSDR 2000). Studies of workers repeatedly exposed to toluene in workplace air at concentrations ranging from about 30 to 150 ppm have found evidence for increased incidence of self-reported neurological symptoms, performance deficits in neurobehavioral tests, hearing loss, changes in visual-evoked

brainstem potentials, and color vision impairment (Abbate et al. 1993; Boey et al. 1997; Foo et al. 1990; Morata et al. 1997; Orbaek and Nise 1989; Vrca et al. 1995, 1997a, 1997b; Yin et al. 1987; Zavalic et al. 1998a, 1998b, 1998c).

Supporting neurological effects data come from inhalation studies of toluene-exposed animals showing changes in behavior, hearing loss, and subtle changes in brain structure, electrophysiology, and levels of neurotransmitters (ATSDR 2000). For example, performance deficits in trained neuromuscular responses occurred in rats exposed concentrations as low as 125 ppm toluene for 4 hours (Kishi et al. 1988; Mullin and Krivanek 1982; Wood et al. 1983), changes in brain biochemical variables (e.g., dopamine levels, dopamine D2 receptor binding, changes in glial fibrillary acidic protein) were induced in rats exposed to concentrations as low as 50-80 ppm for 6-8 hours/day (API 1997; Hillefors-Bergllund et al. 1995; Ikeda et al. 1986; Little et al. 1998; von Euler et al. 1989, 1993, 1994), hearing loss occurred in rats exposed to concentrations as low as 700–1,000 ppm, 6–14 hours/day for 2–9 weeks (Campo et al. 1997, 1998; Johnson et al. 1988; Pryor and Rebert 1992; Pryor et al. 1984a, 1984b, 1991), and decreases in brain weight and phospholipid content occurred in rats continuously exposed to 320 ppm for 30 days (Kyrklund et al. 1987). Neurological effects observed in animals after acute- or intermediate-duration oral exposure include changed flash-evoked potentials in rats given single gavage doses of toluene as low as 250 mg/kg (Dyer et al. 1988), and changes in brain levels of several neurotransmitters (e.g., norepinephrine, dopamine, serotonin) in mice exposed to 5–105 mg/kg/day in drinking water for 28 days (Hsieh et al. 1990).

Toluene has caused respiratory tract irritation in humans following acute-duration inhalation exposure to concentrations above approximately 100 ppm, but there is little evidence for other adverse effects (ATSDR 2000). Studies of chronic toluene abusers or occupationally exposed humans have provided little evidence for serious liver damage due to inhaled toluene. Increases in liver weight (likely associated with microsomal enzyme induction), but no significant hepatic histological changes, were found in rats and mice following acute, intermediate, or chronic exposure to concentrations above 300 ppm (ATSDR 2000). The kidney may be a target of toluene toxicity following exposure to very high levels of toluene. Renal acidosis was observed in solvent abusers exposed to toluene, but the renal dysfunction usually reversed when exposure ceased, and the cases were frequently confounded by probable exposure to multiple solvents (ATSDR 2000). Kidney damage (e.g., renal tubular casts) was induced in rats after intermediate- and chronic-duration exposure to concentrations above 600 ppm (CIIT 1980; NTP 1990).

There is suggestive evidence that toluene may cause some reproductive problems, especially with repeated inhalation exposure during pregnancy to concentrations above 200 ppm (ATSDR 2000). Increased risks of spontaneous abortions were observed in women occupationally exposed to toluene, or wives of men similarly exposed (Lindbohm et al. 1992; Ng et al. 1992; Taskinen et al. 1989). However, interpretation of these results is limited due to small sample size evaluated, an inability to define accurate exposure levels, failure to account for all possible confounding variables, and the difficulty in validating self-reported data. Occupational exposure to increasing concentrations of toluene (8-111 ppm) has been associated with decreased plasma levels of the luteinizing hormone, follicle stimulating hormone and testosterone levels in males (Svensson et al. 1992a, 1992b). Studies in animals found some minor toluene-induced changes in male and female reproductive organs (e.g., decreased sperm count in male rats [Ono et al. 1995, 1996] and ultrastructural changes in antral follicles in ovary of female rats [Tap et al. 1996]), but no histological evidence of structural damage to the reproductive organs in rats and mice exposed orally for intermediate durations or by inhalation for intermediate or chronic durations (NTP 1990). No evidence for impaired reproductive performance was found in several assays (Ono et al. 1995, 1996; Smith 1983; Thiel and Chahoud 1997), including a 2-generation study of rats intermittently exposed to up to 2,000 ppm (API 1985), although gestational exposure to toluene caused increased fetal mortality in rats intermittently exposed to 2,000 ppm (Ono et al. 1995, 1996), and increased abortions in rabbits continuously exposed to 267 ppm but not 133 ppm (Ungvary and Tatrai 1985).

A number of reports of birth defects in children born to women who abused toluene or other organic solvents during pregnancy suggest that high-level (4,000–12,000 ppm) exposure to toluene during pregnancy can be toxic to the developing fetus, causing effects that included microcephaly, central nervous system dysfunction, growth deficiency, cranofacial and limb abnormalities, and reversible renal tubular acidosis (ATSDR 2000). Results from several inhalation exposure studies of animals indicate that exposure to levels of toluene that begin to produce maternal toxicity can cause fetal effects, including reduced fetal survival and retardation of growth and skeletal development (Courtney et al. 1986; Hudak and Ungvary 1978; Huntingdon Research Centre 1992a, 1992b; Ono et al. 1995; Thiel and Chahoud 1997; Ungvary and Tatrai 1985). No-effect levels in animals for toluene effects on standard developmental endpoints ranged from about 133–750 ppm. In animal studies of oral exposure during gestation, no developmental effects were observed in pregnant mice exposed to doses of ≥1,800 mg/kg/day (Seidenberg et al. 1986; Smith 1983), but exposure of pregnant rats to gavage doses of 650 mg/kg/day produced offspring with decreased body weights, delayed ossification, smaller brain volumes, and decreased forebrain myelination per cell compared with controls (Gospe and Zhou 1998; Gospe et al. 1996). Results from studies of neurobehavioral endpoints in rats following gestational

exposure to toluene suggest that intermittent inhalation exposure to concentrations >1,200 ppm can impair offspring behavioral development (Jones and Balster 1997; Ono et al. 1995; Thiel and Chahoud 1997) and that drinking water exposure during gestation and lactation at doses of 106 mg/kg/day changes postweaning open-field locomotor activity in rat offspring (Kostas and Hotchin 1981).

Human and animal studies generally do not support a concern for the carcinogenicity of toluene. Eleven human epidemiology studies assessed toluene exposure as a possible risk factor for cancer (ATSDR 2000). Cancers of most sites were not significantly associated with toluene exposure in any study and there was weak consistency in the findings of those studies that did find association of a particular cancer type with toluene exposure. Three cohort studies involved workers occupationally exposed predominantly to toluene, whereas the remainder of the human studies primarily involved subjects exposed to mixtures of solvents including toluene (Antilla et al. 1998; ATSDR 2000; Svensson et al. 1990; Walker et al. 1993). The information from the human studies is inadequate to assess the carcinogenic potential of toluene, mainly because of the lack of consistent findings across the studies and the likelihood that many of the studied groups were exposed to multiple chemicals. Chronic bioassays in animals found no doserelated increased incidences of neoplastic lesions in rats or mice exposed by inhalation or in orally exposed rats (CIIT 1980; Maltoni et al. 1997; NTP 1990). Toluene was generally nongenotoxic in *in vivo* studies of exposed humans, *in vitro* microbial assays, and other *in vitro* test systems (ATSDR 2000).

B.3 Mechanisms of Action

The mechanism by which acute exposure to toluene brings about neurological effects such as central nervous system depression and narcosis is generally thought to involve, at least in part, reversible interactions between toluene (the parent compound and not its metabolites) and components (lipids or proteins) of nervous system membranes (ATSDR 2000). Support of parent-material involvement comes from the observation that pretreatment of rats with phenobarbital increased the rate of *in vivo* toluene metabolism and shortened the time of recovery from narcosis from single intraperitoneal doses of toluene (Ikeda and Ohtsuji 1971). Other support for this hypothesis includes the transient nature of anesthesia from acute high level exposure to toluene and the rapidity with which toluene-induced changes in brain biochemical variables can be measured (Korpela and Tahti 1988; Lebel and Schatz 1988, 1989, 1990; Rea et al. 1984). On a molecular level, the acute anaesthetic actions of toluene and other agents have been postulated to involve intercalation of toluene into the lipid bilayer of nerve membranes and/or reversible interactions with proteins in the membrane (Franks and Lieb 1985, 1987).

Clinically obvious neurological impairment (e.g., gait and speech abnormalities) and brain atrophy have been observed in several cases of chronic toluene-inhalation abuse. Magnetic resonance imagery (MRI) of the brain of solvent abusers (Filley et al. 1990; Rosenberg et al. 1988a, 1988b) suggest preferential atrophy in lipid-rich regions of the brain (ATSDR 2000). The MRI changes may be related to lipid compositional changes in the white matter, since these regions are more lipid-rich than gray matter (Ameno et al. 1992). The observations are consistent with a hypothesis that chronic exposure to high concentrations of toluene brings about structural changes in the brain related to lipid compositional changes (ATSDR 2000). Supporting evidence for this hypothesis includes altered phospholipid composition of brain synaptosomes, decreased phospholipid concentrations in the cerebral cortex, and decreased number of neurons in the hippocampus in toluene-exposed rats (Korbo et al. 1996; Kyrklund et al. 1987; Lebel and Schatz 1988, 1989, 1990). It is uncertain if toluene-induced changes in membrane phospholipid content may be caused by increased breakdown of phospholipids or inhibition of synthesis.

B.4 Health Guidelines

ATSDR (2000) derived an acute-duration inhalation MRL of 1 ppm for toluene based on a NOAEL of 40 ppm for subjective neurological effects (headaches, dizziness, and feelings of intoxication) and eye and nose irritation in humans (Andersen et al. 1983) and an uncertainty factor of 10 (to account for human variability). Volunteers were experimentally exposed to toluene 6 hours/day for 4 consecutive days.

ATSDR (2000) did not derive an intermediate-duration inhalation MRL for toluene due to lack of suitable data, but the chronic inhalation MRL would also be protective for intermediate-duration exposures.

ATSDR (2000) derived a chronic-duration inhalation MRL of 0.08 ppm for toluene based on a LOAEL of 35 ppm for neurological effects (color vision impairment) in humans (Zavalic et al. 1998b) and an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for use of a LOAEL and 10 for human variability). Workers were occupationally exposed to benzene for an average of 16 years.

ATSDR (2000) derived an acute-duration oral MRL of 0.8 mg/kg for toluene based on a LOAEL of 250 mg/kg/day for neurological effects (decreased flash-evoked potential) in rats (Dyer et al. 1988) and an uncertainty factor of 300 (3 for the use of a minimal LOAEL, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability). The animals were administered a single dose of toluene by gavage.

ATSDR (2000) derived an intermediate-duration oral MRL of 0.02 mg/kg/day for toluene based on a LOAEL of 5 mg/kg/day for neurological effects (regional brain increases in monoamine neurotransmitters) in mice (Hsieh et al. 1990) and an uncertainty factor of 300 (3 for the use of a minimal LOAEL, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability). The animals were exposed to toluene in drinking water for 28 days.

ATSDR (2000) did not derive a chronic-duration oral MRL for toluene due to lack of suitable data.

The EPA IRIS database lists an RfD and an RfC for toluene (IRIS 2001). The RfD is based on a NOAEL of 312 mg/kg/day (converted to 223 mg/kg/day) for changes in liver and kidney weights in rats (NTP 1990) and an uncertainty factor of 1,000 (applied to account for inter- and intraspecies extrapolations, for subchronic-to-chronic extrapolation, and for limited reproductive and developmental toxicity data). The animals were exposed to toluene in corn oil by gavage 5 days/week for 13 weeks.

The EPA RfC for toluene is based on a LOAEL of 88 for neurological effects in humans (Foo et al. 1990) and an uncertainty factor of 300 (10 for use of a LOAEL, 10 for human variability, and 3 for database deficiencies) (IRIS 2001). Workers were occupationally exposed to toluene for an average of 5.7 years.

ACGIH (2001) recommends a TLV-TWA of 50 ppm for toluene based on central nervous system effects (reports of headache and irritation in humans associated with 4–6 hours of continuous inhalation of toluene).

The NTP (2001) has not listed toluene as a known or anticipated human carcinogen. EPA determined that toluene is not classifiable as to carcinogenicity (Category D) based on no human data and inadequate animal data (IRIS 2001). IARC (1999a) concluded that toluene is not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity (Group 3) to humans based on inadequate evidence in humans and evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity in animals.

B.5 References

Abbate C, Garganey C, Munao F, et al. 1993. Neurotoxicity induced by exposure to toluene. An electrophysiologic study. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:389-392. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

ACGIH. 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.

Ameno K, Kiriu T, Fuke C, et al. 1992. Regional brain distribution of toluene in rats and in human autopsy. Arch Toxicol 66:153-156. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Andersen I, Lundqvist GR, Molhave L, et al. 1983. Human response to controlled levels of toluene in six-hour exposures. Scand J Work Environ Health 9:405-418. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Angerer J, Schildbach M, Kramer A. 1998. S-p-toluylmercapturic acid in the urine of workers exposed to toluene: A new biomarker for toluene exposure. Arch Toxicol 72(2):119-23. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Antilla A, Pukkala E, Riala R, et al. 1998. Cancer incidence among Finnish workers exposed to aromatic hydrocarbons. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 71:187-193. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

API. 1985. Two-generation reproduction/fertility study on a petroleum-derived hydrocarbon (toluene) Vol. 1. Washington, DC: American Petroleum Institute. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

API. 1997. Brain glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) as a marker of neurotoxicity during inhalation exposure to toluene. Washington, DC: American Petroleum Institute. API Publication Number 4647. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

ATSDR. 2000. Toxicological profile for toluene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Baelum J, Andersen I, Lundqvist GR, et al. 1985. Response of solvent-exposed printers and unexposed controls to six-hour toluene exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 11:271-280. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Baelum J, Molhave L, Honore Hansen S, et al. 1993. Hepatic metabolism of toluene after gastrointestinal uptake in humans. Scand J Work Environ Health 19(1):55-62. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Benoit FM, Davidson WR, Lovett AM, et al. 1985. Breath analysis by API/MS human exposure to volatile organic solvents. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 55:113-120. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Bergman K. 1979. Application and results of whole-body autoradiography in distribution studies of organic solvents. CRC Crit Rev Toxicol 12(1):59-118. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Boey KW, Foo SC, Jeyaratnam J. 1997. Effects of occupational exposure to toluene: A neuropsychological study on workers in Singapore. Ann Acad Med Singapore 26(2):84-7. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Campo P, Lataye R, Cossec B, et al. 1997. Toluene-induced hearing loss: A mid-frequency location of the cochlear lesions. Neurotoxicol Teratol 19(2):129-40. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Campo P, Lataye R, Cossec B, et al. 1998. Combined effects of simultaneous exposure to toluene and ethanol on auditory function in rats. Neurotoxicol Teratol 20(3):321-332. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Carlsson A. 1982. Exposure to toluene: Uptake, distribution and elimination in man. Scand J Work Environ Health 8:43-55. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Carlsson A, Ljungquist E. 1982. Exposure to toluene: Concentration in subcutaneous adipose tissue. Scand J Work Environ Health 8:56-62. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

CIIT. 1980. A 24 month inhalation toxicology study in Fischer-344 rat exposed to atmospheric toluene. Executive Summary and Data Tables. Research Triangle Park, NC: Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology. October 15, 1980. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Courtney KD, Andrews JE, Springer J, et al. 1986. A perinatal study of toluene in CD-1 mice. Fundam Appl Toxicol 6:145-154. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

DeJongh J, Blaauboer BJ. 1996. Simulation of toluene kinetics in the rat by a physiologically based pharmacokinetic model with application of biotransformation parameters derived independently *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Fund Appl Toxicol 32(2):260-8. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

DeJongh J, Blaauboer BJ. 1997. Evaluation of in vitro-based simulations of toluene uptake and metabolism in rats. Toxicol in Vitro 11:485-489. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Dutkiewicz T, Tyras H. 1968. Skin absorption of toluene, styrene and xylene by man. Br J Ind Med 25:243. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Dyer RS, Bercegeay MS, Mayo LM. 1988. Acute exposures to p-xylene and toluene alter visual information processing. Neurotoxicol Teratol 10:147-153. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Echeverria D, Fine L, Langolf G, et al. 1991. Acute behavioural effects of toluene and ethanol in human subjects. Br J Ind Med 48:750-761. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

EPA. 1985. Drinking water criteria document for toluene. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Drinking Water. ECAO-CIN-408. EPA 600/x-84-188. PB 86-117975. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Filley CM, Heaton RK, Rosenberg NL. 1990. White matter dementia in chronic toluene abuse. Neurology 40:532-534. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Fischer J, Mahle D, Bankston L, et al. 1997. Lactational transfer of volatile chemicals in breast milk. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 58(6):425-431.(As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Foo SC, Jeyaratnam J, Koh D. 1990. Chronic neurobehavioural effects of toluene. Br J Ind Med 47:480-484. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Franks NP, Lieb WR. 1985. Mapping of general anaesthetic target sites provides a molecular basis for cutoff effects. Nature 316: 349-351.

Franks NP, Lieb WR. 1987. Anaesthetics on the mind. Nature 328:113-114.

Gospe SM, Zhou SS. 1998. Toluene abuse embryopathy: Longitudinal neurodevelopment effects of prenatal exposure to toluene in rats. Reprod Toxicol 12(2):119-126. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Gospe SM Jr, Zhou SS, Saeed DB et al. 1996. Development of a rat model of toluene-abuse embryopathy. Pediatr Res 40(1):82-87. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Gut I, Terelius Y, Frantík E, et al. 1993. Exposure to various benzene derivatives differently induces cytochromes P450 2B1 and P450 2E1 in rat liver. Arch Toxicol 67:237-243.

Guzelian P, Mills S, Fallon HJ. 1988. Liver structure and function in print workers exposed to toluene. J Occup Med 30(10):791-796. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Hillefors-Berglund M, Liu Y, von Euler G. 1995. Persistent, specific and dose-dependent effects of toluene exposure on dopamine D2 agonist binding in the rat caudate-putamen. Toxicology 100:185-94. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Hjelm EW, Naslund PH, Wallen M. 1988. Influence of cigarette smoking on the toxicokinetics of toluene in humans. J Toxicol Environ Health 25:155-163. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Hsieh GC, Sharma RP, Parker RD, et al. 1990. Evaluation of toluene exposure via drinking water on levels of regional brain biogenic monoamines and their metabolites in CD-1 mice. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 20:175-184. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Hudak A, Ungvary G. 1978. Embryotoxic effects of benzene and its methyl derivatives: Toluene, xylene. Toxicology 11:55-63. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Huntingdon Research Centre. 1992a. A preliminary study of the effect of toluene on pregnancy of the rat (inhalation exposure). Huntingdon, Cambridgeshire, England: Huntingdon Research Centre, Ltd. APT 1/91309. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Huntingdon Research Centre. 1992b. Toluene: Effect on pregnancy of the rat by inhalation (status report). Huntingdon, Cambridgeshire, England: Huntingdon Research Centre, Ltd. APT 2/91279. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

IARC. 1999a. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans: Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. Volume 71. Part 2. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 829-864.

Ikeda M, Ohtsuji H. 1971. Phenobarbital-induced protection against toxicity of toluene and benzene in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 20:30-43. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Ikeda M, Koizumi A, Kasahara M, et al. 1986. Combined effects of n-hexane and toluene on norepinephrine and dopamine levels in rat brain tissues after long-term exposure. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 36:510-517. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Iregren A. 1986. Subjective and objective signs of organic solvent toxicity among occupationally exposed workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 12:469-475. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

IRIS. 2001. Toluene. Integrated Risk Information System, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://:www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0118.htm.

Johnson AC, Juntunen L, Nylen P, et al. 1988. Effect of interaction between noise and toluene on auditory function in the rat. Acta Otolaryngol 101:56-63. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Jones HE, Balster RL. 1997. Neurobehavioral consequences of intermittent prenatal exposure to high concentrations of toluene. Neurotoxicol Teratol 19(4):305-313. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Kishi R, Harabuchi I, Ikeda T, et al. 1988. Neurobehavioral effects and pharmacokinetics of toluene in rats and their relevance to man. Br J Ind Med 45:396-408. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Korbo L, Ladefoged O, Lam HR, et al. 1996. Neuronal loss in hippocampus in rats exposed to toluene. Neurotoxicology 17(2):359-66. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Korpela M, Tahti H. 1988. The effect of *in vitro* and *in vivo* toluene exposure on rat erythrocyte and synaptosome membrane integral enzymes. Pharmcol Toxicol 63:30-32. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Kostas J, Hotchin J. 1981. Behavioral effects of low-level perinatal exposure to toluene in mice. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol 3:467-469. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Kyrklund T, Kjellstrand P, Haglid K. 1987. Brain lipid changes in rats exposed to xylene and toluene. Toxicology 5:123-133. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Lam CW, Galen TJ, Boyd JF, et al. 1990. Mechanism of transport and distribution of organic solvents in blood. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 104:117-129. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Lapare S, Tardif R, Brodeur J. 1993. Effect of various exposure scenarios on the biological monitoring of organic solvents in alveolar air: I. Toluene and *m*-xylene. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64(8):569-80.

LeBel CP, Schatz RA. 1988. Toluene-induced alterations in rat synaptosomal membrane composition and function. J Biochem Toxicol 3:279-293. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

LeBel CP, Schatz RA. 1989. Effect of toluene on rat synapsomal phospholipid methylation and membrane fluidity. Biochem Pharmacol 38(22):4005-4011. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

LeBel CP, Schatz RA. 1990. Altered synaptosomal phospholipid metabolism after toluene: Possible relationship with membrane fluidity, Na+, K+-adewnosine triphosphatase and phospholipid methylation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 253(3):1189-1197. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Leung H-W, Paustenbach DJ. 1988. Application of pharmacokinetics to derive biological exposure indexes from threshold limit values. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 49(9):445-450. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Lindbohm L, Taskinen H, Kyyronen P, et al. 1992. Effects of parental occupational exposure to solvents and lead on spontaneous abortion. Scand J Work Environ J Health 18:37-39. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Little AR, Gong Z, Singh U, et al. 1998. Decreases in brain glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) are associated with increased serum corticosterone following inhalation exposure to toluene. Neurotoxicology 19(4-5):739-748. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Lof A, Hjelm EW, Colmsjo A, et al. 1993. Toxicokinetics of toluene and urinary excretion of hippuric acid after human exposure to ²H_s-toluene. Br J Ind Med 50:55-59. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Maltoni C, Ciliberti A, Pinto C, et al. 1997. Results of long-term experimental carcinogenicity studies of the effects of gasoline, correlated fuels, and major gasoline aromatics on rats. Ann N Y Acad Sci 837:15-52. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Morata TC, Fiorini AC, Fischer FM, et al. 1997. Toluene-induced hearing loss among rotogravure printing workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 23(4): 289-98. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Mullin LS, Krivanek ND. 1982. Comparison of unconditioned reflex and conditioned avoidance tests in rats exposed by inhalation to carbon monoxide, 1,1,1-trichloroethane, toluene or ethanol. Neurotoxicology 3:126-137. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Nakajima T, Wang RS. 1994. Induction of cytochrome P450 by toluene. Int J Biochem 12:1333-1340.

Nakajima T, Wang R-S, Elovaara E, et al. 1991. Monoclonal antibody-directed characterization of cytochrome P-450 isozymes responsible for toluene metabolism in rat liver. Biochem Pharmacol 41(3):395-404. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Nakajima T, Wang R-S, Elovaara E, et al. 1992a. A comparative study on the contribution of cytochrome P450 isozymes to metabolism of benzene, toluene and trichloroethylene in rat liver. Biochem Pharmacol 43:251-257.

Nakajima T, Wang R-S, Elovaara E, et al. 1993. Cytochrome P450-related differences between rats and mice in the metabolism of benzene, toluene and trichloroethylene in liver microsomes. Biochem Pharmacol 45(5):1079-1085.

Nakajima T, Wang R-S, Elovaara E, et al. 1997. Toluene metabolism by cDNA-expressed human hepatic cytochrome P-450. Biochemical Pharmacology 53(3):271-277. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Nakajima T, Wang R-S, Katakura Y, et al. 1992b. Sex-, age- and pregnancy-induced changes in the metabolism of toluene and trichloroethylene in rat liver in relation to the regulation of cytochrome P45011E1 and P45011C11 content. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 261(3):869-874. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Ng TP, Foo SC, Yoong T. 1992. Risk of spontaneous abortion in workers exposed to toluene. Br J Ind Med 49:804-808. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

NTP. 1990. National Toxicology Program technical report series toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of toluene (CAS No. 108-88-3) in F344/N rats and B6C3F mice (inhalation studies). Research Triangle Park, NC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Health and Human Services. No. 371. PB90-256371. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

NTP. 2001. Ninth report on carcinogens. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. http://ehis.niehs.nih.gov/roc/toc9.html. June 2001.

Ogata M. 1984. Estimation of solvent concentrations in ambient air from urinary metabolite levels of workers exposed to solvents. Ind Health 22:319-324. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Ono A, Sekita K, Ogawa Y, et al. 1996. Reproductive and developmental toxicity studies of toluene: II. Effects of inhalation exposure on fertility rats. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 15(1):9-20. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Ono A, Sekita K, Ohno K, et al. 1995. Reproductive and developmental toxicity studies of toluene: I. Teratogenicity study of inhalation exposure in pregnant rats. J Toxicol Sci 20(2):109-34. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Orbaek P, Nise G. 1989. Neurasthenic complaints and psychometric function of toluene-exposed rotogravure printers. Am J Ind Med 16:67-77. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pierce CH, Dills RL, Morgan MS, et al. 1996. Interindividual differences in ${}^{2}H_{8}$ -toluene toxicokinetics assessed by semi-empirical physiologically based model. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 139(1):49-61. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pierce CH, Lewandowski TA, Dills RL, et al. 1999. A comparison of 1H8-toluene toxicokinetics in men. Xenobiotica 29(1):93-108. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pellizzari ED, Wallace LA, Gordon SM. 1992. Elimination kinetics of volatile organics in humans using breath measurements. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol 2(3):341-55. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pryor GT, Rebert CS. 1992. Interactive effects of toluene and hexane on behavior and neurophysiologic responses in Fischer-344 rats. Neurotoxicology 13:225-234. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pryor GT, Dickinson J, Feeney E, et al. 1984a. Hearing loss in rats first exposed to toluene as weanlings or as young adults. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol 6:223-238. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pryor GT, Rebert CS, Dickinson J, et al. 1984b. Factors affecting toluene-induced ototoxicity in rats. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol 6:223-238. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pryor GT, Rebert CS, Kassay K, et al. 1991. The hearing loss associated with exposure to toluene is not caused by metabolite. Brain Res Bull 27:109-113. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Pyykko K, Tahti H, Vapaatalo H. 1977. Toluene concentrations in various tissues of rats after inhalation and oral administration. Arch Toxicol 38:169-176. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Rahill AA, Weiss B, Morrow PE, et al. 1996. Human performance during exposure to toluene. Aviat Space Environ Med 67(7):640-7. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Rea TM, Nash JF, Zabik JE, et al. 1984. Effects of toluene inhalation on brain biogenic amines in the rat. Toxicology 31:143-150. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Rees DC, Wood RW, McMormick JP, et al. 1985. Toxicokinetics of toluene in the rat. Scand J Work Environ Health 11:301-306. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Rosenberg NL, Kleinschmidt-Demasters BK, Davis KA, et al. 1988a. Toluene abuse causes diffuse central nervous system white matter changes. Ann Neurol 23(6):611-614. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Rosenberg NL, Spitz MC, Filley CM, et al. 1988b. Central nervous system effects of chronic toluene abuse clinical, brainstem evoked response and magnetic resonance imaging studies. Neurotoxicol Teratol 10:489-495. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Seidenberg JM, Anderson DG, Becker RA. 1986. Validation of an *in vivo* developmental toxicity screen in the mouse. Teratogenesis Carcinogen Mutagen 6:361-374. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Smith KN. 1983. Determination of the reproductive effects in mice of nine selected chemicals. Bioassay Systems Corporation. NIOSH Contract No. 210-81-6011. BSC Project No. 10867. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Svensson B-G, Nise G, Englander V, et al. 1990. Deaths and tumours among rotogravure printers exposed to toluene. Br J Ind Med 47:372-379. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Svensson B-G, Nise G, Erfurth EM, et al. 1992a. Hormone status in occupational toluene exposure. Am J Ind Med 22:99-107. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Svensson B-G, Nise G, Erfurth EM, et al. 1992b. Neuroendocrine effects in printing workers exposed to toluene. Br J Ind Med 49:402-408. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Tap O, Solmaz S, Polat S, et al. 1996. The effect of toluene on the rat ovary: An ultrastructural study. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 28(4):553-8. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Tardif R, Lapare S, Krishnan K, et al. 1993b. Physiologically based modeling of the toxicokinetic interaction between toluene and m-xylene in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 120:266-273. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Tardif R, Truchon G, Brodeur J. 1998. Comparison of hippuric acid and o-cresol in urine and unchanged toluene in alveolar air for the biological monitoring of exposure to toluene in human volunteers. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 13(2):127-132.

Taskinen H, Anttila A, Lindbohm L, et al. 1989. Spontaneous abortions and congenital malformations among the wives of men occupationally exposed to organic solvents. Scand J Work Environ Health 15:345-352. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Tassaneeyakul W, Birkett DJ, Edwards JW, et al. 1996. Human cytochrome P450 isoform specificity in the regioselective metabolism of toluene and o-, and p-xylene. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 276(1):101-108.

Thiel R, Chahoud I. 1997. Postnatal development and behaviour of Wistar rats after prenatal toluene exposure. Arch Toxicol 71(4):258-65. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Tsuruta H. 1989. Skin absorption of organic solvent vapors in nude mice *in vivo*. Ind Health 27:37-47.

Ungvary G, Tatrai E. 1985. On the embryotoxic effects of benzene and its alkyl derivatives in mice, rats and rabbits. Arch Toxicol (Suppl)8:425-430. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

von Euler G, Fuxe K, Hansson T, et al. 1989. Persistent effects of neonatal toluene exposure on regional brain catecholamine levels and turnover in the adult male rat. Toxicology 54:1-16. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

von Euler G, Ogren S-O, Eneroth P, et al. 1994. Persistent effects of 80 ppm toluene on dopamine-regulated locomotor activity and prolactin secretion in the male rat. Neurotoxicology 15(3):621-4. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

von Euler G, Ogren S-O, Li XM, et al. 1993. Persistent effects of subchronic toluene exposure on spatial learning and memory, dopamine-mediated locomotor activity and dopamine D_2 against binding in the rat. Toxicology 77:223-232. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

von Oettingen WF, Neal PA, Donahue DD, et al. 1942. The toxicity and potential dangers of toluene with special reference to its maximal permissible concentration. U.S. Public Health Service Publication Health Bull No. 279:50. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Vrca A, Bozicevic D, Bozikov V, et al. 1997a. Brain stem evoked potentials and visual evoked potentials in relation to the length of occupational exposure to low levels of toluene. Acta Medica Croatica 51:215-219. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Vrca A, Bozicevic D, Karacic V, et al. 1995. Visual evoked potentials in individuals exposed to long-term low concentrations of toluene. Arch Toxicol 69(5):337-40. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Vrca A, Karacic V, Bozicevic D, et al. 1997b. Cognitive evoked potentials VEP P300 in persons occupationally exposed to low concentrations of toluene. Arh Hig Rada Toksikol 48: 277-285. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Walker JT, Bloom TF, Stern FB, et al. 1993. Mortality of workers employed in shoe manufacturing. Scand J Work Environ Health 19:89-95. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Wood RW, Rees DC, Laties VG. 1983. Behavioral effects of toluene are modulated by stimulus control. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 68:462-472. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Yin S, Li G, Hu Y, et al. 1987. Symptoms and signs of workers exposed to benzene, toluene or the combination. Ind Health 25:113-130.

Zavalic M, Mandic Z, Turk R, et al. 1998a. Assessment of colour vision impairment in male workers exposed to toluene generally above occupational exposure limits. Occup Med 48(3):175-180. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Zavalic M, Mandic Z, Turk R, et al. 1998b. Qualitative assessment of color vision impairment in workers exposed to toluene. Am J Ind Med 33(3): 297-304. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Zavalic M, Mandic Z, Turk R, et al. 1998c. Qualitative color vision impairment in toluene-exposed workers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 71:194-200. (As cited in ATSDR 2000.)

Appendix C: Background Information for Ethylbenzene

This appendix summarizes information on the toxicokinetics, health effects, mechanisms of action, and health guidelines for ethylbenzene. The summaries are mainly based on information presented in the ATSDR (1999b) toxicological profile for ethylbenzene and therefore do not represent reviews of the primary literature. The chemical structure for ethylbenzene is included in Appendix E.

C.1 Toxicokinetics

Ethylbenzene is well absorbed in humans via the inhalation and dermal routes of exposure, although oral absorption data in humans are lacking (ATSDR 1999b). For example, volunteers exposed for 8 hours to ethylbenzene at concentrations of 23–85 ppm were shown to retain 64% of the inspired vapor, with only trace amounts detected in expired air (Bardodej and Bardodejova 1970). Another inhalation study that involved humans exposed to similar levels of ethylbenzene demonstrated mean retention rates of 49%, suggesting possible variability of absorption rates among individuals (Gromiec and Piotrowski 1984). Dermal absorption rates of 24–33 and 0.11–0.23 mg/cm²/hour have been measured for male subjects exposed to liquid ethylbenzene and ethylbenzene from aqueous solutions, respectively (Dutkiewicz and Tyras 1967). The average amounts of ethylbenzene absorbed after volunteers immersed one hand for up to 2 hours in an aqueous solution of 112 or 156 mg/L ethylbenzene were 39.2 and 70.7 mg ethylbenzene, respectively. Animal data support the human inhalation and dermal findings and further indicate that absorption rates are high following oral exposure as well, as indicated by 72–92% urinary recovery of single oral doses in rats and rabbits (Climie et al. 1983; El Masri et al. 1956).

Information on the distribution of ethylbenzene in humans is available from one inhalation study indicating rapid distribution to adipose tissues throughout the body (Engstrom and Bjurstrom 1978). Oral and inhalation studies in animals support these results (Chin et al. 1980a, 1980b; Climie et al.1983). Ethylbenzene is accumulated primarily in the liver, kidney, and fat. In rats, the concentrations of ethylbenzene in perirenal adipose tissue were reported to increase, although not linearly, with increasing concentrations of ethylbenzene and in a mixture of solvent vapors containing ethylbenzene (Elovaara et al. 1982; Engstrom et al. 1985). The less-than-linear increase of ethylbenzene in adipose tissue with increasing dose was partially attributed to the induction of drug-metabolizing enzymes occurring with increasing exposure concentrations, altered blood flow to adipose tissue, changes in lung excretion, and changes in the distribution of ethylbenzene in different tissues.

Ethylbenzene is metabolized in humans mainly through hepatic cytochrome P-450-mediated side chain oxidation (hydroxylation) to initially form 1-phenylethanol, from which several metabolites are produced that are excreted in the urine (ATSDR 1999b). Isozymes involved in the initial oxidation include CYP2E1 and CYP1A2 (Gut et al. 1993). The major urinary metabolites of ethylbenzene in humans exposed via inhalation are mandelic acid (approximately 64–71%) and phenylglyoxylic acid (approximately 19–25%) (Bardodej and Bardodejova 1970; Engstrom et al. 1984). Minor pathways (e.g., ring hydroxylation) in humans yield hydroxylated derivatives (e.g., p-hydroxyacetophenone, m-hydroxyacetophenone, 1-phenyl-1,2-ethanediol, acetophenone, 2-hydroxyacetophenone, and 4-ethylphenol) that are conjugated with glucuronide or sulfate. The principal metabolic pathway in rats is believed to begin with hydroxylation of the side chain as in humans, although the major urinary metabolites following inhalation or oral exposure were identified as hippuric and benzoic acids (approximately 38%), 1-phenylethanol (approximately 25%), and mandelic acid (approximately 15–23%), with phenylglyoxylic acid making up only 10% of the metabolites (Climie et al. 1983; Engstrom 1984; Engstrom et al. 1985). Both in vivo studies using rats and in vitro studies using rat liver microsomes showed that 4-ethylphenol was also produced from ethylbenzene, perhaps by rearrangement of corresponding arene oxides (Bakke and Scheline 1970; Kaubisch et al. 1972). In rabbits, the most important metabolite is hippuric acid, which is probably formed by oxidative decarboxylation of phenylglyoxylic acid, and rabbits have been shown to excrete higher levels of glucuronidated metabolites than humans or rats (ATSDR 1999b).

The elimination of ethylbenzene has been studied in volunteers exposed by inhalation (ATSDR 1999b). The elimination of the major metabolite mandelic acid was reported to be rapid and biphasic, with half-lives of 3.1 hours for the rapid phase and 25 hours for the slow phase (Gromiec and Piotrowski 1984). During an 8-hour inhalation exposure to 4–46 ppm, 23% of the retained ethylbenzene was eliminated in the urine, and 14 hours following termination of exposure, an additional 44% of the retained ethylbenzene was eliminated. The highest excretion rate of urinary metabolites in humans exposed to ethylbenzene by inhalation occurred 6–10 hours after the beginning of exposure and metabolic efficiency was of the exposure dose (Gromiec and Piotrowski 1984; Yamasaki 1984). Data from occupational exposures have generally confirmed these results (Holz et al. 1995; Kawai et al. 1991, 1992; Ogata and Taguchi 1988). In animals, elimination of ethylbenzene metabolites following inhalation or oral exposure is rapid and occurs primarily via urinary metabolites, and to a much lesser degree, via the feces and expired carbon dioxide (ATSDR 1999b). Quantitative and qualitative differences between species were shown to exist in the percentages of metabolites excreted in the urine.

PBPK models have been developed for inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene in rats and humans (Tardif et al. 1997) and for dermal exposure to ethylbenzene in humans (Shatkin and Brown 1991). The dermal model describes the percutaneous absorption of ethylbenzene in dilute aqueous solution.

C.2 Health Effects

Observations in humans and animals indicate that acute high level inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene causes central nervous system effects and irritation of the eyes and respiratory tract that were generally reversible following cessation of exposure (ATSDR 1999b). Information on neurological effects of ethylbenzene in humans is limited to an early report of dizziness accompanied by vertigo following acute exposure to 2,000–5,000 ppm ethylbenzene (Yant et al. 1930). Neurological effects of acute exposure to ≥2,000 ppm in rats, mice, and/or guinea pigs included decreased arousal and rearing, motor disturbances (gait, mobility, and righting reflex), decreased grip strength, increased landing foot splay, impaired psychomotor coordination, and narcotic effects such as prostration and reduced activity (Bio/dynamics 1986; Cragg et al. 1989; Molnar et al. 1986; Tegeris and Balster 1994; Yant et al. 1930). Increased motor activity and sporadic salivation were observed in rats at concentrations of 382–400 ppm and above (Cragg et al. 1989; Molnar et al. 1986). No signs of neurotoxicity were found in rabbits intermittently exposed to 2,400 ppm for 4 days or 1,610 ppm for 4 weeks (Cragg et al. 1989). Changes in dopamine and other biochemical alterations occurred in rats and rabbits exposed to 2,000 and 750 ppm, respectively, for 3-7 days (Andersson et al. 1981; Mutti et al. 1988; Romanelli et al. 1986). Evoked electrical activity in the brain was depressed in rats and mice acutely exposed to 245 and 342 ppm ethylbenzene, respectively (Frantik et al. 1994). Information on oral exposure is limited to a report in which no overt behavioral changes were observed in rats administered ethylbenzene by gavage for 6 months at concentrations ranging from 13.6 to 680 mg/kg/day (Wolf et al. 1956).

Ocular irritation, burning, and lacrimation occurred in humans acutely exposed to ≥1,000 ppm ethylbenzene vapor, and throat irritation and chest congestion were observed at ≥2,000 ppm, and (Cometto-Muniz and Cain 1995; Thienes and Haley 1972; Yant et al. 1930). Animal studies also showed ocular irritation and respiratory effects (e.g., pulmonary congestion and reduced respiratory rate) following acute exposure to concentrations generally above 1,000 ppm (ATSDR 1999b).

Animal data suggest that the liver and kidneys may be a target of toxicity for ethylbenzene. Acute inhalation exposure to high concentrations of ethylbenzene induced effects in the liver that were generally mild and indicative of adaptation (increased metabolism), including increased microsomal enzyme

activity and other biochemical changes, ultrastructural changes, and increased liver weight (Bio/dynamics 1986; Cragg et al. 1989; Elovarra et al. 1985; Wolf et al. 1956). Hepatic histological effects that included necrosis were observed in mice, but not rats, that were exposed to concentrations of ethylbenzene up to 750 ppm for 2 years (NTP 1992). Renal effects manifested as histopathological changes (e.g., tubular swelling and hyperplasia), enzymatic changes, and increased organ weight were observed in a number of species following inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene following acute and longer-term exposure to concentrations generally ≥ 600 and $\geq 1,200$ ppm, respectively (Andrew et al. 1981; Bio/dynamics 1986; Cragg et al. 1989; NTP 1992, 1996; Wolf et al. 1956).

Inconclusive information is available on the hematotoxic potential of ethylbenzene (ATSDR 1999b). Two studies involving long-term monitoring of workers occupationally exposed to ethylbenzene showed conflicting results with respect to effects on the hematopoietic system. One study (Angerer and Wulf 1985) reported an increase in the number of lymphocytes and a decrease in hemoglobin levels, whereas no adverse hematological effects were reported in the other study (Bardodej and Cirek 1988). There was likely simultaneous exposure to other chemicals in both of these studies. Platelet and leukocyte counts were increased in rats exposed to 782 ppm ethylbenzene for 4 weeks, although no hematological effects were observed in rats or other species exposed to similar or higher concentrations (Cragg et al. 1989; NTP 1992; Wolf et al. 1956).

The reproductive effects of ethylbenzene are incompletely characterized, although there are some data suggesting that the male and female reproductive systems may be a target of toxicity. No multigeneration studies have been performed. No histopathological changes were induced in the testes of rat, mice, or rabbits following inhalation exposure to $\leq 2,400$ ppm ethylbenzene for 4 days, rats and mice exposed to ≤ 782 ppm for 4 weeks, or rabbits exposed to $\leq 1,610$ ppm for 4 weeks (Bio/dynamics 1986; Cragg et al. 1989). There were no effects on sperm, length of the estrous cycle, or histopathology of reproductive organs in male or female rats or mice exposed to 975 ppm for 90 days, although chronic exposure to 750 ppm caused increased incidences of testicular tumors in rats (NTP 1992, 1999). Ungvary and Tatrai (1985) reported an increase in postimplantation death in the offspring of rats exposed to ≥ 138 ppm continuously during organogenesis and an increase in abortions in rabbits similarly exposed to 230 ppm. Fertility was reduced in female rats exposed for 3 weeks pre-gestation and during gestation to 1,000 ppm, but the investigators did not consider the effect to be significant (Andrew et al. 1981). Acute oral exposure to 500 or 1,000 mg/kg ethylbenzene decreased peripheral hormone levels and delayed the estrus cycle in female rats during the diestrus stage (Ungvary 1986). Decreased levels of hormones (e.g.,

luteinizing hormone, progesterone, and 17 β -estradiol) were accompanied by uterine changes (increased stromal tissue with dense collagen bundles and reduced lumen), but no dose response was noted.

Developmental toxicity studies in animals indicate that inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene can produce minimal fetotoxic effects at exposure levels that may or may not induce minimal maternal changes (ATSDR 1999b). Effects included skeletal anomalies and supernumerary ribs in offspring of rats that were intermittently exposed to 959 ppm of ethylbenzene during gestation (Andrew et al. 1981). Extra ribs and anomalies of the urinary tract occurred in fetuses of rats continuously exposed to 552 ppm ethylbenzene during gestation, and urinary tract anomalies were also increased in fetal mice similarly exposed to 115 ppm (Ungvary and Tatrai 1985).

Ethylbenzene was not genotoxic in most studies, although some marginal effects have been reported. Workers exposed to low levels of ethylbenzene in a styrene plant showed no increases in sister chromatid exchanges, DNA adduct formation, micronuclei, or DNA single-strand breaks in the peripheral lymphocytes (Holz et al. 1995). Micronucleated peripheral erythrocytes were not increased in mice that were exposed to 750 ppm ethylbenzene for 13 weeks (NTP 1999). Ethylbenzene was generally not mutagenic in bacteria or yeast cells *in vitro*, and did not induce sister chromatid exchanges or chromosomal aberrations in Chinese hamster cells (ATSDR 1999b). A weak positive response was observed when ethylbenzene was tested for sister chromatid exchanges in human lymphocytes *in vitro*, but only at a concentration that was toxic to the cells (Norppa and Vainio 1983). A positive response also was seen in mouse lymphoma cells when ethylbenzene was tested at a near lethal concentration (McGregor et al. 1988).

The carcinogenicity of ethylbenzene has been examined in three studies: an epidemiological study of humans occupationally exposed by inhalation (Bardodej and Cirek 1988), a chronic inhalation bioassay in rats and mice (Chan et al. 1998; NTP 1999), and a chronic oral study in rats (Maltoni et al. 1985). The results of both the human epidemiological study and the oral study in rats were inconclusive. The inhalation bioassay intermittently exposed rats and mice to ≤750 ppm ethylbenzene for 104 weeks and concluded that there was clear evidence of carcinogenic activity in male rats based on increased incidences of renal tubule neoplasms and testicular adenomas (Chan et al. 1998; NTP 1999). The inhalation study also concluded that there was some evidence of carcinogenic activity in female rats based on increased incidences of renal tubule adenoma, in male mice based on increased incidences of alveolar/bronchiolar neoplasms, and in female mice based on increased incidences of hepatocellular neoplasms.

C.3 Mechanisms of Action

Relatively little information exists regarding the mechanism of ethylbenzene toxicity. Most studies have focused on the possible mechanism of neurotoxicity. In vitro studies on the mechanism of toxicity of ethylbenzene have focused on the effect of this chemical on cell membranes, particularly that of the astrocyte (Engelke et al. 1993; Naskali et al. 1993, 1994; Sikkema et al. 1995; Vaalavirta and Tähti 1995a, 1995b). It has been suggested that changes in the structure and integrity of the cell membrane after partitioning of ethylbenzene into the lipid bilayer may be a mechanism of toxicity of ethylbenzene (Sikkema et al. 1995). Changes in the integrity of the cell membrane may subsequently affect the function of membrane, particularly as a barrier and in energy transduction, and in the formation of a matrix for proteins and enzymes. Engelke et al. (1993) showed that incubation of pig liver microsomes with ethylbenzene caused an accumulation of ethylbenzene in the microsomal membrane, which, in turn, increased the fluidity of the membrane. Although incubation of the microsomal membranes with ethylbenzene did not change the content of cytochrome P-450 or cytochrome b₅ content, or the activities of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (oxidized form) (NADPH)-cytochrome P-450 reductase or nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced form) (NADH)-cytochrome b₅ reductase, a change in the reduction kinetics of these enzymes was observed. The authors proposed that the observed change in kinetics may be due to a rearrangement of the cytochrome P-450 molecules in the microsomal membrane as a result of the accumulation of ethylbenzene in the membrane.

Vaalavirta and Tähti (1995a, 1995b) and Naskali et al. (1993, 1994) investigated the effect of ethylbenzene on the membrane of the rat astrocyte as an *in vitro* model for the membrane-mediated effects of solvents on the central nervous system. Cultured astrocytes from the cerebellum of neonatal Sprague-Dawley rats were sensitive to the effects of ethylbenzene, as measured by the inhibition of activity of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase, and Mg⁺⁺-ATPase (Vaalavirta and Tähti 1995a, 1995b). This effect was found to be dose-dependent (Naskali et al. 1994). Inhibition of these membrane-bound enzymes that regulate the ion channels of the membrane may disturb the ability of the cells to maintain homeostasis. Experiments with rat synaptosome preparations, similar to those using microsomal preparations by Engelke et al. (1993), showed that membrane fluidity was increased after exposure to ethylbenzene. ATPase and acetylcholinesterase activity were also decreased, as seen in the astrocyte preparations. Results from the *in vitro* studies described above are consistent with what would be expected of the interaction of a lipophilic chemical with cell membranes. However, there is no direct evidence that the interaction of ethylbenzene with astrocytes *in vivo* is the mechanism of neurological effects following acute exposure to high levels of ethylbenzene in humans or in animals.

The mechanism(s) of toxic effects of ethylbenzene on organs or systems other than the nervous system has not been elucidated, but is likely to be related to the formation of reactive metabolites that ultimately bind to cell macromolecules (ATSDR 1999b; NTP 1999).

C.4 Health Guidelines

ATSDR (1999b) derived an intermediate-duration inhalation MRL of 1.0 ppm for ethylbenzene based on a NOAEL of 97 ppm for developmental effects (skeletal anomalies) in rats (Andrew et al. 1981). The animal NOAEL was converted to a NOAEL_(HEC) of 97 ppm and divided by an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for extrapolation from animals to humans and 10 to account for human variability) to yield the MRL. The animals were exposed for 7 hours/day, 5 days/week for 3 weeks prior to mating and subsequently through gestation day 19.

No acute- or chronic-duration inhalation MRLs were derived for ethylbenzene due to a lack of appropriate data (ATSDR 1999b).

No acute-, intermediate-, or chronic-duration oral MRLs were derived for ethylbenzene due to a lack of appropriate data (ATSDR 1999b).

The EPA IRIS database lists an RfD and an RfC for ethylbenzene (IRIS 2001). The RfD is based on a NOAEL of 136 mg/kg/day (converted to 97 mg/kg/day) for liver and kidney toxicity in rats (Wolf et al. 1956) and an uncertainty factor of 1,000 (10 for subchronic-to-chronic extrapolation, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability). The animals were exposed to ethylbenzene in olive oil by gavage 5 days/week for 182 days.

The EPA RfC for ethylbenzene is based on a NOAEL of 100 ppm for developmental toxicity in rats and rabbits (Andrew et al. 1981; Hardin et al. 1981) and an uncertainty factor of 300 (3 for extrapolation from animals to humans, 10 for human variability, and 10 for database deficiencies) (IRIS 2001). The animals were exposed 6–7 hours/day during days 1–19 (rats) and days 1–24 (rabbits) of gestation.

ACGIH (2001) recommends a TLV-TWA of 100 ppm and STEL/C of 125 ppm for ethylbenzene based on irritation and central nervous system effects.

The NTP (2001) has not listed ethylbenzene as a known or anticipated human carcinogen. EPA determined that ethylbenzene is not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity (Category D) due to lack of animal bioassay and human data (IRIS 2001). The NTP and EPA assessments predate the positive findings of the NTP (1999) carcinogenesis bioassay in rats and mice. IARC (2000) concluded that ethylbenzene is possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) based on inadequate evidence in humans and sufficient evidence in animals.

C.5 References

ACGIH. 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.

Andersson K, Fuxe K, Nilsen OG, et al. 1981. Production of discrete changes in dopamine and nonadrenaline levels and turnover in various parts of the rat brain following exposures to xylene, *ortho-*, *meta-*, and *para-*xylene, and ethylbenzene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 60:535-548.

Andrew FD, Buschbom RL, Cannon WC, et al. 1981. Teratologic assessment of ethylbenzene and 2-ethoxyethanol. Richland, WA: Batelle Pacific Northwest Laboratory. PB83-208074., 108. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Angerer J, Wulf H. 1985. Occupational chronic exposure to organic solvents. XI. Alkylbenzene exposure of varnish workers: Effects on hematopoietic system. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 56:307-321.

ATSDR. 1999b. Toxicological profile for ethylbenzene. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Bakke OM, Scheline RR. 1970. Hydroxylation of aromatic hydrocarbons in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 16:691-700. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Bardodej Z, Bardodejova E. 1970. Biotransformation of ethylbenzene, styrene, and alpha-methylstyrene in man. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 31:1-5. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Bardodej Z, Cirek A. 1988. Long-term study on workers occupationally exposed to ethylbenzene. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbial Immunol 32:1-5. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Bio/dynamics. 1986. A four day inhalation study of ethylbenzene in the rat, mouse, and rabbit. Submitted to the US EPA/OTS Public Files. Document #86870000432. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Chan PC, Haseman JK, Mahler J, et al. 1998. Tumor induction in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice following inhalation exposure to ethylbenzene. Toxicol Lett 99:23-32. (As cited in IARC 2000.)

Chin BH, McKelvey JA, Calisti LJ, et al. 1980a. A comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* (tissue explant) techniques: Metabolic profile of ethylbenzene in the rat and the dog. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 25:241-245. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Chin BJ, McKelvey JA, Tyler TR, et al. 1980b. Absorption, distribution, and excretion of ethylbenzene, ethylcyclohexane, and methylethylbenzene isomers in rats. Bull Env Contam Toxicol 24:477-483. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Climie IJG, Hutson DH, Stoydin G. 1983. The metabolism of ethylbenzene hydroperoxide in the rat. Xenobiotica 13:611-618. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Cometto-Muniz JE, Cain WS. 1995. Relative sensitivity of the ocular trigeminal, nasal trigeminal and olfactory systems to airborne chemicals. Chemical Senses 20(2):191-198. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Cragg ST, Clarke EA, Daly IW, et al. 1989. Subchronic inhalation toxicity of ethylbenzene in mice, rats, and rabbits. Fundam Appl Toxicol 13(3):399-408. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Dutkiewicz T, Tyras H. 1967. A study of the skin absorption of ethylbenzene in man. Brit J Ind Med 24:330-332. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

El Masri AM, Smith JN, Williams RT. 1956. The metabolism of alkylbenzenes: n-Propylbenzene and n-butylbenzene with further observations on ethylbenzene. Biochem J 64:50-56. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Elovaara E, Engstrom K, Nickels J, et al. 1985. Biochemical and morphological effects of long-term inhalation exposure of rats to ethylbenzene. Xenobiotica. 15:299-308. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Elovaara E, Engstrom K, Vainio H. 1982. Unaltered metabolism of m-xylene in the presence of ethylbenzene. Dev Biochem 23:265-268. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Engelke M, Bergmann U, Diehl HA. 1993. Fluidity of the microsomal membrane and cytochrome P450 reduction kinetics of pig liver microsomes as a consequence of organic solvent impact. Xenobiotica 23(1):71-78. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Engstrom J, Bjurstrom R. 1978. Exposure to xylene and ethylbenzene. II. Concentration in subcutaneous adipose tissue. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:195-203. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Engstrom K, Elovaara E, Aitio A. 1985. Metabolism of ethylbenzene in the rat during long-term intermittent inhalation exposure. Xenobiotica 15:281-286. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Engstrom K, Riihinaki V, Laine A. 1984. Urinary disposition of ethylbenzene and —xylene in man following separate and combined exposure. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 54:355-363. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Frantik E, Hornychova M, Horvath M. 1994. Relative acute neurotoxicity of solvents: Isoeffective air concentrations of 48 compounds evaluated in rats and mice. Environ Res 66(2):173-185. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Gromiec JP, Piotroski JK. 1984. Urinary mandelic-acid as an exposure test for ethylbenzene. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 55:61-72. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Gut I, Terelius Y, Frantík E, et al. 1993. Exposure to various benzene derivatives differently induces cytochromes P450 2B1 and P450 2E1 in rat liver. Arch Toxicol 67:237-243.

Hardin BD, Bond GP, Sikov MR, et al. 1981. Testing of selected workplace chemicals for teratogenic potential. Scand J Work Environ Health 7 (Suppl. 4):66-75. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Holz O, Scherer G, Brodtmeier S, et al. 1995. Determination of low level exposure to volatile aromatic hydrocarbons and genotoxic effects in workers at a styrene plant. Environ Med 52(6):420-428. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

IARC. 2000. Some industrial chemicals. Ethylbenzene. Volume 77. In: IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 227-266.

IRIS. 2001. Ethylbenzene. Integrated Risk Information System, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0051.htm.

Kaubisch N, Daly JW, Jerina DM. 1972. Arene oxides as intermediate in the oxidative metabolism of aromatic compounds. Isomerization of methyl-substituted arene oxides. Biochemistry 11:3080-3088. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Kawai T, Mizunuma K, Yasugi T, et al. 1991. Urinary methylhippuric acid isomer levels after occupational exposure to a xylene mixture. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 63(1):69-75.

Kawai T, Yasugi T, Mizunuma K, et al. 1992. Comparative evaluation of urinalysis and blood analysis as means of detecting exposure to organic solvents at low concentrations. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64(4):223-234.

Maltoni C, Conti B, Cotti G, et al. 1985. Experimental studies on benzene carcinogenicity at the Bologna Institute of Oncology: Current results and ongoing research. Am J Ind Med 7:415-446. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

McGregor DB, Brown A, Cattanach P, et al. 1988. Responses of the L5178Y tk+/tk- mouse lymphoma cell forward mutation assay: III. 72 Coded chemicals. Environ Mol Mutag 12:85-154. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Molnar J, Paksy KA, Naray M. 1986. Changes in the rat's motor behaviour during 4-hr inhalation exposure to prenarcotic concentrations of benzene and its derivatives. Acta Physiol Hung 67:349-354. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Mutti A, Falzoi H, Romanelli A, et al. 1988. Brain dopamine as a target for solvent toxicity: Effects of some monocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Naskali L, Engelke M, Tahti H, et al. 1993. The effects of selected organic solvents on rat synaptosomal membrane fluidity and integral enzyme activities. Neurosci Res Commun 13(1):27-35. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Naskali L, Oksanen H, Tahti H. 1994. Astrocytes as targets for CNS effects of organic solvents *in vitro*. Neurotoxicology. 15(3):609-612. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Norppa H, Vainio H. 1983. Induction of sister-chromatid exchanges by styrene analogues in cultured human lymphocytes. Mutat Res 116:379-387. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

NTP. 1992. Draft, Subchronic and chronic toxicity study of ethylbenzene: 90-day subchronic study report on inhalation exposure of F344/N rats B6C3F1 mice. Chicago, Illinois: National Toxicology Program. October 27, 1988. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

NTP. 1996. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of ethylbenzene in F355/N rats and B6C3F1 mice. Inhalation studies TR-466. (DRAFT). (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

NTP. 1999. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of ethylbenzene in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (Inhalation studies). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. TR No. 466.

NTP. 2001. Ninth report on carcinogens. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. http://ehis.niehs.nih.gov/roc/toc9.html. June 2001.

Ogata M, Taguchi T. 1988. Simultaneous determination of urinary creatinine and metabolites of toluene, xylene, styrene, ethylbenzene and phenol by automated high performance liquid chromatography. Environ Health 61(½):131-140. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Romanelli A, Falzoi M, Mutti A, et al. 1986. Effects of some monocyclic aromatic solvents and their metabolites on brain dopamine in rabbits. J Appl Toxicol 6(6):431-435. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Shatkin JA, Brown HS. 1991. Pharmacokinetics of the dermal route of exposure to volatile organic chemicals in water: A computer simulation model. Environ Res 56(1):90-108. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Sikkema J, De Bont J AM, Poolman B. 1995. Mechanisms of membrane toxicity of hydrocarbons. Microbiol Rev 59(2):201-222. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Tardif R, Charest-Tarif G, Brodeur J, et al. 1997. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of a ternary mixture of alkyl benzenes in rats and humans. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 144:120-134.

Tegeris JS, Balster RL. 1994. A comparison of the acute behavioral effects of alkylbenzenes using a functional observational battery in mice. Fund Appl Toxicol 22(2):240-250. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Thienes C, Haley TJ. 1972. Clinical toxicology. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lea and Febiger, 126. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Ungvary G. 1986. Solvent effects on reproduction: Experimental Toxicity. 220:169-177. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Ungvary G, Tatrai E. 1985. On the embryotoxic effects of benzene and its alkyl derivatives in mice, rats and rabbits. Arch Toxicol (Suppl) 8:425-430. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Vaalavirta L, Tahti H. 1995a. Astrocyte membrane Na+, K(+)-ATPase and Mg(2+)-ATPase as targets of organic solvent impact. Life Sci 57(24):2223-2230. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Vaalavirta L, Tahti H. 1995b. Effects of selected organic solvents on the astrocyte membrane ATPase *in vitro*. Clin Exper Pharmacol Physiol 22(4):293-294. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Wolf MA, Rowe VK, McCollister DD, et al. 1956. Toxicological studies of certain alkylated benzenes and benzene: Experiments on laboratory animals. AMA Arch Ind Health 14:387-398. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Yamasaki Y. 1984. [The determination of urinary metabolites of ethylbenzene by high performance liquid chromatography]. Okayama Igakkai Zasshi 96:531-535. (Japanese). (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Yant WP, Schrenk HH, Waite CP, et al. 1930. Acute response of guinea pigs to vapors of some new commercial organic compounds. II. Ethylbenzene. Pub Health Rep 45:1241-1250. (As cited in ATSDR 1999b.)

Appendix D: Background Information for Xylenes

This appendix summarizes information on the toxicokinetics, health effects, mechanisms of action, and health guidelines for xylenes. The summaries are mainly based on information presented in the ATSDR (1995) toxicological profile for xylenes and therefore do not represent reviews of the primary literature. The chemical structures for xylenes are included in Appendix E.

D.1 Toxicokinetics

Xylenes are well absorbed by the inhalation and oral routes. Experimental studies with humans found that retention of the various isomers was similar following inhalation of either o-, m-, or p-xylene and averaged 63.6% (Sedivec and Flek 1976). Other investigators have estimated that between 49.8 and 72.8% of inhaled xylene is retained in humans (ATSDR 1995). There appear to be two phases of respiratory absorption; the first is apparently short, occurring within 15 minutes of initiation of exposure, and the second phase is longer (about 1 hour) and represents the establishment of an equilibrium between the inhaled xylene and blood (ATSDR 1995). Oral absorption data are limited, but indicate that almost complete absorption (87–92%) occurred in rabbits following ingestion of a 1.7–1.8 g dose of o-, m-, or p-xylene. Dermal absorption may occur via exposure to xylene vapors as well as through direct dermal contact with the liquid (ATSDR 1995). Xylenes are absorbed dermally to a much lesser extent than by inhalation or oral exposure, especially following dermal exposure to xylene vapor (Riihimaki and Pfaffli 1978). Absorption of m-xylene vapor through human skin was determined to be approximately 0.1–2% of that of via inhalation exposure (Riihimaki and Pfaffli 1978). Based on breath sampling and PBPK analysis following vapor exposure, the contribution to m-xylene body burden from the dermal route was estimated to be 1.8%. The rate of dermal absorption varied in two human studies of m-xylene, ranging from approximately 2 µg/cm²/minute in one study to 75–160 µg/cm²/minute in the other (Dutkiewicz and Tyras 1968; Engstrom et al. 1977).

Absorbed xylene is mainly distributed to lipid-rich tissues, particularly adipose and brain (ATSDR 1995). High uptake also occurs in well-perfused organs such as the liver and kidneys. Estimates of the amount of inhaled xylene accumulated in human adipose tissue range from 5 to 10% of the absorbed dose (Astrand 1982; Engstrom and Bjurstrom 1978). The level of xylenes detected in mouse fetal tissues (brain, liver, lung, kidney), which are low in lipids, was only 2% of that found in the maternal brain tissue, which contains large amounts of lipids (Ghantous and Danielsson 1986).

Metabolism of xylenes in humans occurs primarily by hepatic cytochrome P-450-catalyzed oxidation of a side-chain methyl group to yield methylbenzoic acids (o-, m-, or p-toluic acids), which are conjugated with glycine to form methylhippuric acids (ATSDR 1995; Gut et al. 1993; Tassaneeyakul et al. 1996). Important CYP isozymes involved in the methylhydroxylation include CYP2E1 and CYP2B1, and metabolism to methylhippuric acids accounts for almost all (>90%) of the absorbed dose in humans, regardless of the isomer, route of administration, or dose or duration of exposure. Minor metabolic pathways that account for <10% of the absorbed dose in humans include unchanged xylene in the exhaled breath, and methylbenzyl alcohols, o-toluic acid glucuronide, xylene mercapturic acid, and xylenols (dimethylphenols) in the urine. CYP1A2 appears to be involved in the formation of the minor phenolic metabolites. The metabolism of xylenes in rats and other laboratory animals is qualitatively similar to that of humans, although glucuronide conjugates make up a larger proportion of the urinary excretion products. A toxic metabolite of xylenes in rats and rabbits that has not been confirmed in humans appears to be methylbenzaldehyde (Carlone and Fouts 1974; Patel et al. 1978; Smith et al. 1982), which is formed by the action of alcohol dehydrogenase on methylbenzyl alcohol in lung and liver tissues. Some studies indicate that the metabolic differences in humans and animals may partly be explained by differences in the size of doses (ATSDR 1995).

In humans, about 95% of absorbed xylene isomers is excreted as urinary metabolites, almost exclusively as methylhippuric acids, with the most of the remaining amount eliminated unchanged in the exhaled air (ATSDR 1995). Less than 0.005 and 2% of the absorbed dose is excreted in the urine unchanged and as xylenols, respectively. There appear to be at least two distinct phases of elimination, a relatively rapid one (1-hour half-life) and a slower one (20-hour half-life, corresponding to elimination from the muscles and adipose tissue). PBPK modeling suggests that the urinary excretion of *m*-methylhippuric acid in humans following inhalation of *m*-xylene is linear at concentrations up to 500 ppm (Kaneko et al. 1991a, 1991b). Humans exposed to 100 or 200 ppm *m*-xylene for 7 hours excreted 54 and 61%, respectively, of the administered dose by 18 hours after exposure ended (Ogata et al. 1970). Following intermittent acute exposure to 23, 69, or 138 ppm *m*-xylene, excretion of *m*-methylhippuric acid peaked 6–8 hours after exposure began and subsequently decreased rapidly so that almost no xylene or methylippuric acid was detected 24 hours later (Senczuk and Orlowski 1978).

PBPK models have been developed for inhalation exposure to *m*-xylene in rats and humans (Lapare et al. 1993; Tardif et al. 1993b, 1995).

D.2 Health Effects

Health effects of mixed xylenes, o-xylene, m-xylene, and p-xylene appear to be similar, although the individual isomers are not necessarily equal in potency with respect to a particular effect (ATSDR 1995). Studies in humans and animals document that the central nervous system is a major and sensitive target of xylene toxicity by the inhalation and oral routes. Human experimental studies indicate that acute inhalation exposure to 100 ppm mixed xylene or 200 ppm m-xylene causes impaired short-term memory, impaired reaction time, performance decrements in numerical ability, and alterations in equilibrium and body balance (Gamberale et al. 1978; Riihimaki and Savolainen 1980; Savolainen and Linnavuo 1979; Savolainen and Riihimaki 1981; Savolainen et al. 1979, 1980, 1984, 1985a, 1985b). Case and occupational studies together provide suggestive supportive evidence that acute and chronic inhalation exposure to xylene or solvent mixtures containing xylene may also be associated with many neurotoxic effects (ATSDR 1995). Neurological effects in orally- or dermally-exposed humans have not been studied. Animal studies provide further evidence that mixed xylenes and individual isomers are neurotoxicants following inhalation exposure at concentrations ranging from 160 to 2,000 ppm. Signs of neurotoxicity observed in rats, mice, and gerbils following acute- and intermediate-duration inhalation exposure to various xylene isomers have included narcosis, prostration, incoordination, tremors, muscular spasms, labored respiration, behavioral changes, elevated auditory thresholds and hearing loss, and changes in brain enzyme activity and levels of brain proteins (ATSDR 1995). Neurotoxic effects were also induced in the offspring of rats exposed by inhalation during gestation, including impaired performance in tests for neuromotor abilities (Rotarod) and learning and memory (Morris water maze) and delayed ontogeny of the air righting reflex (ATSDR 1995; Hass and Jakobsen 1993). Effects indicative of central nervous system toxicity (e.g., increased latency of visual-evoked potentials, lethargy, tremors, convulsions, respiratory depression, weakness, unsteadiness, and hyperactivity) similarly occurred in animals following acute-, intermediate-, and chronic-duration oral exposure to xylenes, although most of these were serious nonthreshold effects that occurred at high doses (ATSDR 1995).

Xylene is irritating to the to the respiratory tract, eyes, and skin. Adverse respiratory effects that have been observed in humans and animals following acute-, intermediate-, and/or chronic-duration inhalation exposure xylene include nose and throat irritation, labored breathing, and pulmonary congestion, inflammation, and edema (ATSDR 1995). LOAELs for these effects are incompletely characterized, although there are reports of nose and throat irritation following acute-, and chronic-duration inhalation exposures to concentrations of 100–200 and 14 ppm, respectively (Hake et al. 1981; Nelson et al. 1943; Uchida et al. 1993).

Xylene can affect the liver and kidney effects at exposure levels higher than the LOAELs for neurological effects and respiratory irritation. Inhalation or oral exposure to mixed xylenes and/or individual isomers produced hepatic effects in animals that appear to have been generally mild and adaptive in nature, including hepatic cytochrome P-450 content, proliferation of hepatic endoplasmic reticulum, increased liver weight, decreased hepatic glycogen, decreased hexobarbital sleeping time, and/or congestion of liver cells (ATSDR 1995). Occupational studies provide suggestive evidence that humans exposed to high inhalation levels of solvent mixtures containing xylene may be at increased risk of developing renal dysfunction and/or damage (ATSDR 1995). Renal effects such as increased blood urea concentrations, decreased urinary clearance of endogenous creatinine, increased lysozymuria, increased urinary levels of β-glucuronidase, and increased urinary excretion of albumin, erythrocytes, and leukocytes were observed, but the effects are not solely attributable to xylene due to the confounding exposures. Kidney effects found in inhalation and oral studies in animals included increased renal enzyme activity, increased cytochrome P-450 content, and increased kidney weight without histopathological alterations.

Human and animal data provide no indications of adverse hematological effects following inhalation of xylene. In the past, chronic occupational exposure to xylene was thought to be associated with a variety of hematological effects. However, exposure in all cases was to solvent mixtures known or suspected to contain benzene, and because benzene causes leukemia and other blood dyscrasias in humans, these effects cannot be attributed solely to xylene (ATSDR 1995). Hematological effects were not observed in an occupational study of xylene-exposed workers in which no benzene was involved (Uchida et al. 1993), or in rats, dogs, or guinea pigs exposed by inhalation to 810 ppm mixed xylenes or 780 ppm *o*-xylene for intermediate durations (Carpenter et al. 1975; Jenkins et al. 1970).

Information on the developmental toxicity of xylenes in humans is limited to a few occupational studies that are inadequate for assessing the relationship between exposure to xylenes and developmental effects due to concurrent exposure to other solvents and small numbers of subjects (ATSDR 1995). In animals, inhalation exposure to mixed xylenes (500 ppm) or the individual isomers (350–700 ppm) produced fetotoxic effects in rats, mice, and rabbits, including increased incidences of skeletal variations in fetuses, delayed ossification, fetal resorptions, hemorrhages in fetal organs, and decreased fetal body weight (Balogh et al. 1982; Bio/dynamics 1983; Hass and Jakobsen 1993; Hudak and Ungvary 1978; Litton Bionetics 1978; Mirkova et al. 1983; Ungvary 1985; Ungvary and Tatrai 1985; Ungvary et al. 1980, 1981). The levels at which these effects occurred were generally maternotoxic (ATSDR 1995). Milder neurodevelopmental effects occurred in rats at lower gestational inhalation exposure levels (200–500 ppm) that did not induce maternal toxicity, including impaired performance in tests for

neuromotor (Rotarod) and learning and memory (Morris water maze) abilities, and delayed ontogeny of the air righting reflex (ATSDR 1995; Hass and Jakobsen 1993). A LOAEL of 200 ppm for impaired Rotarod performance was identified in 1- and 2-day-old rat pups that were intermittently exposed to mixed xylenes during gestation (Hass and Jakobsen 1993). An oral study found that mixed xylenes-induced cleft plate and decreased fetal weight in mice exposed to maternally toxic doses (Marks et al. 1982), and a dermal study found changes in brain enzymes (cholinesterase, cytochrome) in the brain of fetal rats (Mirkova et al. 1979).

Information on the reproductive toxicity of xylenes in humans is limited to two studies that found an increased incidence of spontaneous abortions following paternal exposure (Taskinen et al. 1989) or maternal exposure (Taskinen et al. 1994). These findings are inconclusive due to study limitations including multiple chemical exposures and small population size. No reproductive effects were found in rats following inhalation of 500 ppm mixed xylenes from before mating through lactation (Bio/dynamics 1983), but only one generation was assessed and this was primarily a developmental toxicity study. No changes in the histology of the testes and accessory glands or circulating male hormone levels occurred in rats following exposure to 1,000 ppm mixed xylenes for 61 days (Nylen et al. 1989). No histopathological changes were found in reproductive tissues of male and female rats and mice following intermediate- or chronic-duration oral exposure to mixed xylene or its isomers at doses as high as 500–2,000 mg/kg/day (NTP 1986; Wolfe 1988a, 1988b).

Human carcinogenicity data consist of limited and inconclusive occupational studies that examined risks of cancer and leukemia among workers exposed to xylenes together with other solvents (Arp et al. 1983; Wilkosky et al. 1984). Animal carcinogenicity data for xylenes are limited to equivocal oral studies with mixed xylenes (Maltoni et al. 1983, 1985; NTP 1986), and dermal initiation/promotion studies suggesting that xylene may be a promoter for skin cancer and might also act as an initiator or cocarcinogen (Berenblum 1941; Pound 1970; Pound and Withers 1963). No animal carcinogenicity data for xylenes are available for inhalation exposure. The insufficiencies of the available data preclude concluding that there is a causal relationship between xylene exposure and cancer. Mixed xylenes and the individual xylene isomers have been tested for genotoxicity in a variety of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays with predominantly negative results, indicating that xylenes are nongenotoxic (ATSDR 1995).

D.3 Mechanisms of Action

The mechanisms by which xylene exerts its toxic effects are not completely understood, although a number of theories exist pertaining to induction of effects in the nervous system, developing fetus, lung, and kidney. The central nervous system toxicity observed during exposure to high concentrations of xylene has been attributed to the liposolubility of xylene in the neuronal membrane (Desi et al. 1967; EPA 1985; Gerarde 1959; Savolainen and Pfaffli 1980; Tahti 1992). It has been suggested that xylene disturbs the action of proteins essential to normal neuronal function. This is similar to the way general anesthetic agents work, (i.e., either by a disruption of the lipid environment in which membrane proteins function or by direct interaction with the hydrophobic/hydrophilic conformation of proteins in the membranes). Changes in levels of various neurotransmitters and lipid composition have been observed in several brain areas following acute- and intermediate-duration exposure to xylene (Andersson et al. 1981; Honma et al. 1983; Savolainen and Seppalainen 1979). It is unclear whether these represent direct effects of xylene or are secondary changes resulting from nonspecific central nervous system depression. Some authors have also suggested that metabolic intermediates, such as arene oxides or methylbenzaldehyde, may be responsible for the toxic effects of xylene (Savolainen and Pfaffli 1980). Oxidation of xylene to these intermediates by microsomal enzyme systems may occur within brain cells (Savolainen and Pfaffli 1980).

Inhibition of pulmonary microsomal enzymes has been observed by several investigators (Elovaara et al. 1987; Patel et al. 1978; Silverman and Schatz 1991; Smith et al. 1982; Stickney et al. 1989). The exact mechanism of the enzyme inhibition is unknown, but has been attributed to the formation of a toxic reactive metabolite (such as methylbenzaldehyde) that binds directly to microsomal protein and inactivates the microsomal enzymes (Patel et al. 1978; Smith et al. 1982). Direct effects on microsomal membrane fluidity and/or lipid content do not appear to be involved (Stickney et al. 1989).

The mechanism for xylene-related renal toxicity is unknown, but may be related to the formation of reactive metabolites and subsequent irritation or direct membrane fluidization (EPA 1985). In humans exposed to solvent mixtures containing xylene, the increased urinary levels of β -glucuronidase have been proposed to be due to a faster cellular turnover in the renal tubular epithelium because of a mild toxicity (Franchini et al. 1983). The lysozymuria and increase in urinary excretion of albumin may be indicative of potential damage to the renal tubules and renal glomeruli, respectively (Askergren 1982; Franchini et al. 1983).

The exact mechanism by which mixed xylenes produce toxic effects in fetuses has not been fully investigated. The information on mechanisms of neurotoxicity in the preceding paragraph is relevant to exposed offspring as well as adults. Based on results of studies with rats, *p*-xylene-induced delayed fetal development may be related to decreased levels of progesterone and estradiol (Ungvary et al. 1981). The reduced levels of these hormones may have been due to increased microsomal enzyme activity and increased hormone catabolism.

D.4 Health Guidelines

ATSDR (1995) derived an acute-duration inhalation MRL of 1 ppm for mixed xylenes based on a LOAEL of 100 ppm for neurological effects (increased reaction times) in humans (Dudek et al. 1990) and an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for use of a LOAEL and 10 for human variability). Volunteers were exposed to xylenes for 4 hours.

ATSDR (1995) derived an intermediate-duration inhalation MRL of 0.7 ppm for mixed xylenes based on a LOAEL of 200 ppm for neurodevelopmental effects (reduced rotarod performance in offspring) in rats (Hass and Jakobsen 1993) and an uncertainty factor of 300 (10 for use of a LOAEL, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 3 for human variability). The animals were exposed 6 hours/day on gestation days 4–20.

ATSDR (1995) derived a chronic-duration inhalation MRL of 0.1 ppm for mixed xylenes based on a LOAEL of 14 ppm for subjective neurological effects (symptoms including anxiety, forgetfulness, and inability to concentrate) and eye and respiratory tract irritation in humans (Uchida et al. 1993) and an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for use of a LOAEL and 10 human variability). Workers were occupationally exposed to xylenes for an average of 7 years.

ATSDR (1995) derived an acute-duration oral MRL of 1 mg/kg/day for *p*-xylene based on a NOAEL of 125 mg/kg/day for neurological effects (altered visual evoked potentials) in rats (Dyer et al.1988) and an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for extrapolation from animals to humans and 10 for human variability). The animals were administered a single dose of *p*-xylene in oil.

ATSDR (1995) derived an intermediate-duration oral MRL of 0.2 mg/kg/day for mixed xylenes based on a LOAEL of 150 mg/kg/day for renal toxicity (early chronic nephropathy) in rats (Condie et al. 1988) and an uncertainty factor of 1,000 (10 for use of a LOAEL, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and

10 for human variability). The animals were administered mixed xylenes in oil by gavage daily for 90 days.

ATSDR (1995) derived an intermediate-duration oral MRL of 0.6 mg/kg/day for *m*-xylene based on a LOAEL of 800 mg/kg/day for hepatic toxicity (increased plasma alanine aminotransferase and plasma membrane damage) in rats (Elovaara et al. 1989) and an uncertainty factor of 1,000 (10 for use of a LOAEL, 10 for extrapolation from animals to humans, and 10 for human variability). The animals were administered *m*-xylene in oil by gavage 5 days/week for 3.3 weeks.

ATSDR (1995) did not derive oral MRLs for *o*-xylene for any duration period, or chronic-duration oral MRLs for mixed xylenes or any xylene isomer, due to lack of suitable data.

The EPA IRIS database lists an oral RfD, but no inhalation RfC for xylenes (IRIS 2001). The RfD is based on a NOAEL of 250 mg/kg/day (converted to 179 mg/kg/day) for neurological effects in rats (NTP 1986) and an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 for extrapolation from animals to humans and 10 for human variability). The animals were administered mixed xylenes by gavage 5 days/week for 103 weeks. ACGIH (2001) recommends a TLV-TWA of 100 ppm and STEL/C of 150 ppm for xylene (o-, m-, and p-isomers) based on irritation in humans.

The NTP (2001) has not listed xylenes as a known or anticipated human carcinogen. EPA determined that mixed xylenes are not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity (Category D) based on no human data and inadequate animal data (IRIS 2001). IARC (1999b) concluded that xylenes are not classifiable as to their carcinogenicity (Group 3) based on inadequate evidence in humans and animals.

D.5 References

ACGIH. 2001. Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents and biological exposure indices. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.

Andersson K, Fuxe K, Nilsen OG, et al. 1981. Production of discrete changes in dopamine and nonadrenaline levels and turnover in various parts of the rat brain following exposure to xylene, orthometa-, and para-xylene, and ethylbenzene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 60:535-548. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Arp EW Jr., Wolf PH, Chekoway H. 1983. Lymphocytic leukemia and exposures to benzene and other solvents in the rubber industry. J Occup Med 25:598-602. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Askergren A. 1982. Organic solvents and kidney function. In: Mehlman MA, ed. Advances in modern environmental toxicology. Vol.2. Princeton Junction, NJ: Senate Press, 157-172. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Astrand I. 1982. Work load and uptake of solvents in tissues of man. In: Mehlman MA, ed. Advances in modern environmental toxicology. Vol. 2. Princeton Junction, NJ: Senate Press, 141-152. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

ATSDR. 1995. Toxicological profile for xylenes. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Balogh T, Tatrai E, Barczai G, et al. 1982. [Study of the embryotoxic effect of xylene mixtures.] Egeszsegtudomany 26:42-48. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Berenblum I. 1941. The cocarcinogenic action of croton resin. Cancer Res 1:44-48.(As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Bio/dynamics Inc. 1983. Parental and fetal reproduction toxicity study in rats with mixed xylenes. EPA/OTS public files. East Millstone, NJ: Bio/dynamics Inc. Document # FYI-AX-0983-0209. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Carlone MF, Fouts JR. 1974. *In vitro* metabolism of p-xylene by rabbit lung and liver. Xenobiotica 4:705-715. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Carpenter CP, Kinhead ER, Geary DJ, et al. 1975. Petroleum hydrocarbon toxicity studies: V. Animal and human response to vapors of mixed xylenes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 33:543-558. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Condie LW, Hill JR, Borzelleca JF. 1988. Oral toxicology studies with xylene isomers and mixed xylenes. Drug Chem Toxicol 11:329-354. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Desi I, Kovacs F, Zahumenszky Z, et al. 1967. Maze learning in rats exposed to xylene intoxication. Psychopharmacologia (Berl) 11:224-230. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Dudek B, Gralewicz K, Jakubowski M, et al. 1990. Neurobehavioral effects of experimental exposure to toluene, xylene and their mixture. Pol J Occup Med 3:109-116. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Dutkiewicz T, Tyras H. 1968. Skin absorption of toluene, styrene, and xylene by man. Br J Ind Med 25:243. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Dyer RS, Bercegeay MS, Mayo LM. 1988. Acute exposures to p-xylene and toluene alter visual information processing. Neurotoxicol Teratol 10:147-153. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Elovaara E, Engstrom K, Hayri L, et al. 1989. Metabolism of antipyrine and *m*-xylene in rats after prolonged pretreatment with xylene alone or xylene with ethanol, Phenobarbital, or 3-methylcholanthrene. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Elovaara E, Zitting A, Nickels J, et al. 1987. m-Xylene inhalation destroys cytochrome P-450 in rat lung at low exposure. Arch Toxicol 61:21-26. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Engstrom J, Bjurstrom R. 1978. Exposure to xylene and ethylbenzene: II. Concentration in subcutaneous adipose tissue. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:195-203. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Engstrom K, Husman K, Riihimaki V. 1977. Percutaneous absorption of m-xylene in man. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 39:181-189. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

EPA. 1985. Drinking water criteria document for xylenes. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office for the Office of Drinking Water, Washington, DC. EPA-600/X-84-185 PB86-117942. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Franchini I, Cavatorta A, Falzoi M, et al. 1983. Early indicators of renal damage in workers exposed to organic solvents. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 52:1-9. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Gamberale F, Annwall G, Hultengren M. 1978. Exposure to xylene and ethylbenzene: III. Effects on central nervous functions. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:204-211. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Gerarde HW. 1959. Toxicological studies on hydrocarbons: III. The biochemorphology of the phenylalkanes and phenylalkenes. Arch Ind Health 19:403-418. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ghantous H, Danielsson BR. 1986. Placental transfer and distribution of toluene, xylene and benzene, and their metabolites during gestation in mice. Biol Res Pregnancy Perinatol 7:98-105. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Gut I, Terelius Y, Frantík E, et al. 1993. Exposure to various benzene derivatives differently induces cytochromes P450 2B1 and P450 2E1 in rat liver. Arch Toxicol 67:237-243.

Hake CLR, Stewart RD, Wu A, et al. 1981. p-Xylene: Development of a biological standard for the industrial worker. Report to the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati, OH, by the Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc., Milwaukee, WI. PB82-152844. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Hass U, Jakobsen BM, 1993. Prenatal toxicity of xylene inhalation in the rat: A teratogenicity and postnatal study. Pharmacology and Toxicology 73:20-23. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Honma T, Sudo A, Miyagawa M, et al. 1983. Significant changes in the amounts of neurotransmitter and related substances in rat brain induced by subacute exposure to low levels of toluene and xylene. Ind Health 21:143-151. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Hudak A, Ungvary G. 1978. Embryotoxic effects of benzene and it's methyl derivatives: Toluene, xylene. Toxicology 11:55-63. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

IARC. 1999b. Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Xylenes. In: Volume 71 Part Three. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine, and hydrogen peroxide. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, 1189-1208.

IRIS. 2001. Xylenes. Integrated Risk Information System, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0270.htm.

Jenkins LJ, Jones RA, Siegel J. 1970. Long-term inhalation screening studies of benzene, toluene, o-xylene, and cumene on experimental animals. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 16:818-823. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Kaneko T, Endoh K, Sato A. 1991a. Biological monitoring of exposure to organic solvent vapors. I. A physiological simulation model of *m*-xylene pharmacokinetics in man. Yamanashi Medical Journal 6(3):127-135. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Kaneko T, Endoh K, Sato A. 1991b. Biological monitoring of exposure to organic solvent vapors. II. Simulation studies using a physiological pharmacokinetic model of m-xylene. Yamanashi Medical Journal 6(3):137-149. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Lapare S, Tardiff R, Brodeur J. 1993. Effect of various exposure scenarios on the biological monitoring of organic solvents in alveolar air. I. Toluene and *m*-xylene. Int Arch Environ Health 64:569-580. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Litton Bionetics. 1978. Teratology study in rats xylene (final report). EPA/OTS public files. Kensington, MD: Litton Bionetics. Document No. 878210350. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Maltoni C, Conti B, Cotti G. 1983. Benzene: A Multipotential carcinogen: Results of long-term bioassays performed at the Bologna Institute of Oncology. Am J Ind Med 4:589-630. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Maltoni C, Conti B, Cotti G, et al. 1985. Experimental studies on benzene carcinogenicity at the Bologna Institute of Oncology: Current results and ongoing research. Am J Ind Med 7:415-446. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Marks TA, Ledoux TA, Moore JA. 1982. Teratogenicity of a commercial xylene mixture in the mouse. J Toxicol Environ Health 9:97-105. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Mirkova E, Hinkova L, Vassileva L, et al. 1979. Xylene neurotoxicity in pregnant rats and fetuses. Activ Nerv Supp (Praha) 21:265-268. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Mirkova E, Zaikov C, Antov G, et al. 1983. Prenatal toxicity of xylene. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol 27:337-343. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Nelson KW, Ege JF Jr., Ross M, et al. 1943. Sensory response to certain industrial solvent vapors. J Ind Hyg Toxicol 25:282-285. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

NTP. 1986. National Toxicology Program technical report on the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of xylenes (mixed) (60% m-xylene, 14% p-xylene, 9% o-xylene, and 17% ethylbenzene) (CAS No. 1330-

20-7) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (gavage studies). Research Triangle Park, NC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Toxicology Program. NTP TR 327. NIH Publication No. 87-2583. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

NTP. 2001. Ninth report on carcinogens. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. http://ehis.niehs.nih.gov/roc/toc9.html. June 2001.

Nylen P, Ebendal T, Eriksdotter-Nilsson M, et al. 1989. Testicular atrophy and loss of nerve growth factor-immunoreactive germ cell line in rats exposed to n-hexane and a protective effect of simultaneous exposure to toluene or xylene. Arch Toxicol 63:296-307. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ogata M, Tomokuni K, Takatsuka Y. 1970. Urinary excretion of hippuric acid and — or *p*-methylhippuric acid in the urine of persons exposed to vapours of toluene and — or *p*-xylene as a test of exposure. Br J Ind Med 27:43-50. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Patel JM, Harper C, Drew RT. 1978. The biotransformation of p-xylene to a toxic aldehyde. Drug Metab Dispos 6:368-374. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Pound AW. 1970. Induced cell proliferation and the initiation of skin tumour formation in mice by ultraviolet light. Pathology 2:269-275. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Pound AW, Withers HR. 1963. The influence of some irritant chemicals and scarification on tumour initiation by urethane in mice. Br J Cancer 17:460-470. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Riihimaki V, Pfaffli P. 1978. Percutaneous absorption of solvent vapors in man. Scand J Work Environ Health 4:73-85. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Riihimaki V, Savolainen K. 1980. Human exposure to m-xylene: Kinetics and acute effects on the central nervous system. Ann Occup Hyg 23:411-422. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen H, Pfaffli P. 1980. Dose-dependent neurochemical changes during short-term inhalation exposure to m-xylene. Arch Toxicol 45:117-122. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen H, Seppalainen AM. 1979. Biochemical and physiological effects of organic solvents on rat axon membranes isolated by a new technique. Neurotoxicology 1:467-477. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen K, Linnavuo M. 1979. Effects of m-xylene on human equilibrium measured with a quantitative method. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol 44:315-318. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen K, Riihimaki V. 1981. An early sign of xylene effect on human equilibrium system. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol 48:279-283. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen K, Kekoni J, Riihimaki V, et al. 1984. Immediate effects of m-xylene on the human central nervous system. Arch Toxicol Suppl 7:412-417. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen K, Riihimaki V, Linnoila M. 1979. Effects of short-term xylene exposure on psychophysiological functions in man. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 44:201-211. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Savolainen K, Riihimaki V, Luukkonen R, et al. 1985a. Changes in the sense of balance correlate with concentrations of m-xylene. Br J Ind Med 42:765-769.

Savolainen K, Riihimaki V, Muona O, et al. 1985b. Conversely exposure-related effects between atmospheric m-xylene concentrations and human body sense of balance. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol 57:67-71.

Savolainen K, Riihimaki V, Seppalainen AM, et al. 1980. Effects of short-term m-xylene exposure and physical exercise on the central nervous system. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 45:105-121. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Senczuk W, Orlowski J. 1978. Absorption of m-xylene vapours through the respiratory track and excretion. Br J Ind Med 35:50-55. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Silverman DM, Schatz RA. 1991. Pulmonary microsomal alterations following short-term low-level inhalation of *para*-xylene in rats. Toxicology 65:271-281. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Smith BR, Plummer JL, Wolf CR, et al. 1982. p-Xylene metabolism by rabbit lung and liver and its relationship to the selective destruction of pulmonary cytochrome P-450. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 223:736-742. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Stickney JA, Roberts AE, Silverman DM, et al. 1989. The effect of *m*-xylene on rat lung benzo[a]pyrene metabolism and microsomal membrane lipids: Comparison with *p*-xylene. Toxicology 58:155-165. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Tahti H. 1992. The neurotoxicity of organic-solvents, studied with *in vitro* models. Alternatives to Labor Anim 20:290-296. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Tardif R, Laparé S, Charest-Tardif G, et al. 1995. Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modeling of a mixture of toluene and xylene in humans. Risk Anal 15(3):335-342.

Tardif R, Lapare S, Krishnan K, et al. 1993b. Physiologically based modeling of the toxicokinetic interaction between toluene and m-xylene in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 120:266-273. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Taskinen H, Antilla A, Lindbohm ML, et al. 1989. Spontaneous abortions and congenital malformations among the wives of men occupationally exposed to organic solvents. Scand J Work Environ Health 15:345-352.

Taskinen H, Kyyronen P, Hemminki K, et al. 1994. Laboratory work and pregnancy outcome. J Occup Medicine 36(6):311-319. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Tassaneeyakul W, Birkett DJ, Edwards JW, et al. 1996. Human cytochrome P450 isoform specificity in the regioselective metabolism of toluene and o-, and p-xylene. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 276(1):101-108.

Uchida Y, Nakatsuka H, Ukai H, et al. 1993. Symptoms and signs in workers exposed predominantly to xylenes. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64:597-605. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ungvary G. 1985. The possible contribution of industrial chemicals (organic solvents) to the incidence of congenital defects caused by teratogenic drugs and consumer goods—an experimental study. Prog Clin Biol Res 160:295-300. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ungvary G, Tatrai E. 1985. On the embryotoxic effects of benzene and its allkyl derivatives in mice, rats and rabbits. Arch Toxicol [Supplement to] 8:425-430. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ungvary G, Tatrai E, Hudak A, et al. 1980. Studies on the embryotoxic effects of ortho-, meta- and para-xylene. Toxicology 18:61-74. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Ungvary G, Varga B, Horvath E, et al. 1981. Study on the role of maternal sex steroid production and metabolism in the embryotoxicity of para-xylene. Toxicology 19:263-268. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Wilcosky TC, Checkoway H, Marshall EG, et al. 1984. Cancer mortality and solvent exposures in the rubber industry. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 45:809-811. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Wolfe GW. 1988a. Subchronic toxicity study in rats with m-xylene. Report by Hazelton Laboratories Amercia, Inc., Rockville MD. Sponsored by Dynamic Corporation, Rockville, MD. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Wolfe GW. 1988b. Subchronic toxicity study in rats with p-xylene. Report by Hazelton Laboratories Amercia, Inc., Rockville MD. Sponsored by Dynamic Corporation, Rockville, MD. (As cited in ATSDR 1995.)

Appendix E: Chemical Structures of Mixture Components

<u>Benzene</u>



<u>Toluene</u>

Ethylbenzene

<u>Xylenes</u>

$$CH_3$$
 CH_3
 CH_3
 CH_3
 CH_3
 CH_3
 CH_3
 CH_3
 O -xylene
 CH_3
 CH_3